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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMEN TS

This report contains certain forward-looking statems within the meaning of Section 27A of the Sities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21EhefSecurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended'@kchange Act”). We intend such
forward-looking statements to be covered by the kafbor provisions for forward-looking statemesdatained in the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and include this staient for purposes of complying with these safédraprovisions. Forward-looking
statements, which are based on certain assumgiawhdescribe our future plans, strategies and éxji@ts, are generally identifiable by use
the words “may,” “could,” “expect,” “intend,” “plafi “seek,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “mdict,” “forecast,” “project,” “potential,”
“continue,” “likely,” “will,” “would” or similar ex pressions. Forward-looking statements in this rejpetude, among others, statements about
our business strategy, including acquisition ancettgment strategies, industry trends, estimatedmae and expenses, ability to realize
deferred tax assets and expected liquidity needsanrces (including capital expenditures and Hiktyato obtain financing or raise capital).
You should not rely on forward-looking statementes they involve known and unknown risks, uncettas and other factors that are, in
some cases, beyond our control and which couldmalyeaffect actual results, performances or aghieents. Factors that may cause actual
results to differ materially from current expeabats include, but are not limited to:

» financing risks, including the risk of leverage ahd corresponding risk of default on our mortglges and other debt
and potential inability to refinance or extend thaturity of existing indebtedness;

e national, regional and local economic conditions;

» levels of spending in the business, travel anditeisndustries, as well as consumer confidence;

» declines in occupancy, average daily rate and tey@er available room and other hotel operatingioset
» hostilities, including future terrorist attacks,fear of hostilities that affect travel,

» financial condition of, and our relationships withird-party property managers and franchisors;

» the degree and nature of our competition;

* increased interest rates and operating costs;

e changes in zoning laws and increases in real piypeer rates;

e risks associated with potential acquisitions, idahg the ability to ramp up and stabilize newly aicgd hotels with
limited or no operating history, and dispositiofiotel properties;

availability of and our ability to retain qualifigtersonnel;

» our failure to maintain our qualification as a RElider the Internal Revenue Code (“Code”);

» changes in our business or investment strategy;

« availability, terms and deployment of capital;

e general volatility of the capital markets and tharket price of our shares of common stock;

+ environmental uncertainties and risks related tanahdisasters; and

e the other factors discussed under the heading “Rasitors” in this report.

Accordingly, there is no assurance that our expiecta will be realized. Except as otherwise requibbg the federal securities lay

we disclaim any obligations or undertaking to pdllrelease any updates or revisions to any ford@olling statement contained herein (or

elsewhere) to reflect any change in our expectatwith regard thereto or any change in events, itiond or circumstances on which any such
statement is based.
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PART |

Item 1. Business.

Unless the context otherwise requires, all refezsrio “us,
consolidated subsidiaries.

our,” or the “Company” refer to Sumriibtel Properties, Inc. and its

Overview

We are a self-managed hotel investment companythatorganized in June 2010. We completed oualtblic offering
(“IPO”) in February 2011 and our common stock &lt¥d on the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”).

We focus primarily on acquiring and owning premibranded select-service hotels in the upscale apdrupidscale segments of
the U.S. lodging industry, as these segments arerdly defined by Smith Travel Research (“STRAt December 31, 2013, we owned 88
hotels with a total of 10,908 guestrooms locate@drstates. Since the completion of our IPO anouih December 31, 2013, we have
acquired 43 hotels with a total of 5,948 guestrofenpurchase prices aggregating approximately $¥#illion, and we sold 20 hotels
containing 1,564 guestrooms, for sales prices agdireg approximately $76.8 million. As of DecemBér 2013, 74.5% of our guestrooms
were located in the top 50 metropolitan statistiwels, (‘“MSAs”), and 88.8% were located within tiyg 100 MSAs. Over 95.7% of our hotel
guestrooms operate under premium franchise bramdedby Marriott International, Inc. (“Marriott”JQourtyard by Marriott®, Residence Inn
by Marriott®, SpringHill Suites by Marriott®, Faidld Inn by Marriott®, Fairfield Inn and Suites Marriott®, and TownePlace Suites by
Marriott®), Hilton Worldwide (“Hilton”) (DoubleTredyy Hilton®, Hampton Inn®, Hampton Inn & Suites®piewood Suites® and Hilton
Garden Inn®), Intercontinental Hotel Group (“IHGHoliday Inn®, Holiday Inn Express®, Holiday Inn ess and Suites® and Staybridge
Suites®) and an affiliate of Hyatt Hotels Corparat{“Hyatt") (Hyatt House® and Hyatt Place®). Eptéor six hotels, which are held under
ground lease or other leasehold interest, we owroiels in fee simple. Our hotels are locatemharkets that exhibit multiple demand
generators, such as business and corporate hetetquegtail centers, airports and tourist attoandi

Since December 31, 2013, we have acquired foutshaiéh a total of 591 guestrooms and disposedvofiiotels with a total of
146 guestrooms. As of March 20, 2014, we owneld6ls with a total of 11,353 guestrooms locate@drstates.

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT for fedecalme tax purposes commencing with our short t@xpddr ended
December 31, 2011. To qualify as a REIT, we caoperate or manage our hotels. Accordingly, wedeaubstantially all of our hotels to
wholly owned subsidiaries of our taxable REIT sdizsly (our “TRS lessees”). All of our hotels aggeoated pursuant to hotel management
agreements with third party hotel management compart-or information concerning our reportablensegts, as defined by generally
accepted accounting principles, see Item 8. “FirsBtatements and Supplementary Data—Note 2—Sugnafaéignificant Accounting
Policies.”

Our corporate offices are located at 12600 Hill @opBoulevard, Suite R-100, Austin, TX 78738. @elephone number is (512)
538-2300. Our website iww.shpreit.com The information contained on, or accessibleubhy our website is not incorporated by reference
into this report and should not be considered agdahis report.

Business Strategy

Our strategy focuses on increasing the cash flomuofortfolio through focused asset managemergetad capital investment
and strategic acquisitions. Our primary objectiéoi enhance stockholder value over time by geingratrong risk-adjusted returns for our
stockholders. The key elements of our strategywleabelieve will allow us to create long-term valre as follows:

Focus on Premium-Branded Select-Service Hotéle focus on hotels in the upscale and upper raldse=gments of the lodging
industry. We believe that our focus on these se¢sraovides us the opportunity to achieve strosiraidjusted returns across multiple lodg
cycles for several reasons, including:

« RevPAR Growth We believe our hotels will continue to experiemeeaningful revenue growth to the extent lodging
industry fundamentals continue their cyclical reegv According to STR, industry conditions contiduto improve
during 2013. In “PwC Hospitality Directions,” PriwaterhouseCoopers, LLP projects U.S. RevPAR gramdieases in
2014 for upscale hotels and upper midscale hofeédsl&b and 5.1%, respectively.

e  Stable Cash Flow Potential Our hotels can be operated with fewer employless full-service hotels that offer more
expansive food and beverage options, which wereksmables us to generate consistent cash flowslegs volatility
resulting from reductions in RevPAR and less depand on group travel.

e Broad Customer Base Our target brands deliver consistently high-tjydlotel accommodations with value-oriented
pricing that we believe appeals to a wide rangeustomers, including both business and leisureeteas. We believe that
our hotels are particularly popular with frequensimess travelers who seek to stay in
hotels operating under Marriott, Hilton, Hyatt &G brands, which offer strong loyalty rewards peogrpoints

2







Table of Contents
that can be redeemed for family travel.

«  Enhanced Diversification Premium-branded upscale and upper midscaleshgéglerally cost significantly less, on a per
key basis, than hotels in the upper upscale anghyusegments of the industry. As a result, we daerdify our investmer
capital into ownership of a larger number of hoteln we could in more expensive segments.

Capitalize on Investments in Our Hotel®e strongly believe in investing in our propestio help them be competitive in their
respective markets. Since our IPO and through mDbee 31, 2013, we have invested $110.1 millionapit@l improvements to the hotels in
our portfolio, including the 65 hotels in our poftd at the time of our IPO and the 43 hotels apuifrom February 11, 2011 through
December 31, 2013. We believe these investmentiupe attractive returns, and we intend to conttougilize available capital to rebrand,
upgrade and renovate our hotels.

External Growth Through Acquisition&Ve intend to continue to grow through acquisitiohgxisting hotels using a disciplined
approach while maintaining a prudent capital stectWe target upscale and upper midscale hotatsitket one or more of the following
acquisition criteria:

* have potential for strong risk-adjusted returns aralocated in the top 50 MSAs and other seleckets;

»  operate under leading franchise brands, which melyde but are not limited to brands owned by MurrHilton, IHG
and Hyatt;

e are located in close proximity to multiple demamahgrators, including businesses and corporate heaggs, retail
centers, airports, medical facilities, touristattions and convention centers, with a diversecgoaf potential guests,
including corporate, government and leisure tragele

» are located in markets exhibiting barriers to edurg to strong franchise areas of protection oeroftctors;
* can be acquired at a discount to replacement andt;
*  provide an opportunity to add value through opetaéfficiencies, repositioning, renovating or refutiag.

Strategic Hotel Sales.We seek to maximize the cash flow of our portf@hnd our return on invested capital. We peridblica
review our hotels to determine if any significahinges to area markets or our hotels have occarrak anticipated to occur that would
warrant the sale of a particular hotel, particglavhen we believe the proceeds from the sale canvested in hotels producing more attractive
returns.

Selectively Develop HotelsWe believe there will be attractive opportursitte partner on a selective basis with experiehatel
developers to acquire upon completion newly coestidihotels that meet our investment criteria.

Our Financing Strategy

We maintain a prudent capital structure. Whilerdt@ will vary from time to time, we generallyténd to limit our ratio of
indebtedness to earnings before interest, taxgsediation and amortization (“EBITDA”) to no morieain six to one. For purposes of
calculating this ratio we exclude preferred stadaf indebtedness. During 2013, we financed oug-ienm growth with common and
preferred equity issuances, borrowings under o00%Bmillion unsecured credit facility and secunedrtgage debt having staggered
maturities, and intend to continue to do so infthere. Our debt includes, and may include in titerfle, mortgage debt secured by hotels and
unsecured debt.

When purchasing hotel properties, our operatingngaship, Summit Hotel OP, LP (“Summit OP”) mayuesommon units of
limited partnership interest (“Common Units”) oeferred units of limited partnership interest (‘fereed Units”) as full or partial
consideration to sellers who may desire to takeathge of tax deferral on the sale of a hotel atigipate in the potential appreciation in va
of our common stock.

Competition

We face competition for investments in hotel préiperfrom institutional pension funds, private egunvestors, REITs, hotel
companies and others who are engaged in hotelsitgns and investments. Some of these entities kalbstantially greater financial and
operational resources than we have. This competitiay increase the bargaining power of propertyara/geeking to sell, reduce the number
of suitable investment opportunities available $cand increase the cost of acquiring our targeteel properties.

The lodging industry is highly competitive. Our &lstcompete with other hotels for guests in thespective markets based on a
number of factors, including location, convenieru®nd affiliation, room rates, range of serviced guest amenities or
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accommodations offered and quality of customerisenCompetition is often specific to the individln@arkets in which our hotels are located
and includes competition from existing and new lsot€ompetition could adversely affect our occuparates, our average daily rates
(“ADR”) and our revenue per available room (“RevPARind may require us to provide additional amesibr make capital improvements
that we otherwise would not have to make, which megyice our profitability.

Seasonality

Certain segments of the hotel industry are seasomeaiture. Leisure travelers tend to travel naueng the summer. Business
travelers occupy hotels relatively consistentlytighout the year, but decreases in business waeal during summer and the winter
holidays. The hotel industry is also seasonaldagen geography. Hotels in the southern U.S. terive higher occupancy rates during the
winter months. Hotels in the northern U.S. tentdee higher occupancy rates during the summerhmsoridue to our portfolio’s geographic
diversification, our revenue has not experiencgdificant seasonality. For the year ended Decer@beR013, our same-store portfolio (47
hotels in 2013 and 2012) generated 23% of our tetanue in the first quarter, 27% in the secorattgu, 27% in the third quarter and 23% in
the fourth quarter.

Regulation

Our properties are subject to various covenaniss,lardinances and regulations, including regutetielating to accessibility, fire
and safety requirements. We believe each of owglfibis the necessary permits and approvals tatepies business.

Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (“ADA")

Our properties must comply with Title Il of the Ao the extent that they are “public accommodatias defined by the ADA.
Under the ADA, all public accommodations must nfederal requirements related to access and useshpldd persons. The ADA may
require removal of structural barriers to accespdngons with disabilities in certain public areésur properties where removal is readily
achievable. Although we believe the propertiestinmortfolio substantially comply with present régments of the ADA, we have not
conducted a comprehensive audit or investigaticalladf our properties to determine our compliararg] we are aware that some particular
properties may currently be in non-compliance wlia ADA. Noncompliance with the ADA could resulttime incurrence of additional costs to
attain compliance. The obligation to make readdljiavable accommodations is an ongoing one, andilveontinue to assess our properties
and to make alterations as appropriate in thiseresp

Environmental, Health and Safety Matters

Our hotels and development land parcels are sutmeetrious federal, state and local environmelatas that impose liability for
contamination. Under these laws, governmentaliegtitave the authority to require us, as the ctioemer of property, to perform or pay for
the cleanup of contamination (including hazardaudsstances, waste, or petroleum products) at, aferusr emanating from the property an
pay for natural resource damages arising from coin@tion. These laws often impose liability withoegard to whether the owner or operato
or other responsible party knew of, or caused tmtammination, and the liability may be joint andeml. Because these laws also impose
liability on persons who owned a property at tieetit became contaminated, we could incur cleawspsr other environmental liabilities
even after we sell properties. Contamination atumaer or emanating from our properties also mappse us to liability to private parties for
costs of remediation, personal injury and death@mutoperty damage. In addition, environmenghdi may be created on contaminated sites
in favor of the government for damages and costeitrs to address contamination. If contaminaisodiscovered on our properties,
environmental laws also may impose restrictionshenmanner in which property may be used or busesemay be operated, and these
restrictions may require substantial expendituvseover, environmental contamination can affeetihlue of a property and, therefore, an
owner’s ability to borrow funds using the property adateral or to sell the property on favorable teonat all. Furthermore, persons who ¢
waste to a waste disposal facility, such as a lhmafan incinerator, may be liable for costs asated with cleanup of that facility.

Some of our properties may have contained histeés which involved the use and/or storage of ldazsrchemicals and
petroleum products (for example, storage tanksstg®ns, dry cleaning operations) which, if relsd could have affected our properties. In
addition, some of our properties may be near cacatjt to other properties that have contained wenotly contain storage tanks containing
petroleum products or conducted or currently cohdperations which utilize other hazardous or texibstances. Releases from these adj:
or surrounding properties could affect our progsraind we may be liable for any associated cleanup.

Independent environmental consultants conductedé’hanvironmental site assessments on all of mpeties prior to
acquisition and we intend to conduct Phase | envirental site assessments on properties we acqutine future. Phase | site assessments ar
intended to discover and evaluate information raigarthe environmental condition of the surveyeaperties and surrounding properties.
These assessments do not generally include soplsamsubsurface investigations or comprehenssieestos surveys. In some cases, the
Phase | environmental site assessments were caudogtanother entity (i.e., a lender) and we mayhawe the authority to rely on such
reports. A few of our properties have experienaadrenmental contamination prior to our ownersltipt all contamination has been
remediated to the satisfaction of State reguladggncies. None of the Phase | environmental sgesaments of the hotel properties in our
portfolio revealed any past or present environmergadition that we
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believe could have a material adverse effect orbasmess, assets or results of operations. Irtiaddihe Phase | environmental site
assessments may also have failed to reveal alf@mental conditions, liabilities or compliance cems. The Phase | environmental site
assessments were completed at various times amdiai@nvironmental conditions, liabilities or colapce concerns may have arisen after
review was completed or may arise in the futurel farure laws, ordinances or regulations may impuoaterial additional environmental
liability.

In addition, our hotels (including our real progexperations and equipment) are subject to varfiedsral, state and local
environmental, health and safety regulatory reauinets that address a wide variety of issues, ifmfydut not limited to, the existence of
mold and other airborne contaminants above regyldiwesholds, the registration, maintenance arataifon of our boilers and storage tanks,
the supply of potable water to our guests, air simigs from emergency generators, storm water astewater discharges, protection of nat
resources, asbestos, lead-based paint, and wassgement. Some of our hotels also routinely haadteuse hazardous or regulated
substances and wastes as part of their operatidmsh are subject to regulation (for example, swingrpool chemicals or biological waste).
Our hotels incur costs to comply with these envinental, health and safety laws and regulationsfathése regulatory requirements are not
met or unforeseen events result in the discharglaiefierous or toxic substances at our hotels, wiel ¢ subject to fines and penalties for
non-compliance with applicable laws and matergbility from third parties for harm to the enviroant, damage to real property or personal
injury and death. We are aware of no past or pte@rironmental liability for non-compliance witimdronmental, health and safety laws and
regulations that we believe would have a matedakese effect on our business, assets or resuligaerhtions.

Tax Status

We elected to be taxed as a REIT for federal inctamgurposes commencing with our short taxable gaded December 31,
2011. Our qualification as a REIT depends uponatility to meet, on a continuing basis, throughuatinvestment and operating results,
various complex requirements under the Code rgldtinamong other things, the sources of our grassme, the composition and values of
our assets, our distribution levels and the diveisi ownership of our stock. We believe that weeverganized and have operated in
conformity with the requirements for qualificatias a REIT under the Code and that our currentr@edded manner of operation will enable
us to continue to meet the requirements for qualifon and taxation as a REIT for federal inconxepiarposes.

In order for the income from our hotel operatiomgdnstitute “rents from real property” for purpss# the gross income tests
required for REIT qualification, we cannot directiperate any of our hotel properties. Accordinglg,lease substantially all of our hotels to
our TRS lessees, which are wholly owned subsidiafeSummit Hotel TRS, Inc. and Summit Hotel TRSHE. (along with any additional
taxable REIT subsidiaries we may form in the fufdiidrRSs”). All of our hotels are operated pursugnhotel management agreements with
third party hotel management companies. We bekaoh of the third party managers qualifies adigibke independent contractor.

Our TRS lessees pay rent to us that will qualifyraats from real property,” provided that the TRSsees engage “eligible
independent contractors” to manage our hotelsaxatile REIT subsidiary is a corporate subsidiarg BEIT that jointly elects with the REIT
to be treated as a taxable REIT subsidiary of theTRind that pays federal income tax at regulapa@te rates on its taxable income.

As a REIT, we generally will not be subject to feléncome tax on our REIT taxable income that wgtritbute currently to our
shareholders. Under the Code, REITs are subjeuirtterous organizational and operational requiréspémcluding a requirement that they
distribute each year at least 90% of their taxaideme, determined without regard to the dedudiwmlividends paid and excluding any net
capital gains. If we fail to qualify for taxati@s a REIT in any taxable year and do not qualifyctain statutory relief provisions, our inco
for that year will be taxed at regular corporatesaand we will be unable to re-elect REIT staiotdl the fifth calendar year after the year in
which we failed to qualify as a REIT. Even if wealjfy as a REIT for federal income tax purposes,may still be subject to state and local
taxes on our income and assets and to federal meom excise taxes on our undistributed income.mAake also be subject to prohibited
transaction tax on any dealer sales of propertyexieise taxes on predetermined rents. Additionalty income earned by our TRSs will be
fully subject to federal, state and local corpoiatame tax.

Employees

As of March 20, 2014, we employ 33 full-time empdeg. The staff at our hotels are employed by ard-fharty hotel managers.
Available Information

Our Internet website is located at www.shpreit.c@opies of the charters of the committees of oartv@f directors, our code of
business conduct and ethics and our corporate ganee guidelines are available on our websiteregjdbrts that we have filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) inclgdiis Annual Report on Form 10-K, our quarterlgads on Form 10-Q and our current
reports on Form 8-K, can be obtained free of chénma the SECS website at www.sec.gov or through our websitaddition, all reports file
with the SEC may be read and copied at the SEMicPReference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washindbo@. 20549-1090. Further
information regarding the operation of the pubéiterence room may be obtained by calling the SEC830-SEC-0330.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.

The following risk factors address the materiaksi€oncerning our business. If any of the risksiudised in this report were to
occur, our business, prospects, financial conditi@sults of operation and our ability to serviogr @lebt and make distributions to our
stockholders could be materially and adverselyciéfeg and the market price per share of our stoekatdecline significantly. Some statement:
in this report, including statements in the follogirisk factors, constitute forward-looking statense Please refer to the section entitled
“Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Lookingt8taents.”

Risks Related to Our Business

Our business strategy includes achieving revenuel axet income growth from anticipated increases iardand for hotel rooms —
general economic setbacks may adversely affectfature results of operations and our growth prospsc

Our business strategy includes achieving contimeednue and net income growth from anticipated awpment in demand for
hotel rooms as the economy continues to grow. \Wegelkier, cannot provide any assurances that denaaubfel rooms will increase from
current levels, or the time or extent of any demaimvth that we do experience. If demand does aoticue to increase as the economy gr
or if there is a setback in the general economyltiag in weakening demand, our operating resuits growth prospects could be adversely
affected. As a result, any slowdown in economicnghoor a new economic downturn will adversely affear future results of operations and
our growth prospects.

We may be unable to complete acquisitions that vaogitow our business.

Our growth strategy includes the disciplined aditjois of hotels as opportunities arise. Our abitiyacquire hotels on satisfactory
terms or at all is subject to the following sigo#nt risks:

* we may be unable to acquire, or may be forced dqoiae at significantly higher prices, desired hete¢cause of
competition from other real estate investors witbrencapital, including other real estate operatioigpanies, REITs and
investment funds;

e we may be unable to obtain the necessary debtuitydmancing to consummate an acquisition oghfainable,
financing may not be on satisfactory terms; and

e agreements for the acquisition of hotels are tyfyicubject to customary conditions to closing,lirting satisfactory
completion of due diligence investigations andrgeeipt of franchisor and lender consents, and &g spend significant
time and incur significant transaction costs oreptial acquisitions that we do not consummate.

If we cannot complete hotel acquisitions on favtedabrms or at all, our business, financial conditiresults of operations and c:
flow, the market price per share of our commonlstotd our ability to satisfy our debt service oatigns and make distributions to our
stockholders could be materially and adverselyciéid:

We may fail to successfully integrate and operatwty acquired hotels.

Our ability to successfully integrate and opera®ly acquired hotels is subject to the followingks:

e we may not possess the same level of familiarity wie dynamics and market conditions of any newkata that we
may enter, which could result in us paying too mfarthotels in new markets;

«  market conditions may result in lower than expecteclipancy and room rates;

* we may acquire hotels without any recourse, or witly limited recourse, for liabilities, whetherdwn or unknown,
such as clean-up of environmental contaminatiaaimd by tenants, vendors or other persons ag&iegotmer owners of
the hotels and claims for indemnification by gehpeatners, directors, officers and others inderadiby the former
owners of the hotels;

« we may need to spend more than budgeted amoumtake necessary improvements or renovations to@mlyracquiret
hotels; and

« we may be unable to quickly and efficiently integraew acquisitions, particularly acquisitions oftfolios of hotels,
into our existing operations.

If we cannot operate acquired hotels to meet opeetations, our business, financial condition, ltasef operations and cash flow,
the market price per share of our stock and odityalo satisfy our debt service obligations andkedistributions to our
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stockholders could be materially and adverselycaéid:

We may assume liabilities in connection with theqatsition of hotel properties, including unknownadbilities, which, if significant,
could adversely affect our business.

We assume existing liabilities in connection witle ticquisition of hotel properties, some of whiciyrbe unknown or
unquantifiable. Unknown liabilities might includiebilities for cleanup or remediation of undisadsenvironmental conditions, claims of hc
guests, vendors or other persons dealing withalerf a particular hotel property, tax liab#isi, employment-related issues and accrued bu
unpaid liabilities whether incurred in the ordinagurse of business or otherwise. If the magnitfdaich unknown liabilities is high, they
could adversely affect our business, financial @, results of operations and cash flow, thekatprice of our stock and our ability to
satisfy our debt service obligations and to malsrithutions to our stockholders.

We may not be able to cause our hotel managemenmanies to operate any of our hotels in a mannetistactory to us, and
termination of our hotel management agreements nimgy/costly and disruptive, all of which could advelg affect our financial
condition, results of operations and our ability &ervice debt and make distributions to our stoclders.

To qualify as a REIT, we cannot operate our hotélscordingly, we lease substantially all of outdls to our TRS lessees. All of
our hotels are operated pursuant to hotel managesgesements with independent hotel management aoieg each of which must qualify
an “eligible independent contractdd operate our hotels. As a result, our finanadaldition, results of operations and our abilitysevice dek
and make distributions to stockholders are deperatethe ability of our hotel management compatoesperate our hotels successfully. Any
failure of our hotel management companies to pmgdality services and amenities or maintain aityuatand name and reputation could h
a negative effect on their ability to operate ootefs and could have a material and adverse eaffeour financial condition, results of
operations and our ability to service debt and ndikgibutions to our stockholders.

Even if we believe a hotel is being operated iedfitly or in a manner that does not result inséatitory operating results, we will
have limited ability to require the hotel managehmmpany to change its method of operation. Weggly attempt to resolve issues with
hotel management companies through discussionaegutiations, but otherwise will only be able telseedress if a hotel management
company violates the terms of the applicable ho@hagement agreement, and then only to the extéime ocemedies provided for under the
terms of the hotel management agreement. If wacepthe hotel management company of any of outdyate may be required to pay a
substantial termination fee and we may experieigréficant disruptions at the affected hotel.

Our hotel managers or their affiliates manage,inrgme cases own, have invested in, or providedittsupport or operating
guarantees to hotels that compete with our haa#llsf which may result in conflicts of interestsA result, our hotel managers may in the
future make decisions regarding competing lodgawijities that are not or would not be in our bagtrest.

Certain of our hotels are managed by affiliatetheffranchisors for such hotels. In these situatithe management agreement
the franchise agreement are typically combined am® document. Thus, if we desire to terminatentheagement agreement due to poor
performance or breach of the management agreergeheébmanagement company, we also terminate onclfise license. Thus, we may hi
very limited options to remedy poor hotel managenpenformance if we desire to retain the franchicsense.

The management of the hotels in our portfolio isrcantly concentrated in one hotel management comgan

As of December 31, 2013, Interstate Management @om.LC (“Interstate)or its affiliate managed 51 of our 88 hotels. Tha
substantial portion of our revenues is generatelddigls managed by Interstate. This significamcemtration of operational risk in one hotel
management company makes us more vulnerable ecoalbnthan if our hotel management was more difiesiamong several hotel
management companies. Any adverse developmentseirstate’s business and affairs, financial stieogtability to operate our hotels
efficiently and effectively could have a materidivarse effect on our results of operations. We otassure you that Interstate will satisfy its
obligations to us or effectively and efficientlyemate our hotel properties. The failure or inapitif Interstate to satisfy its obligations to us or
effectively and efficiently operate our hotel prajes would materially reduce our revenue and mebine, which could in turn reduce the
amount of our distributable cash and cause the eharice per share of our stock to decline.

Restrictive covenants and other provisions in hatehnagement and franchise agreements could precluddrom taking actions with
respect to the sale, refinancing or rebranding ohatel that would otherwise be in our best interest

Our hotel management agreements and franchiseragrég generally contain restrictive covenants ahdrgorovisions that do ni
provide us with flexibility to sell, refinance oebrand a hotel without the consent of the manag#&anchisor. For example, the terms of some
of these agreements may restrict our ability tbasébtel unless the purchaser is not a compaifttite hotel management company or
franchisor, assumes the related agreement and spatdied other conditions. In addition, our fraise agreements restrict our ability to
rebrand particular hotels without the consent efftanchisor, which could result in significant ogtéonal disruptions and litigation if we do |
obtain the consent. We could be forced to pay agnmetermination fees to hotel managers or frasaisi under these agreements as a cont
to changing management or franchise brands of oteld) and
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these fees could deter us from taking actionswioaid otherwise be in our best interest or couldseaus to incur substantial expense.

Funds spent to maintain franchisor operating standis, the loss of a franchise license or a declimetie value of a franchise
brand may have a material adverse effect on ouribess and financial results.

Our hotels operate under franchise agreementshangiaintenance of franchise licenses for our hasesubject to our franchisors’
operating standards and other terms and conditiesexpect that franchisors will periodically inspeur hotels to ensure that we, our
TRSs and our hotel management companies maintaiftamchisors’ standards. Failure by us, our TRSsup hotel management companies tc
maintain these standards or other terms and conditiould result in a franchise license being dadcdf a franchise license terminates due to
our failure to make required improvements or teeotlise comply with its terms, we could also belkatio the franchisor for a termination
payment, which varies by franchisor and by hotel.a2condition of our continued holding of a frarsehiicense, a franchisor could also require
us to make capital improvements to our hotels, évere do not believe the improvements are necgssadesirable or would result in an
acceptable return on our investment.

The loss of a franchise license could materially adversely affect the operations or the underlyizige of the hotel because of
the loss of associated name recognition, marketipgort and centralized reservation systems prdwgehe franchisor. Because our hotels
are concentrated in a limited number of franchismbs, a loss of all of the licenses for a paréicédanchise could materially and adversely
affect our revenue, financial condition, resultopérations and ability to service debt and mak#idutions to our stockholders.

Negative publicity related to one of the francHisends or the general decline of a brand also rdagraely affect the underlying
value of our hotels or result in a reduction inibass.

We rely on external sources of capital to fund futucapital needs, and if we encounter difficulty obtaining such capital, we may
not be able to make future acquisitions necessargtow our business or meet maturing obligations.

In order to qualify as a REIT under the Code, weraguired, among other things, to distribute gaear to our stockholders at le
90% of our REIT taxable income, determined with@giard to the dividends paid deduction and exclydimy net capital gain. Because of this
distribution requirement, we may not be able tadfunom cash retained from operations, all of atufe capital needs, including capital nee
to make investments and to satisfy or refinanceunrag obligations.

We expect to continue to rely on external sourdespital, including debt and equity financing ftmd future capital needs. Pari
our strategy involves the use of additional detificing to supplement our equity capital which nmajude our unsecured credit facility,
mortgage financing and other unsecured financing.ability to effectively implement and accomplistrr business strategy will be affected by
our ability to obtain and utilize additional levgein sufficient amounts and on favorable termsweleer, the capital environment is often
characterized by extended periods of limited abdits of both debt and equity financing, increagifinancing costs, stringent credit terms and
significant volatility. We may not be able to seetfirst mortgage financing or increase the avditghinder, extend the maturity or
refinance our unsecured credit facility. If we arable to obtain needed capital on satisfactargder at all, we may not be able to make the
investments needed to expand our business, oréb one obligations and commitments as they matdte.access to capital will depend upon
a number of factors over which we have little orcoatrol, including general market conditions, tharket’'s perception of our current and
potential future earnings and cash distributiors thie market price of the shares of our commorkstde may not be in a position to take
advantage of attractive investment opportunitiegfowth if we are unable to access the capitaketaron a timely basis or on favorable tei

We have a significant amount of debt, and our orgaational documents have no limitation on the amadwf additional indebtednes
that we may incur in the future. As a result, we snhecome highly leveraged in the future, which cdwdversely affect our financial
condition.

We have a significant amount of debt. In the fefuve may incur additional indebtedness to findntgre hotel acquisitions and
development activities and other corporate purpdsesddition, there are no restrictions in ourrédraor bylaws that limit the amount or
percentage of indebtedness that we may incur tiiaethe form in which our indebtedness will betumred (including recourse or non-recourse
debt or cross-collateralized debt).

A substantial level of indebtedness could have edveonsequences for our business, results of tapesand financial condition
because it could, among other things:

e require us to dedicate a substantial portion ofaash flow from operations to make principal anériest payments on
our indebtedness, thereby reducing our cash flailable to fund working capital, capital expendésiand other general
corporate purposes, including to pay dividends wncommon stock and our preferred stock as cugreathtemplated or
necessary to satisfy the requirements for quatiioaas a REIT;

e increase our vulnerability to general adverse enoo@nd industry conditions and limit our flexilyliin planning for, or
reacting to, changes in our business and our indust

< limit our ability to borrow additional funds or ieince indebtedness on favorable terms or at @kpand our business
ease liquidity constraints; and

« place us at a competitive disadvantage relativatopetitors that have less indebtedness.
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Generally, our mortgage debt carries maturity datesall dates such that the loans become due foritreir full amortization. It
may be difficult to refinance or extend the matuaf such loans on terms acceptable to us, ol,arad we may not have sufficient borrowing
capacity on our unsecured credit facility to repay amounts that we are unable to refinance. Afghove believe that we will be able to
refinance or extend the maturity of these loansyiththave the capacity to repay them, if necessasyng draws under our unsecured credit
facility, there can be no assurance that our unseoeredit facility will be available to repay suctaturing debt, as draws under our unsecurec
credit facility are subject to limitations baseduapur unencumbered assets and certain finanoiahemts. As of December 31, 2013, we hac
no debt that matures prior to December 31, 2014.

The agreements governing our indebtedness placéri@®ons on us and our subsidiaries, reducing opional flexibility and creating
default risks.

The agreements governing our $300.0 million unsegtredit facility and other indebtedness contaveoants that place
restrictions on us and our subsidiaries. Theseraws may restrict, among other activities, our @mdsubsidiaries’ ability to:

* merge, consolidate or transfer all or substantillypf our or our subsidiaries’ assets;

« sell, transfer, pledge or encumber our stock oothrership interests of our subsidiaries;

* incur additional debt or place mortgages on ounaoembered hotels;

e enter into, terminate or modify leases for our loéad hotel management and franchise agreements;
« make certain expenditures, including capital exjtaneks;

e pay dividends on or repurchase our capital stocH; a

e enter into certain transactions with affiliates.

These covenants could impair our ability to grow lbusiness, take advantage of attractive busingssrtunities or successfully
compete. Our ability to comply with financial anther covenants may be affected by events beyondanirol, including prevailing econom
financial and industry conditions. A breach of afifhese covenants or covenants under any otheeagmts governing our indebtedness ¢
result in an event of default. Cross-default primris in our debt agreements could cause an evetdfafilt under one debt agreement to trigge
an event of default under our other debt agreembiptsn the occurrence of an event of default uadgrof our debt agreements, the lenders
could elect to declare all outstanding debt undehsgreements to be immediately due and paydbie Wwere unable to repay or refinance
accelerated debt, the lenders could proceed agmigsissets pledged to secure that debt, incliddieglosing on or requiring the sale of our
hotels, and the proceeds from the sale of thesdshimiay not be sufficient to repay such debt ih ful

Mortgage debt obligations expose us to the postbdf foreclosure, which could result in the logd our investment in any hotel
subject to mortgage debt.

Except for the borrowings under our $300.0 milliovsecured credit facility, all of our other debiséing as of December 31, 2013
is secured by mortgages on our hotel propertiegelated assets. In addition, the borrowings undei$300.0 million unsecured credit facility
are subject to our maintaining a borrowing basengihcumbered hotel assets. Incurring mortgage tnedt secured debt obligations increases
our risk of property losses because defaults oareddndebtedness may result in foreclosure actitiated by lenders and ultimately our loss
of the hotels securing such loans. If we are imdkfunder a crosdefaulted mortgage loan, we could lose multiplestsoto foreclosure. For ti
purposes, a foreclosure of any of our hotels wheldreated as a sale of the hotel for a purchase equal to the outstanding balance of the
debt secured by the mortgage. If the outstanditeba of the debt secured by the mortgage excagdsobasis in the hotel, we would
recognize taxable income on foreclosure, but wowldreceive any cash proceeds, which could hindeability to meet the REIT distribution
requirements imposed by the Code. We may assutinewrnew mortgage indebtedness on the hotelsripaxifolio or hotels that we acquire
in the future. Any default under any one of our tgage debt obligations may increase the risk ofdedfiault on our other indebtedness.

An increase in interest rates would increase outénest costs on our variable rate debt and couldamsely affect our ability to
refinance existing debt or sell assets.

Depending upon the usage of our senior unsecuedtit dacility, a significant portion of our indelskeess could be subject to
variable interest rates. An increase in interatts would increase our interest payments and eesluiccash flow available for other corporate
purposes, including capital improvements to ouelsobr acquisitions of additional hotels. In aduitirising interest rates could limit our abil
to refinance existing debt when it matures anddase interest costs on any debt that is refinarkgther, an increase in interest rates could
increase the cost of financing, thereby decreasia@mount third parties are willing to pay for tnatels, which would limit our ability to
dispose of hotels when necessary or desired. [dagdgement’s
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Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &ebults of Operations — Qualitative and Quantiaiffects of Market Risk.”
Our success depends on key personnel whose contirsegvice is not guaranteed.

We depend on the efforts and expertise of our mamagt team to manage our day-to-day operationstaaiggic business
direction. The loss of services from any of thembers of our management team, and our inabilifintbsuitable replacements on a timely
basis could have an adverse effect on our opegation

Hedging against interest rate exposure may adversdfect us.

We have entered into interest rate swaps haviraggregate notional amount of $104.3 million at Delser 31, 2013 to hedge
against interest rate increases on certain of otatanding variable-rate indebtedness. In the éytwe intend to continue to manage our
exposure to interest rate volatility by using hedgarrangements, such as interest rate swaps tamdsnrate caps.

These agreements involve the risks that thesegeraants may fail to protect or adversely affedv@sause, among other things:
* interest rate hedging can be expensive, partiguthrting periods of rising and volatile interesierss
« available interest rate hedges may not correspordtly with the interest rate risk for which proten is sought;
e the duration of the hedge may not match the duraifdhe related liability;

e the credit quality of the hedging counterparty aggumoney on the hedge may be downgraded to sucktantehat it
impairs our ability to sell or assign our side loé hedging transaction; and

« the hedging counterparty owing money in the hedgiagsaction may default on its obligation to pay.

As a result of any of the foregoing, our hedgirapsactions, which are intended to limit losseseqmbsure to interest rate
volatility, could have a negative impact on our i@pieg results.

We and our hotel managers rely on information teabiogy in our operations, and any material failur@adequacy, interruption or
security failure of that technology could harm odrusiness.

We and our hotel managers rely on information tetihgy networks and systems, including the Interteeprocess, transmit and
store electronic information, and to manage or stpp variety of business processes, includingniina transactions and records, personal
identifying information, reservations, billing aogerating data. We purchase some of our informatohnology from vendors, on whom our
systems depend. We rely on commercially availaydéesns, software, tools and monitoring to provideusity for processing, transmission ¢
storage of confidential customer information, sashndividually identifiable information, includingformation relating to financial accounts.
Although we have taken steps to protect the sgcafibur information systems and the data mainthinghose systems, it is possible that our
safety and security measures will not be able ¢ogmt the systems’ improper functioning or damagéhe improper access or disclosure of
personally identifiable information such as in #went of cyber-attacks. Security breaches, inclyginysical or electronic break-ins, computer
viruses, attacks by hackers and similar breaclascieate system disruptions, shutdowns or unam#tbdisclosure of confidential
information. Any failure to maintain proper funatiosecurity and availability of our information ggs could interrupt our operations, dam
our reputation, subject us to liability claims egulatory penalties and could have a material @gveffect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

Joint venture investments could be adversely aféecby a lack of sole decision-making authority withspect to such investments,
disputes with joint venture partners and the finaia€ condition of joint venture partners.

We have entered into two joint ventures to acqogeels, and in the future we may enter into add#lstrategic joint ventures wi
unaffiliated investors to acquire, develop, impravalispose of hotels, thereby reducing the amotinapital required by us to make
investments and diversifying our capital sourceggfowth. We may not have sole decision-making et with respect to these investments,
and as a result we may not be able to take actibish are in the best interest of our shareholdetgther, disputes between us and our joint
venture partners may result in litigation or adtitvn which could increase our expenses and prexanifficers and directors from focusing
their time and effort on our business and couldltés subjecting the hotels owned by the appliegbint venture to additional risks.

If a joint venture partner becomes bankrupt or mtfiee defaults on its obligations under a jointtvea agreement, we and any
other remaining joint venture partners would gelyramain liable for the joint venture liabilitieEurthermore, if a joint venture partner
becomes bankrupt or otherwise defaults on its abbigs under a joint venture agreement, we mayniable to continue the joint venture other
than by purchasing such joint venture partner'sregts or the underlying assets at a premium to the
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market price. If any of the above risks are realjzecould materially adversely affect our busgdmancial condition and results of operations
and our ability to make distributions to our stockters.

Risks Related to the Lodging Industry
Economic conditions may adversely affect the lodgimdustry.

The performance of the lodging industry has histdly been closely linked to the performance ofdgbeeral economy and,
specifically, growth in U.S. gross domestic prod{i&@DP"). The lodging industry is also sensitiveltosiness and personal discretionary
spending levels. Declines in corporate budgetscamdumer demand due to adverse general econonddioos, risks affecting or reducing
travel patterns, lower consumer confidence or advpolitical conditions can lower the revenue ardiability of our assets and therefore the
net operating profits of our investments. A slowafghe current economic growth or new economickmeas could have an adverse effect on
our revenue and negatively affect our profitability

Competition from other upscale and upper midscaletéls in the markets in which we operate could havenaterial adverse effect on
our results of operations.

The lodging industry is highly competitive. Our &lstcompete with other hotels for guests in eactketan which our hotels
operate based on a number of factors, includingtio, convenience, brand affiliation, room ratesige of services and guest amenities or
accommodations offered and quality of customerisenCompetition will often be specific to the im@iual markets in which our hotels are
located and includes competition from existing aed/ hotels. Our competitors may have an operatiodeithat enables them to offer rooms
at lower rates than we can, which could resultinapmpetitors increasing their occupancy at opeese. Competition could adversely affect
our occupancy, ADR and RevPAR, and may requir® ysdvide additional amenities or make capital ioyements that we otherwise would
not have to make, which could reduce our profitgbédnd could materially and adversely affect asuits of operations.

Our operating results and ability to make distribahs to our stockholders may be adversely affedtgdhe risks inherent to the
ownership of hotels and the markets in which we ogte.

Hotels have different economic characteristics timamy other real estate assets. A typical offiaperty owner, for example, has

long-term leases with third-party tenants, whichvide a relatively stable long-term stream of rexerBy contrast, our hotels are subject to
various operating risks common to the lodging induysnany of which are beyond our control, incluglihe following:

* dependence on business and commercial traveler®ansim;
< over-building of hotels in our markets, which coaldiversely affect occupancy and revenue at thdshwieacquire;

* increases in energy costs and other expensesiafféicvel, which may affect travel patterns anduee the number of
business and commercial travelers and tourists;

e increases in operating costs, including increasatliestate and personal property taxes, due ttimfl and other factors
that may not be offset by increased room rates;

e potential increases in labor costs at our hotetduding as a result of unionization of the labancé and increasing health
care insurance expense;

< adverse effects of international, national, regi@mal local economic and market conditions;

e changes in governmental laws and regulations, |ffsgi&cies and zoning ordinances and the relatestiscof compliance
with laws and regulations, fiscal policies and petices; and

e events beyond our control, such as terrorist astacivel related health concerns, imposition »&saor surcharges by
regulatory authorities, travel-related accidentd anusual weather patterns, including natural tésasuch as hurricanes
and environmental disasters.

We have significant ongoing needs to make capitgbenditures at our hotels, which require us to déedunds to these purposes and
could pose related risks that might impair our aibyl to make distributions to our stockholders.

Our hotels have an ongoing need for renovationsofimer capital improvements, including replacemginéen time to time, of
furniture, fixtures and equipment. Our franchisalso require periodic capital improvements as alitimm of keeping the franchise licenses. In
addition, lenders and hotel management companiggegaire that we set aside annual amounts fotalapiprovements to our assets. These
capital improvements and replacements may givetaisee following risks:
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»  possible environmental problems;
*  construction cost overruns and delays;

e apossible shortage of available cash to fund ahkipitprovements and replacements and, the relatssilplity that
financing for these capital improvements may noawailable to us on affordable terms; and

e uncertainties as to market demand or a loss of ehaldmand after capital improvements and replacen&ve begun.

If any of the above risks were to be realizedpiild materially adversely affect our business,ritial condition and results of
operations and our ability to make distribution®tw stockholders.

Hotel development is subject to timing, budgetingdeother risks. To the extent we develop hotelsaoquire hotels that are under
development, these risks may adversely affect quarating results and liquidity position.

We may develop hotels or acquire hotels that adeudevelopment from time to time as suitable opputies arise, taking into
consideration general economic conditions. Hotekbtlgpment involves a number of risks, including tbkkowing:

»  possible environmental problems;

»  construction delays or cost overruns that may as@eproject costs;

*  receipt of and expense related to zoning, occupandyother required governmental permits and aizidions;
» development costs incurred for projects that atgpnosued to completion;

e acts of God such as earthquakes, hurricanes, floofiles that could adversely affect a project;

e inability to raise capital; and

* governmental restrictions on the nature or size pfoject.

To the extent we develop hotels or acquire hotettetdevelopment, we cannot assure you that angla@went project will be
completed on time or within budget. Our inabilibydomplete a project on time or within budget mdyeasely affect our projected operating
results and our liquidity position.

The increasing use of Internet travel intermediaddy consumers may adversely affect our profitahili

Our hotel rooms are likely to be booked througleinét travel intermediaries, including, but notitad to, Travelocity.com,
Expedia.com and Priceline.com. As these Internekings increase, these intermediaries may be alibtain higher commissions, reduced
room rates or other significant contract concessfoom our management companies. Moreover, sortteesé Internet travel intermediaries
attempting to offer hotel rooms as a commodityirfoyeasing the importance of price and generaktatdrs of quality (such as “three-star
downtown hotel”) at the expense of brand identtf@a These agencies hope that consumers will eadliptdevelop brand loyalties to their
reservations system rather than to the brands wmitieh our hotels are franchised. If the amourdalés made through Internet intermediaries
increases significantly, room revenue may flattedexrease and our profitability may be advers#icted.

Uninsured and underinsured losses could adversdfget our operating results.

We intend to maintain comprehensive insurance orhotels, including liability, fire and extendedvewage, of the type and
amount we believe are customarily obtained foryoolwners of hotels similar to our hotels. Varioyges of catastrophic losses, like
earthquakes and floods, or losses related to tassitisruption from disputes with franchisors, mayme insurable or may not be economically
insurable. In the event of a substantial loss,imsurance coverage may not be sufficient to caverfall current market value or replacement
cost of our lost investment. Should an uninsurad lar a loss in excess of insured limits occurcadd lose all or a portion of the capital we
have invested in a hotel, as well as the anticiphaiture revenue from the hotel. In that eventmight nevertheless remain obligated for any
mortgage debt or other financial obligations reldtethe asset. Loan covenants, inflation, chaimgbsilding codes and ordinances,
environmental considerations and other factors traggo keep us from using insurance proceeds tager renovate an asset after it has bee
damaged or destroyed. Under those circumstaneefmshbrance proceeds we receive might be inadetpaéstore our economic position on
the damaged or destroyed hotels.
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Risks Related to the Real Estate Industry and Redistate-Related Investments

llliquidity of real estate investments could sigigantly impede our ability to respond to adverseadiges in the performance of our
hotels or to adjust our portfolio in response toamges in economic and other conditions, and, thenm&f, may harm our financial
condition.

In the future, we may decide to sell hotels. Retdte investments are relatively illiquid. Our #@ito promptly sell one or more
hotels in our portfolio in response to changingreeuic, financial and investment conditions mayilbrétéd. We cannot predict whether we \
be able to sell any hotels for the price or ontémns set by us, or whether any price or otherdesffered by a prospective purchaser would be
acceptable to us. We also cannot predict the leofgtime needed to find a willing purchaser andltse the sale of an asset. The real estate
market is affected by many factors that are beymmnccontrol, including:

e adverse changes in international, national, redjiand local economic and market conditions;
e changes in interest rates and in the availabiitgt and terms of debt financing;

« changes in governmental laws and regulations, [fisgi&cies and zoning ordinances and the relatestiscof compliance
with laws and regulations, fiscal policies and petices;

« the ongoing need for capital improvements, paridylin older structures, that may require us tpesd funds to correct
defects or to make improvements before an assdieanld;

e changes in operating expenses; and

e civil unrest, acts of God, including earthquakéspds and other natural disasters, which may résuihinsured losses,
and acts of war or terrorism, including the consgapes of the terrorist acts such as those thatr@cton September 11,
2001.

We could incur significant costs related to goverent regulation and litigation over environmental dalth and safety matters.

Our hotels and development land parcels are sutmeetrious federal, state and local environmelatas that impose liability for
contamination. Under these laws, governmentaliegtitave the authority to require us, as the ctioeformer owner of the property, to
perform or pay for the clean-up of contaminatiorcliiding hazardous substances, waste or petroleadugts) at or emanating from the
property and to pay for natural resource damagéngrirom contamination. These laws often impoabiliity without regard to whether the
owner or operator knew of, or caused the contanionatVe can also be liable to private parties fusts of remediation, personal injury and
death and/or property damage resulting from comtatitn at or emanating from our properties. Morepgavironmental contamination can
affect the value of a property and, therefore, @ne’s ability to borrow funds using the propertyallateral or to sell the property on
favorable terms or at all. Furthermore, persons sdrd waste to a waste disposal facility, suchlasdfill or an incinerator, may be liable for
costs associated with cleanup of that facility.

In addition, our hotels (including our real progexperations and equipment) are subject to varfiedsral, state and local
environmental, health and safety regulatory reauinets that address a wide variety of issues, ifmfydut not limited to, the registration,
maintenance and operation of our boilers and storagks, air emissions from emergency generatmsnsvater and wastewater discharges,
asbestos, lead-based paint, mold and mildew, astevmanagement. Some of our hotels also routireetdlle and use hazardous or regulated
substances and wastes as part of their operatidmsh are subject to regulation (for example, swingrpool chemicals or biological waste).
Our hotels incur costs to comply with these envinental, health and safety laws and regulationsifahése regulatory requirements are not
met or unforeseen events result in the discharglaieferous or toxic substances at our hotels, wiel ¢ subject to fines and penalties for
non-compliance with applicable laws and matergbility from third parties for harm to the enviroant, damage to real property or personal
injury and death. We are aware of no past or ptes@rironmental liability for non-compliance witimdronmental, health and safety laws and
regulations that we believe would have a matedaksse effect on our business, assets or resutigerhtions.

Certain hotels we currently own or those we acquithe future contain, may contain, or may havetamed, asbestos-containing
material (“ACM”). Environmental, health and saféayvs require that ACM be properly managed and ra@et, and include requirements to
undertake special precautions, such as removdlaiement, if ACM would be disturbed during maintece renovation, or demolition of a
building. These laws regarding ACM may impose fiaed penalties on building owners, employers arataiprs for failure to comply with
these requirements or expose us to third-partyliigb

Compliance with the laws, regulations and covenatttat apply to our hotels, including permit, liceasand zoning requirements, m:
adversely affect our ability to make future acquisins or renovations, result in significant costs delays and adversely affect our
growth strategy.

Our hotels are subject to various covenants aral laws and regulatory requirements, including ptirmg and licensing
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requirements which can restrict the use of our @riigs and increase the cost of acquisition, dgvetmt and operation of our hotels. In
addition, federal and state laws and regulatior@duding laws such as the ADA, impose further ietms on our operations. Under the ADA,
all public accommodations must meet federal requanmgts related to access and use by disabled peSome of our hotels may currently be
noncompliance with the ADA. If one or more of thatdds in our portfolio is not in compliance withetDA or any other regulatory
requirements, we may be required to incur additionats to bring the hotel into compliance and wehnincur damages or governmental
fines. In addition, existing requirements may cleaagd future requirements may require us to majefiiant unanticipated expenditures that
would adversely affect our business, financial d¢o, results of operations and cash flow, thekaaprice of our stock and our ability to
satisfy our debt service obligations and to maltrihiutions to our stockholders.

If we default on ground leases for land on which wamf our hotels are located, our business couldrbaterially and adversely
affected.

If we default on the terms of any of our groundsksand are unable to cure the default in a timalgner, we may be liable for
damages and could lose our leasehold intereseiafplicable property and interest in the hotethenapplicable property. If any of the events
of default were to occur and are not timely cumd, business, financial condition, results of ofiers and cash flow, the market price of our
securities and our ability to satisfy our debt ggrobligations and to make distributions to oockholders could be materially and adversely
affected.

Risks Related to Conflicts of Interest
Our fiduciary duties as the general partner of ooperating partnership could create conflicts of erest.

We, through our wholly owned subsidiary that sea®she sole general partner of our operating pestip, have fiduciary duties
to our operating partnershiplimited partners, the discharge of which may konivith the interests of our stockholders. Thaited partners ¢
our operating partnership have agreed for so lengeaown a controlling interest in our operatingtparship that, in the event of a conflict
between the duties owed by our directors to ourpamyg and the duties that we owe, in our capacith@sole general partner of our operating
partnership, to the limited partners, our directorsst give priority to the interests of our stockiess. In addition, those persons holding
Common Units have the right to vote on certain ainggnts to the limited partnership agreement (whicjuire approval by a majority in
interest of the limited partners, including us) amdividually to approve certain amendments thauld@dversely affect their rights, as well as
the right to vote on mergers and consolidationthefgeneral partner or us in certain limited cirstances. These voting rights may be
exercised in a manner that conflicts with the ies¢s of our stockholders. For example, we cannegradly affect the limited partners’ rights to
receive distributions, as set forth in the limiftnership agreement, without their consent, ¢lvengh modifying such rights might be in the
best interest of our stockholders generally.

Certain key members of our senior management teamtimue to be involved in other businesses, whichyninterfere with their
ability to devote time and attention to our busisesnd affairs.

We rely on our senior management team to managsti@iegic direction and day-to-day operationswflsiness.
Mr. Boekelheide has certain outside business istemghich may reduce the amount of time that ladie to devote to our business.

Risks Related to Our Organization and Structure

Provisions of our charter may limit the ability af third party to acquire control of us by authorizg our board of directors to issue
additional securities.

Our board of directors may, without stockholderrappl, amend our charter to increase or decre@sagregate number of our
shares or the number of shares of any class @sstrat we have the authority to issue and toi§yasisreclassify any unissued shares of
common stock or preferred stock, and set the preters, rights and other terms of the classifie@dassified shares. As a result, our board of
directors may authorize the issuance of additishates or establish a series of common or prefstostt that may have the effect of delaying
or preventing a change in control of our compangluding transactions at a premium over the maskiee of our shares, even if stockholders
believe that a change in control is in their ingtr@hese provisions, along with the restrictionwnership and transfer contained in our
charter and certain provisions of Maryland law diesxl below, could discourage unsolicited acquisifproposals or make it more difficult for
a third party to gain control of us, which couldratsely affect the market price of our securities.

Provisions of Maryland law may limit the ability cd third party to acquire control of us by requirgnour board of directors or
stockholders to approve proposals to acquire oumpany or effect a change in control.

Certain provisions of the Maryland General Corporat.aw (the “MGCL”") applicable to Maryland corpdi@ans may have the
effect of inhibiting a third party from making agmosal to acquire us or of impeding a change irrobander circumstances
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that otherwise could provide our stockholders lith opportunity to realize a premium over the tpegvailing market price of such shares,
including “business combination” and “control sHgpeovisions.

By resolution of our board of directors, we havéedpout of the business combination provisionefMGCL and provided that
any business combination between us and any o#tsop is exempt from the business combination prows of the MGCL, provided that the
business combination is first approved by our badidirectors (including a majority of directors a/are not affiliates or associates of such
persons). In addition, pursuant to a provisionun loylaws, we have opted out of the control shao®ipions of the MGCL. However, our bos
of directors may by resolution elect to opt inlie business combination provisions of the MGCL wrdnay, by amendment to our bylaws,
opt in to the control share provisions of the MGi@lthe future.

Our rights and the rights of our stockholders tolta action against our directors and officers arerlited, which could limit our
stockholders’ recourse in the event of actions mobur stockholders’ best interests.

Under Maryland law, generally, a director will ria liable if he or she performs his or her dutiegaod faith, in a manner he or
she reasonably believes to be in our best intesggtsvith the care that an ordinarily prudent perisca like position would use under similar
circumstances. In addition, our charter limits liability of our directors and officers to us andrstockholders for money damages, except fol
liability resulting from:

e actual receipt of an improper benefit or profinioney, property or services; or

e active and deliberate dishonesty by the directmfficer that was established by a final judgmenbaing material to the
cause of action adjudicated.

Our charter authorizes us to indemnify our direstmd officers for actions taken by them in thasgacities to the maximum
extent permitted by Maryland law. Our bylaws requis to indemnify each director and officer, to ieximum extent permitted by Maryland
law, in the defense of any proceeding to which hehe is made, or threatened to be made, a pantydspn of his or her service to us. In
addition, we may be obligated to advance the defensts incurred by our directors and officersa&esult, we and our stockholders may F
more limited rights against our directors and @ffscthan might otherwise exist absent the curremtigions in our charter and bylaws or that
might exist with other companies.

Our shareholders have limited voting rights and odharter contains provisions that make removal afralirectors difficult, which
could make it difficult for our stockholders to edtt changes to our management.

Our shares of common stock are the only class o$ecurities that carry full voting rights. Votimights for holders of our
preferred stock exist primarily with respect to #imlity to elect two additional directors to oward of directors in the event that six quarterly
dividends (whether or not consecutive) payablehenpreferred stock are in arrears, and with redpeaiting on amendments to our charter or
articles supplementary relating to the preferredisthat materially and adversely affect the righftthe holders of preferred stock or create
additional classes or series of senior equity séesirFurther, our charter provides that a direatay be removed only for cause (as defined in
our charter) and then only by the affirmative votdolders of shares entitled to cast at leastttials of the votes entitled to be cast generally
in the election of directors. Our charter also fules that vacancies on our board of directors neafillled only by a majority of the remaining
directors in office, even if less than a quorumedénrequirements prevent stockholders from remadiregtors except for cause and with a
substantial affirmative vote and from replacingedtors with their own nominees and may preventamgh in control of our company or effect
other management changes that are in the beststéesf our stockholders.

The ability of our board of directors to change oumajor policies without the consent of stockholdargy not be in our
stockholders’ interest.

Our board of directors determines our major padiciacluding policies and guidelines relating to aoquisitions, leverage,
financing, growth, operations and distributionstockholders. Our board of directors may amenewise these and other policies and
guidelines from time to time without the vote onsent of our stockholders. Accordingly, our stodilkes will have limited control over
changes in our policies and those changes coulersely affect our financial condition, results gieoations, the market price of our stock and
our ability to make distributions to our stockhatsle

The ability of our board of directors to revoke oREIT qualification without stockholder approval macause adverse
consequences to our stockholders.

Our charter provides that our board of directory neavoke or otherwise terminate our REIT electiwithout the approval of our
stockholders, if it determines that it is no longeour best interest to continue to qualify aseER If we cease to be a REIT, we would bect
subject to federal income tax on our taxable incame would no longer be required to distribute nedgiur taxable income to our
stockholders, which may have adverse consequemcggdotal return to our stockholders.

We are a holding company with no direct operatiorss a result, we rely on funds received from ouresgting partnership to pay
liabilities and dividends, our stockholders’ clainvgill be structurally subordinated to all liabiligs of our operating
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partnership and our stockholders will not have amgting rights with respect to our operating partredrip activities, including the
issuance of additional Common Units or Preferred lik

We are a holding company and conduct all of ouratmens through our operating partnership. We dchaoe, apart from our
ownership of our operating partnership, any indepehoperations. As a result, we rely on distritmsifrom our operating partnership to pay
any dividends we might declare on shares of oumsomor preferred stock. We also rely on distribagiécom our operating partnership to
meet any of our obligations, including tax lialyjilitn taxable income allocated to us from our opeggpartnership (which might make
distributions to us that do not equal to the taxsoch allocated taxable income).

In addition, because we are a holding companykhtaders’ claims will be structurally subordinatiedall existing and future
liabilities and obligations (whether or not for bmwed money) of our operating partnership andutssiliaries. Therefore, in the event of our
bankruptcy, liquidation or reorganization, claimisar stockholders will be satisfied only after allour and our operating partnership’s and its
subsidiaries’ liabilities and obligations have bgaid in full.

We own approximately 99% of the Common Units in operating partnership, all of the issued and antlihg 9.25% Series A
Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Units of Summi(‘GBries A Preferred Units”), all of the issued andstanding 7.875% Series B
Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Units of Summi{‘GEries B Preferred Units”), and all of the issw@aul outstanding 7.125% Series C
Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Units of Summi(‘@Bries C Preferred Units,” the Series C Prefetdads, Series B Preferred Units and
Series A Preferred Units collectively referred $d‘Breferred Units”). Any future issuances by operating partnership of additional Common
Units or Preferred Units could reduce our ownergl@entage in our operating partnership. Becauseamnmon stockholders do not directly
own any Common Units or Preferred Units, they wilt have any voting rights with respect to any sssbances or other partnership-level
activities of our operating partnership.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Securities

The New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”") or another niahally recognized exchange may not continue td bisir securities, which
could limit stockholders’ ability to make transacins in our securities and subject us to additiortedding restrictions.

Our common stock trades on the NYSE under the syfilidl,” our 9.25% Series A Cumulative RedeemabtefBrred Stock
trades on the NYSE under the symbol “INNPrA,” ol875% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferreck$tades on the NYSE under the
symbol “INNPrB,” and our 7.125% Series C CumulatRedeemable Preferred Stock trades on the NYSE tinelsymbol “INNPrC.” In
order for our securities to remain listed, we @guired to meet the continued listing requiremefthie NYSE or, in the alternative, any other
nationally recognized exchange to which we applg. May be unable to satisfy those listing requirasyeand there is no guarantee our
securities will remain listed on a nationally renmgd exchange. If our securities are delisted fioenNYSE or another nationally recognized
exchange, we could face significant material advemnsequences, including:

e alimited availability of market quotations for csgcurities;
e reduced liquidity with respect to our securities;

« adetermination that our common stock is “pennglstonvhich will require brokers trading in our coromstock to
adhere to more stringent rules, possibly resuiting reduced level of trading activity in the sedary trading market for
the common stock;

e alimited amount of news and analyst coverage; and

e adecreased ability to issue additional securdiasbtain additional financing in the future.

The cash available for distribution may not be sigient to make distributions at expected levelsdame cannot assure you of our
ability to make distributions in the future. We mayse borrowed funds or funds from other sourcesmake distributions, which may
adversely affect our operations.

Subject to the preferential rights of the holddrewr Series A, Series B and Series C preferreckstnd any other class or serie:
our stock that are senior to our common stock vatipect to distribution rights, we intend to makerterly distributions to holders of our
common stock. Distributions declared by us willdeghorized by our board of directors in its sokecdgtion out of funds legally available for
distribution and will depend upon a number of fastincluding restrictions under applicable law dimel capital requirements of our company.
All distributions will be made at the discretionair board of directors and will depend on our gays, our financial condition, the
requirements for qualification as a REIT, restdns under applicable law and other factors as oardof directors may deem relevant from
time to time. We may be required to fund distribas from working capital, borrowings under our unsed credit facility, proceeds of future
stock offerings or a sale of assets to the extistrilbutions exceed earnings or cash flows fromragens. Funding distributions from working
capital would restrict our operations. If we borrram the unsecured credit facility in order to mhstributions, we would be more limited in
our ability to execute our strategy of using that
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unsecured credit facility to fund acquisitions. &y, selling assets may require us to disposessé at a time or in a manner that is not
consistent with our disposition strategy. If weroar to fund distributions, our leverage ratios dutire interest costs would increase, thereby
reducing our earnings and cash available for 8istion from what they otherwise would have been.ésy not be able to make distributions
in the future. In addition, some of our distributiomay be considered a return of capital for inctemepurposes. If we decide to make
distributions in excess of our current and accutedl@arnings and profits, such distributions wayéderally be considered a return of capital
for federal income tax purposes to the extent efrtblder’'s adjusted tax basis in their shares.térneof capital is not taxable, but it has the
effect of reducing the holder’s adjusted tax basits investment. If distributions exceed the atial tax basis of a holder's shares, they will be
treated as gain from the sale or exchange of gock.s

The market price of our stock may be volatile dwertumerous circumstances beyond our control.

The trading prices of equity securities issued BYTR and other real estate companies historicaiyeheen affected by change:
market interest rates. One of the factors that imfyyence the market price of our common or prefdrstock is the annual yield from
distributions on our common or preferred stockpeesively, as compared to yields on other finanicisiruments. An increase in market inte
rates, or a decrease in our distributions to stolcldrs, may lead prospective purchasers of our ammon preferred stock to demand a higher
annual yield, which could reduce the market priceus common or preferred stock, respectively.

Other factors that could affect the market pricewf stock include the following:
e actual or anticipated variations in our quartedgults of operations;
e changes in market valuations of companies in tdgifa industry;
»  changes in expectations of future financial perfamge or changes in estimates of securities analysts
« fluctuations in stock market prices and volumes;
e ourissuances of common stock, preferred stocithmr securities in the future;
e the inclusion of our common stock and preferredlstn equity indices, which could induce additioparchases;
e the addition or departure of key personnel;
e announcements by us or our competitors of acqoistiinvestments or strategic alliances; and

< unforeseen events beyond our control, such asitistan the national, European or global econort@yrorist attacks,
travel related health concerns including pandemicsepidemics such as H1N1 influenza (swine fidgrabird flu and
SARS, political instability, regional hostilitiegicreases in fuel prices, imposition of taxes ackarges by regulatory
authorities and travel-related accidents and udwseather patterns, including natural disasterfsischurricanes.

The market's perception of our growth potential and current and potential future cash distributiomhether from operations,
sales or refinancings, as well as the real estatgehvalue of the underlying assets, may cause@umon and preferred stock to trade at
prices that differ from our net asset value perehidwe retain operating cash flow for investmpatposes, working capital reserves or other
purposes, these retained funds, while increasiagatue of our underlying assets, may not corregipgity increase the market price of our
common and preferred stock. Our failure to meetntlheket's expectations with regard to future eagaiand distributions likely would
adversely affect the market price of our common prederred stock.

The trading market for our stock will rely in part the research and reports that industry or fimhanalysts publish about us or
our business. We do not control these analystsh&umore, if one or more of the analysts who deecaxs downgrades our stock or our
industry, or the stock of any of our competitohg price of our stock could decline. If one or mof¢hese analysts ceases coverage of our
company, we could lose attention in the marketcWlm turn could cause the price of our stock tdide.

The number of shares of our common stock and preéet stock available for future sale could adverselfyect the market price per
share of our common stock and preferred stock, restvely, and future sales by us of shares of oanunon stock, preferred stock,
issuances by our operating partnership of Commonitdrmay be dilutive to existing stockholders.

Sales of substantial amounts of shares of our camstaxk or preferred stock in the public marketypon exchange of Common
Units or exercise of any equity awards, or the @gtion that such sales might occur, could advemsiégct the market price of our common
stock and preferred stock. As of March 20, 201tal of 685,270 Common Units are redeemable anttldme converted into shares of our
common stock and sold into the public market. Iditah, 412,174 Common Units have been issued feuhat redeemable until April 2015.
The exchange of Common Units for common stocky#sting of any equity-based awards
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granted to certain directors, executive officerd ather employees under the 2011 Equity Incentlaa,Rhe issuance of our common stock or
Common Units in connection with hotel, portfoliolmrsiness acquisitions and other issuances of@mummon stock or Common Units could
have an adverse effect on the market price ofliaees of our common stock.

Future offerings of debt securities, which would Isenior to our common and preferred stock upon lidation, and issuances of
equity securities (including Common Units), whichawy be dilutive to our existing stockholders and $&nior to our common stock f
purposes of dividend distributions or upon liquidah, may materially and adversely affect the markweice of our common stock.

In the future we may offer debt securities andessquity securities, including Common Units, prefdrstock or other preferred
shares, that may be senior to our common stocgudgoses of dividend distributions or upon liquidat Upon liquidation, holders of our debt
securities and our preferred shares will receiggrithutions of our available assets prior to thiles of our common stock. Holders of our
common stock are not entitled to meptive rights or other protections against usroffgesenior debt or equity securities. Therefodgligonal
common share issuances, directly or through coimerdr exchangeable securities (including Commaits), warrants or options, will dilute
the holdings of our existing common stockholderd such issuances or the perception of such isssanag reduce the market price of our
common stock. In addition, new issues of prefestedk could have a preference on liquidating distions and a preference on dividend
payments that could limit our ability to pay a dighd or make another distribution to the holdersusfcommon stock. Because our decision ts
issue securities in any future offering will depemdmarket conditions and other factors beyondcoutrol, we cannot predict or estimate the
amount, timing or nature of future issuances. Thus,stockholders bear the risk of our future affgs reducing the market price of our
common stock and diluting their interest in us.

Risks Related to Our Status as a REIT

Failure to remain qualified as a REIT would causesuo be taxed as a regular corporation, which wosldbstantially reduce funds
available for distributions to our stockholders.

We have limited operating history as a publichded REIT. The REIT rules and regulations are higbthnical and complex. We
cannot assure you that our management teaxperience will be sufficient to continue to seasfully operate our company as a publicly tre
REIT. We believe that our organization and propasethod of operation has enabled us to meet théresments for qualification and taxat
as a REIT commencing with our short taxable yededrDecember 31, 2011. However, we cannot assuréhab we will remain qualified as
REIT.

Failure to qualify as a REIT could result from amher of situations, including, without limitation:

» ifthe leases of our hotels to our TRS lessees@ireespected as true leases for federal incompugposes;

« if our operating partnership is treated as a pljptiraded partnership taxable as a corporatiorigfderal income tax purposes;
or

< if our existing or future hotel management compsauie not qualify as “eligible independent contragtar if our hotels are
not “qualified lodging facilities,” as required ligderal income tax law.

If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable yease will face serious tax consequences that wiissantially reduce the funds
available for distributions to our stockholders dgse:

« we would not be allowed a deduction for dividend&lgo stockholders in computing our taxable inc@me would be subje
to federal income tax at regular corporate rates;

e we could be subject to the federal alternative minih tax and possibly increased state and locabiatel

. unless we are entitled to relief under certain faldecome tax laws, we could not re-elect REITstauntil the fifth calendar
year after the year in which we failed to qualif/aREIT.

In addition, if we fail to qualify as a REIT, we Nuno longer be required to make distributions.aA®sult of all these factors, our
failure to qualify as a REIT could impair our atyilto expand our business and raise capital, awdutd adversely affect the value of our st

Even if we continue to qualify as a REIT, we mayctaother tax liabilities that reduce our cash flows
Even if we continue to qualify for taxation as allREnve may be subject to certain federal, statelaoal taxes on our income and
assets including, but not limited to, taxes on angfistributed income, tax on income from some #@ts conducted as a result of a foreclos
and state or local income, property and transfeggaln addition, our TRSs are subject to regubaparate federal, state and local taxes. Any c
these taxes would decrease cash available foituistms to stockholders.
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Failure to make required distributions would subjeas to federal corporate income tax.

We intend to operate in a manner so as to quadify REIT for federal income tax purposes. In otdejualify as a REIT, we
generally are required to distribute at least 90%up REIT taxable income, determined without regrthe dividends paid deduction and
excluding any net capital gain, each year to cocldtolders. To the extent that we satisfy thisritigtion requirement, but distribute less than
100% of our REIT taxable income, we will be subjectederal corporate income tax on our undistddutixable income. In addition, we will
be subject to a 4% non-deductible excise tax ifatteal amount that we pay out to our stockholi@eescalendar year is less than a minimum
amount specified under the Code.

REIT distribution requirements could adversely affeour liquidity and may force us to borrow funds eell assets during
unfavorable market conditions or pay taxable stodividends.

In order to satisfy the requirements for qualificatas a REIT and to meet the REIT distributioruisgments, we may need to
borrow funds on a short-term basis or sell assee if the then-prevailing market conditions aoéfavorable for these borrowings or sales.
Our cash flows from operations may be insufficientund required distributions as a result of difeces in timing between the actual receipt
of income and the recognition of income for fedémabme tax purposes, or the effect of non-dedlectibpital expenditures, the creation of
reserves or required debt service or amortizataympents. The insufficiency of our cash flows to@owgur distribution requirements could h
an adverse effect on our ability to raise shortt lmmg-term debt or sell equity securities in ortefund distributions required to maintain our
qualification as a REIT. Also, although the IntdrRavenue Service (“IRS”) has issued private latidings to other REITs, which may be
relied upon only by the taxpayers to whom they wesaed, and a revenue procedure applicable ta@Qif through 2011 taxable years
sanctioning certain issuances of taxable stoclddiwils by REITs under certain circumstances, naasse can be given that we will be able tc
pay taxable stock dividends to meet our REIT distibn requirements.

The formation of our TRSs increases our overall taability.

Our TRSs are subject to federal, state and localnme tax on their taxable income, which typicatiysists of the revenue from the
hotels leased by our TRS lessees, net of the apgmtpenses for such hotels and rent payments émd, in the case of any hotel that is ov
by a wholly owned subsidiary of one of our TRSg, tbvenue from that hotel, net of the operatingeagps. Accordingly, although our
ownership of our TRSs allows us to participatehim dperating income from our hotels in additiometceiving rent, that operating income will
be fully subject to income tax. The after-tax matdme of our TRSs is available for distributiorut If we have any non-U.S. TRSs, then they
may be subject to tax in jurisdictions where thpgrate.

Our TRS lessee structure subjects us to the risknafeased hotel operating expenses that could agely affect our operating
results and our ability to make distributions toastkholders.

Our leases with our TRS lessees require our TR®déessto pay us rent based in part on revenue fuorhaiels. Our operating ris
include decreases in hotel revenue and increadestéh operating expenses, including but not lichtie the increases in wage and benefit cost
repair and maintenance expenses, energy costdfagdoperating expenses, which would adverselycatfar TRSs’ ability to pay us rent due
under the leases. Increases in these operatingigapean have a significant adverse effect onioandial condition, results of operations, the
market price of our common and preferred sharesoandbility to make distributions to our stockhersl.

If our operating partnership is treated as a publljctraded partnership taxable as a corporation ffmderal income tax purposes, we
will cease to qualify as a REIT.

Although we believe that our operating partnershilpbe treated as a partnership for federal incaaxepurposes, no assurance
be given that the IRS will not successfully chajjerthat position. If the IRS were to successfuliptend that our operating partnership should
be treated as a publicly traded partnership taxable corporation, we would fail to meet the 75%sgrincome test and certain of the asset tes
applicable to REITs and, unless we qualified fataia statutory relief provisions, we would ceasejtialify as a REIT. Also, our operating
partnership would become subject to federal, statelocal income tax, which would reduce signifitathe amount of cash available for debt
service and for distribution to us.

If Interstate, our other hotel management companjes any other hotel management companies that waymnangage in the future
do not qualify as “eligible independent contractqtor if our hotels are not “qualified lodging fadities,” we will fail to qualify as a
REIT.

Rent paid by a lessee that is a “related partyn#&rd ours will not be qualifying income for purpes of the two gross income tests
applicable to REITs. An exception is provided, heere for leases of “qualified lodging facilitiesd 8 TRS so long as the hotels are managed
by an “eligible independent contractor” and ceriatiner requirements are satisfied. We lease sufestarall of our hotels to our TRS
lessees. All of our hotels are operated pursuahotel management agreements with Interstate drat bbtel management companies, each ¢
which we believe qualifies as an “eligible indepentcontractor.” Among other requirements, in otdequalify as an eligible independent
contractor, the hotel manager must not own, diyemtithrough its stockholders, more
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than 35% of our outstanding shares, and no pensgroap of persons can own more than 35% of owstantling shares and the shares (or
ownership interest) of the hotel manager, takirig account certain ownership attribution rules. dtmership attribution rules that apply for
purposes of these 35% thresholds are complex, amitaning actual and constructive ownership of sliares by our hotel managers and their
owners may not be practical. Accordingly, there lobamo assurance that these ownership levels atilbe exceeded.

In addition, for a hotel management company toifpuas an eligible independent contractor, such gany or a related person
must be actively engaged in the trade or businesperating “qualified lodging facilities” (as de&d below) for one or more persons not
related to the REIT or its TRSs at each time thahsompany enters into a hotel management contiita TRS or its TRS lessee. As of the
date hereof, we believe each of our hotel manageooenpanies operates qualified lodging facilitiesdertain persons who are not related to
us or our TRSs. However, no assurances can bedathat our hotel management companies or any btitel managers that we may eng
in the future will in fact comply with this requimeent. Failure to comply with this requirement wotgduire us to find other managers for
future contracts, and, if we hired a managementpamy without knowledge of the failure, it could pamdize our status as a REIT.

Finally, each property with respect to which ourSTRssees pay rent must be a “qualified lodginditia¢ A “qualified lodging
facility” is a hotel, motel or other establishmembre than one-half of the dwelling units in whiak ased on a transient basis, including
customary amenities and facilities, provided thatwagering activities are conducted at or in cotinaavith such facility by any person wha
engaged in the business of accepting wagers andsabgally authorized to engage in such business im connection with such facility. As
of the date hereof, we believe that the propettiesare leased to our TRS lessees and the prapaitis owned by a wholly owned subsidiary
of one of our TRSs are qualified lodging facilitidédthough we intend to monitor future acquisiticarsd improvements of properties, REIT
provisions of the Code provide only limited guidarfor making determinations under the requiremftgualified lodging facilities, and the
can be no assurance that these requirements vghtisfied.

Our ownership of our TRSs is subject to limitatioasd our transactions with our TRSs could causetoshe subject to a 100%
penalty tax on certain income or deductions if thogansactions are not conducted on arm’s-lengthnis.

Overall, no more than 25% of the value of a REBASsets may consist of stock or securities of omeayre TRSs. In addition, the
Code limits the deductibility of interest paid acaued by a TRS to its parent REIT to assure t&fRS is subject to an appropriate level of
corporate taxation. The Code also imposes a 10@¥setax on certain transactions between a TRStaparent REIT that are not conducted
on an arm’s-length basis. The 100% tax would agplyexample, to the extent that we were foundaweehcharged our TRS lessees rent in
excess of an arm’s-length rent. We monitor theealf our respective investments in our TRSs fergirpose of ensuring compliance with
TRS ownership limitations and structure our tratisas with our TRSs on terms that we believe ane’sitength to avoid incurring the 100%
excise tax described above. There can be no assyfaowever, that we will be able to comply witk 26% TRS limitation or to avoid
application of the 100% excise tax.

We may be subject to adverse legislative or reqariatax changes that could reduce the market prafeour stock.

At any time, the federal income tax laws goverrREJ Ts or the administrative interpretations of #ntewvs may be amended. We
cannot predict when or if any new federal incomelaav, regulation, or administrative interpretation any amendment to any existing federal
income tax law, regulation or administrative intetation, will be adopted, promulgated or beconfiectize and any such law, regulation, or
interpretation may take effect retroactively. Wel aur stockholders could be adversely affectedriyysach change in, or any new, federal
income tax law, regulation or administrative intetation.

You may be restricted from acquiring or transferigncertain amounts of our stock.

The stock ownership restrictions of the Code fofREand the 9.8% stock ownership limit in our charhay inhibit market
activity in our capital stock and restrict our mess combination opportunities.

In order to qualify as a REIT for each taxable y&ae or fewer individuals, as defined in the Cpa®y not own, beneficially or
constructively, more than 50% in value of our iskaad outstanding stock at any time during theHaltof a taxable year. Attribution rules in
the Code determine if any individual or entity biécially or constructively owns our capital stockder this requirement. Additionally, at least
100 persons must beneficially own our capital stiheking at least 335 days of a taxable year foheaxable year. To help insure that we mee
these tests, our charter restricts the acquisati@hownership of shares of our capital stock.

Our charter, with certain exceptions, authorizesdiectors to take such actions as are necessdrgesirable to preserve our
qualification as a REIT. Unless exempted by ourtd@d directors, our charter prohibits any persamf beneficially or constructively owning
more than 9.8% in value or number of shares, whiehis more restrictive, of the outstanding shafesny class or series of our capital stock.
Our board of directors may not grant an exemptiomfthese restrictions to any proposed transfetemsa ownership in excess of 9.8% of the
value of our outstanding shares would result infailing to qualify as a REIT. These restrictionstoansferability and ownership will not
apply, however, if our board of directors determsittgat it is no longer in our best interest to ocurg to qualify as a REIT.
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We may pay taxable dividends in our common stockl @ash, in which case stockholders may sell sharEsur common stock to pay
tax on such dividends, placing downward pressuretha market price of our common stock.

We may distribute taxable dividends that are pagyabtash and common stock at the election of ettkholder. If we made a
taxable dividend payable in cash and common staglable stockholders receiving such dividends kéllrequired to include the full amount
the dividend as ordinary income to the extent afaaurent and accumulated earnings and profitdetarmined for federal income tax
purposes. As a result, stockholders may be reqtirpdy income tax with respect to such dividemdsxcess of the cash dividends received. |
a U.S. stockholder sells the common stock tha&deives as a dividend in order to pay this taxsHies proceeds may be less than the amoun
included in income with respect to the dividendpeleding on the market price of our common stodkatime of the sale. Furthermore, with
respect to certain non-U.S. stockholders, we magbgeired to withhold federal income tax with resfp® such dividends, including in respect
of all or a portion of such dividend that is payalsi common stock. If we made a taxable dividenghpbe in cash and our common stock and
significant number of our stockholders determinedth shares of our common stock in order to paggawed on dividends, it may put
downward pressure on the trading price of our comstock. We do not currently intend to pay a tagatvidend of our common stock and
cash.

The 100% prohibited transactions tax may limit oability to dispose of our properties, and we coindur a material tax liability if
the IRS successfully asserts that the 100% prolabitransaction tax applies to some or all of ourgpar future dispositions.

A REIT’s net income from prohibited transactionsimbject to a 100% tax. In general, prohibitedseations are sales or other
dispositions of property, other than foreclosurepgrty, held primarily for sale to customers in thidinary course of business. We have
selectively disposed of certain of our propertiethie past and intend to make additional dispasitia the future. Although a safe harbor tc
characterization of the sale of property by a R&$Ta prohibited transaction is available, someuofast dispositions have not qualified for
that safe harbor and some or all of our future@hgons may not qualify for that safe harbor. \Wdidve that some of our past dispositions wil
not be treated as prohibited transactions, anchtead to avoid disposing of property that may barabterized as held primarily for sale to
customers in the ordinary course of business. Gpresdly, we may choose not to engage in certagssai our properties or may conduct suct
sales through our TRSs, which would be subjectdiefal and state income taxation as a corporatitareover, no assurance can be provided
that the IRS will not assert that some or all of past or future dispositions are subject to th@2a@rohibited transactions tax. If the IRS
successfully imposes the 100% prohibited transastiax on some or all of our dispositions, the ltegutax liability could be material.

ltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
Item 2. Properties.

Our Portfolio

A list of our hotel properties owned as of Decenttier2013 is included in the table below. We ownlwotels in fee simple,
except for six hotels that are held under grouaddeor other leasehold interest, as describedim Hotel Operating Agreements &round
Leases” below. According to STR’s current chain scales,of our hotel properties with 7,475 guestroonescategorized as upscale hotels, 2
of our hotel properties with 3,287 guestrooms ategorized as upper midscale hotels, and two ohotel properties with 146 guestrooms are
categorized as midscale. All financial and rooforimation is for the year ended December 31, 2013.
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Later of Year of

Opening or Number of
Franchise/Brand Location Conversion Guestrooms STR Segmen
Marriott
Courtyard by Marriott (1 Flagstaff, AZ 2009 164 Upscale
Courtyard by Marriott (1 Scottsdale, Az 2003 155 Upscale
Courtyard by Marriott (2 Atlanta, GA 2012 15C Upscale
Courtyard by Marriott (3 Indianapoalis, IN 2013 297 Upscale
Courtyard by Marriott (1 Metairie, LA 2013 155 Upscale
Courtyard by Matrriott (3 New Orleans, LA 2013 202 Upscale
Courtyard by Matrriott (3 New Orleans, LA 2013 14C Upscale
Courtyard by Matrriott (1 Jackson, M¢ 2005 117 Upscale
Courtyard by Marriott (3 Germantown, TN 2005 93 Upscale
Courtyard by Marriott (3 Arlington, TX 2012 105 Upscale
Courtyard by Marriott (3 El Paso, TX 2011 9C Upscale
Fairfield Inn & Suites by Marriott (2 Denver, CC 1997 16C Upper midscals
Fairfield Inn & Suites by Marriott (1 Louisville, KY 2013 135 Upper midscals
Fairfield Inn & Suites by Marriott (2 Baton Rouge, L/ 2004 78 Upper midscal
Fairfield Inn & Suites by Marriott (2 Germantown, TN 2005 8C Upper midscal
Fairfield Inn & Suites by Marriott (2 Fort Worth, TX 2011 7C Upper midscal
Fairfield Inn & Suites by Marriott (3 Bellevue, WA 1997 144 Upper midscals
Fairfield Inn & Suites by Marriott (2 Spokane, W/ 1995 84 Upper midscal
Residence Inn by Marriott (¢ Fort Wayne, IN 2006 10¢ Upscale
Residence Inn by Marriott (: Metairie, LA 2013 12C Upscale
Residence Inn by Marriott ( Ridgeland, MS 2007 10C Upscale
Residence Inn by Marriott (: Portland, OF 2009 124 Upscale
Residence Inn by Marriott (X Germantown, TN 2005 78 Upscale
Residence Inn by Marriott (X Arlington, TX 2012 9€ Upscale
Residence Inn by Marriott ( Salt Lake City, UT 2012 17€ Upscale
SpringHill Suites by Marriott (1 Flagstaff, AZ 2008 112 Upscale
SpringHill Suites by Marriott (1 Scottsdale, Az 2003 121 Upscale
SpringHill Suites by Marriott (1 Denver, CC 2007 124 Upscale
SpringHill Suites by Marriott (3 Indianapolis, IN 2013 15€ Upscale
SpringHill Suites by Marriott (1 Louisville, KY 2013 19¢ Upscale
SpringHill Suites by Marriott (3 Baton Rouge, L/ 2004 78 Upscale
SpringHill Suites by Marriott (3 New Orleans, LA 2013 20¢ Upscale
SpringHill Suites by Marriott (1 Bloomington, MN 2011 11Z Upscale
SpringHill Suites by Marriott (3 Nashville, TN 2004 78 Upscale
TownPlace Suites by Marriott (3) Baton Rouge, LA 2004 9C Upper midscale
Total Marriott (35 hotel properties) 4,49¢
Hilton
DoubleTree (1 Baton Rouge, L/ 2011 127 Upscale
Hampton Inn (4 Fort Smith, AR 2005 17€ Upper midscals
Hampton Inn (3 Fort Collins, CC 1996 75  Upper midscalt
Hampton Inn (1 Fort Wayne, IN 2006 11€ Upper midscals
Hampton Inn (3 Medford, OR 2001 75  Upper midscal
Hampton Inn (3 Provo, UT 1996 87 Upper midscal
Hampton Inn & Suite Camarillo, CA 2013 115 Upper midscals
Hampton Inn & Suite Poway, CA 2013 10€ Upper midscals
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Hampton Inn & Suites (1
Hampton Inn & Suites (1
Hampton Inn & Suites (1
Hampton Inn & Suites (1
Hampton Inn & Suite
Hilton Garden Inn (1
Hilton Garden Inn (1
Hilton Garden Inn (1
Hilton Garden Inn (3
Hilton Garden Inn (1
Hilton Garden Inn (3
Hilton Garden Inn (1
Hilton Garden Inn (3
Homewood Suites (3)
Total Hilton (22 hotel properties)

Hyatt

Hyatt House (1
Hyatt Place
Hyatt Place (1
Hyatt Place (1
Hyatt Place (1
Hyatt Place (3
Hyatt Place (1
Hyatt Place (1
Hyatt Place (1
Hyatt Place (1
Hyatt Place (1
Hyatt Place (1
Hyatt Place
Hyatt Place (3
Hyatt Place
Hyatt Place (1
Hyatt Place
Total Hyatt (17 hotel properties)

IHG

Holiday Inn (3)

Holiday Inn Express (1

Holiday Inn Express (1

Holiday Inn Express & Suites (1) (
Holiday Inn Express & Suites (.
Holiday Inn Express & Suites (:
Holiday Inn Express & Suites (.
Staybridge Suites (¢
Staybridge Suites (1)

Total IHG (9 hotel properties)

Carlson
Country Inn & Suites by Carlsc

Ybor City, FL
Bloomington, MN
Smyrna, TN

El Paso, TX

Fort Worth, TX
Birmingham, AL
Birmingham, AL
Fort Collins, CC
Duluth, GA
Eden Prairie, MM
Greenville, SC
Smyrna, TN

Fort Worth, TX
Ridgeland, MS

Englewood, CC
Phoenix, AZ
Scottsdale, Az
Englewood, CC
Lone Tree, CC
Fort Myers, FL
Orlando, FL
Orlando, FL
Atlanta, GA
Hoffman Estates,
Lombard, IL
Owing Mills, MD
Minneapolis, MN
Garden City, NY
Portland, OF
Arlington, TX
Las Colinas, TX

Duluth, GA
Vernon Hills, IL
Charleston, W\
San Francisco, C.
Minnetonka, MN
Las Colinas, TX
Sandy, UT
Glendale, CC
Jackson, MS

San Antonio, TX
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2012
2007
2012
2005
2007
2012
2012
2007
2011
2013
2013
2012
2012
2011

2012
2012
2012
2012
2012
2009
2013
2013
2006
2013
2012
2012
2013
2012
2009
2012
2007

2011
2008
2011
2013
2013
2007
1998
2011
2007

2011

13¢
14¢
83
13¢
10t
13C
95
12C
12z
97
12C
11z
98
91
2,47¢

13t
127
12¢
12¢
127
14¢
15C
15C
15C
12¢
151
12¢
21¢
12z
13¢€
127
12z
2,35¢

145
11¢
66
252
93
12¢
88
121
92
1,102

12¢

Upper midscal
Upper midscals
Upper midscals
Upper midscal
Upper midscals
Upscale
Upscale
Upscale
Upscale
Upscale
Upscale
Upscale
Upscale
Upscale

Upscale
Upscale
Upscale
Upscale
Upscale
Upscale
Upscale
Upscale
Upscale
Upscale
Upscale
Upscale
Upscale
Upscale
Upscale
Upscale
Upscale

Upper midscal
Upper midscals
Upper midscals
Upper midscals
Upper midscals
Upper midscals
Upper midscal
Upscale

Upscale

Upper midscals
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Country Inn & Suites by Carlson (1) Charleston, WV 2001 64 Upper midscale
Total Carlson (2 hotel properties) 19C

Starwood

Aloft Jacksonville, FL 2009 13€ Upscale
Americlnn

Americlnn Hotel & Suites(4) Fort Smith, AR 2011 8¢ Midscale
Independent

Aspen Hotel & Suites (4) Fort Smith, AR 2003 57 Midscale

Total Portfolio (88 hotel properties) 10,90¢

(1) This hotel property is subject to mortgage del@etember 31, 2013. For additional information @ning our debt and lenders, see |
7. "“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finahkiiformation and Results of Operations—Outstagditdebtedness” and Item 8.
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data—Nbte Rebt” in our Consolidated Financial Statements.

(2) We own a 90% controlling interest in this hotel ety with the obligation to acquire the remainit@s interest in 2016.

(3) This hotel property is unencumbered at Decembe2@13, but is in the borrowing base supportingsamior unsecured credit facility,
thus we are unable to encumber the hotel.

(4) This hotel property is designated as held for aaleecember 31, 2013.

(5) We own an 80% controlling interest in this hotederty with an option to acquire the remaining 2@%rest beginning in the first quat
of 2014.

Since December 31, 2013, we have acquired fout poiperties for an aggregate purchase price obELaillion, which includes
the assumption of debt of $43.1 million and theasse of Summit OP Common Units valued at $3.7anill In addition, we disposed of two
hotel properties, which were classified as heldsde at December 31, 2013, for aggregate salesgas of $3.1 million.

At March 20, 2014, we have also entered into aregent to purchase a hotel property for $37.7 onillsubject to satisfaction of
certain conditions. In January 2014, we issueadity letter of credit for $13.1 million in suppoftthis purchase agreement. We anticipate
acquiring this hotel property in the first half2814. For additional information, see “ltem 7. Mgement’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Ldiifyi and Capital Resources” and “Iltem 7. Managefddiscussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Re&rsvelopments.”

In addition to our hotel property portfolio, we owix parcels of land, one of which is designatetield for sale, that we believe
are suitable for the development of new hotel pridge the possible expansion of existing hotepprties or the development of restaurants ir
proximity to certain of our hotel properties. Wam@ntly do not intend to develop new hotel projesror restaurants or expand any of our
existing hotel properties on these parcels. We mdlye future sell these parcels when market canditwarrant. To reduce the risk of
incurring a prohibited transaction tax on any salsmay transfer some or all of these parceltoT&RSs.

Our Hotel Operating Agreements
Ground Leases

At December 31, 2013, five of our hotel properties subject to ground lease agreements that ctadrthe land underlying the
respective hotel property.

*  The Hampton Inn located in Fort Smith, AR is subjeca ground lease with an initial lease termoratiate of May 31, 2030 with 11
five-year renewal options. Annual ground rent curreistigstimated to be $146,000 for 2014. Annual gdowmt is adjusted on Jun
of each year, with adjustments based on increastb® ihotel’'s RevPAR calculated in accordance tithterms of the ground lease.
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»  The Holiday Inn located in Duluth, GA is subjecta@round lease with a lease termination date ofl Ap2069. Annual ground rent
currently is estimated to be $204,000 in 2014. wadment is increased annually by 3% for each siice lease year, on a cumulative
basis.

The Residence Inn by Marriott located in Portla@& is subject to a ground lease with an initiabéetermination date of June 30,
2084 with one option to extend for an additionalygérs. Ground rent for the initial lease term waepaid in full at the time we
acquired the leasehold interest. If the optiondtered is exercised, monthly ground rent will bergteal based on a formula establishec
in the ground lease.

*  The Hyatt Place located in Portland, OR is sulijget ground lease with a lease termination datkioé 30, 2084 with one option to
extend for an additional 14 years. Ground rentHerinitial lease term was prepaid in full at theet we acquired the leasehold intel
If the option to extend is exercised, monthly grdwent will be charged based on a formula estadtish the ground lease.

e The Americlnn Hotel & Suites located in Fort SmifiR is subject to a ground lease with an initialde termination date of
August 31, 2022. The initial lease term may bemdeel for an additional 30 years. We sold this hpteperty on January 17, 2014.

These ground leases generally require us to maial igayments and payments for our share of chacgess, expenses,
assessments and liabilities, including real propttes and utilities. Furthermore, these growadés generally require us to obtain and
maintain insurance covering the subject property.

In addition, the Hyatt Place located in Garden QWY is subject to a PILOT (payment in lieu of taxéease with the Town of
Hempstead Industrial Development Authority, or iBé\, as lessor. The lease expires on Decembe2@®19. Upon expiration of the lease, we
expect to exercise our right to acquire a fee stnmtierest in the Garden City hotel property frdma DA for nominal consideration.

Franchise Agreements

At December 31, 2013, all of our hotel propertes;ept for our one independent hotel, operate uindechise agreements with
Marriott, Hilton, Hyatt, IHG, Country Inns & Suitd®y Carlson, Inc. (“Carlson”), Starwood Hotels éRésorts Worldwide, Inc. (“Starwood”)
or Americlnn International, LLC (“Americlnn”). Wedbieve that the public’s perception of the quadissociated with a brand-name hotel is an
important feature in its attractiveness to gudatanchisors provide a variety of benefits to frasebs, including centralized reservation
systems, national advertising, marketing prograngspaublicity designed to increase brand awarenesgjng of personnel and maintenance o
operational quality at hotels across the brandesyst

The franchise agreements require our TRS lessedésgrechisees, to pay franchise fees ranging bet@eéeand 6% of each hotel's
gross revenue. In addition, some of our franchige@ments require our TRS lessees to pay marki@ggof up to 4% of each hotel’s gross
revenue. These agreements generally specify marsageaperational, record-keeping, accounting, rapgpand marketing standards and
procedures with which our TRS lessees, as thelfiiaees, must comply. The franchise agreementsaibligur TRS lessees to comply with the
franchisors’ standards and requirements, inclutfi@iging of operational personnel, safety, maintajrspecified insurance, the types of
services and products ancillary to guest room sesvihat may be provided by the TRS lessee, digflajggnage and the type, quality and age
of furniture, fixtures and equipment included iregurooms, lobbies and other common areas. Sothe @igreements require that we deposit
set percentage, generally not more than 5% of thesgevenue of the hotels, into a reserve funddpital expenditures.

Hotel Management Agreemen

At December 31, 2013, all of our hotel properties @perated pursuant to hotel management agreemihthird party hotel
management companies, including the following:

« Interstate and its affiliate Noble Management GrdupC (“Noble™) — 51 hotel properties
»  Select Hotel Group, LLC (“Hyatt Management”) — 1@tél properties

»  Affiliates of Marriott, including Courtyard Managemt Corporation (“Courtyard Management”), SpringiSiMC Corporation
(“SpringHill Management”) and Residence Inn by Mattr(“Residence Inn Management”) — six hotel pndjgs

*  White Lodging Services Corporation (“White Lodging~ four hotel properties
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»  Kana Hotels, Inc. (“Kana Hotels”) — three hotel pecties
e InterMountain Management, LLC (“InterMountain”) aitd affiliate, Pillar Hotels and Resorts, LP (1Bil') — three hotel properties

»  Affiliates of IHG including IHG Management (MaryldhLLC (“IHG Management”) and Intercontinental Ho@&roup
Resources, Inc. (“Intercontinental Management”)twe hotel properties

e HP Hotels Management Company, Inc. (“HP Hotels"ywe hotel properties

* OTO Development, LLC (“OTO Management”) — two hgpebperties

»  Tsunami Hotel Management LLC (“Tsunami Hotel Manmaget”) — two hotel properties

*  Lodging Dynamics Hospitality Group (“Lodging Dynasal) — one hotel property

Our typical hotel management agreement requireés pay a base fee to our hotel manager calcul&edp@rcentage of hotel

revenues. In addition, our hotel management ageatygenerally provide that the hotel manager eam &n incentive fee for revenue or
EBITDA over certain thresholds. Our TRS lesseeg employ other hotel managers in the future. Weeehand will have, no ownership or
economic interest in any of the hotel managememipamies engaged by our TRS lessees.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

We are involved from time to time in litigation sing in the ordinary course of business, howeverare not currently aware of
any actions against us that we believe would neteradversely affect our business, financial ctindior results of operations.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.
PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Egqity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchaes of Equity Securities.
Market Information
Our common stock began trading on the NYSE on Faeiprd, 2011 under the symbol “INN.” Prior to thiate, there was no
public trading market for our common stock. The faported sale price for common stock as repastethe NYSE on March 20, 2014 was

$9.06 per share. The following table sets forthtiflgh and low sales price per share of our comstack per quarter reported on the NYSE,
and the distributions declared on our common stockach of the quarters indicated.

Distribution Declared

2013 High Low Commpoehr Share
Fourth Quarter $ 9.3¢ $ 8.6( $ 0.112¢
Third Quarter $ 10.3: $ 9.1C $ 0.112¢
Second Quarter $ 10.4¢ % 9.1 $ 0.112¢
First Quarter $ 1047 % 9.0z $ 0.112¢
Distribution Declared
Per
2012 High Low Common Share
Fourth Quarter $ 9.5 § 8.0z $ 0.112¢
Third Quarter $ 8.9¢ $ 76 $ 0.112¢
Second Quarter $ 8.6 $ 74 3 0.112¢
First Quarter $ 10.1¢ % 7.4C % 0.112¢
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Shareholder Information

As of March 20, 2014, our common stock was heloeobrd by 423 holders and there were 85,528,56/&sltd our common stock
outstanding.

Distribution Information

As a REIT, we must distribute annually to our stomklers an amount at least equal to 90% of its R&X&@ble income, determined
without regard to the deduction for dividends paidl excluding any net capital gain. We will be sgbfo income tax on our taxable income
that is not distributed and to an excise tax toetktent that certain percentages of our taxablenmcare not distributed by specified dates. Our
cash available for distribution may be less thanaimount required to meet the distribution requénets for REITs under the Code, and we
be required to borrow money, sell assets or isapéal stock to satisfy the distribution requirersen

The timing and frequency of distributions will betlorized by our board of directors, in its solsctetion, and declared by us based
upon a variety of factors deemed relevant by itsadors, including financial condition, restrict®ander applicable law and loan agreements,
capital requirements and the REIT requirementd®iGode. Summit REIT’s ability to make distribuonill generally depend on receipt of
distributions from Summit OP, which depends prifyaupon lease payments from our TRS lessees wigheat to our hotels.

We are generally restricted from declaring or pgyany distributions, or setting aside any fundstiierpayment of distributions, on
our common stock unless full cumulative distriboi@n our preferred stock have been declared dimer giaid or set aside for payment in full
for all past distribution periods.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

The following table provides information as of Ded®er 31, 2013 with respect to our securities thay tre issued under existing
equity compensation plans:

Number of Securities
Remaining Available

Number of Securities to Weighted Average for Future Issuance
be Issued Upon Exercise Exercise Price of Under Equity
Plan Category of Outstanding Options Outstanding Options Compensation Plans (1
Equity Compensation Plans Approved by Summit REIT
Stockholders (2 893,000 $ 9.7t 885,45
Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by SummitlRE
Stockholder: — — —
Total 893,000 g 9.7t 885,45

(1) Excludes securities reflected in the columtitiex “Number of Securities to be Issued Upon Eis& of Outstanding Options.”
(2) Consists of our 2011 Equity Incentive Plan, whidmsvapproved by our board of directors and our stolekholder prior to completion of
our IPO.

Share Performance Graph

The following graph compares the yearly changeuinaumulative total shareholder return on our comrsigares for the period
beginning February 8, 2011 and ended December®3R, 2vith the semi-annual changes in the Standadd®@or’'s 500 Stock Index (“S&P
500 Index™), and the SNL US REIT Hotel Index foetbame period, assuming a base share price ofGRL{i.our common stock, the S&P
500 Index and the SNL US REIT Hotel Index for conapiae purposes. The SNL US REIT Hotel Index imposed of publicly traded REITs
which focus on investments in hotel propertiestall'shareholder return equals appreciation in spoide plus dividends paid and assumes the
all dividends are reinvested. The performancetgiramot indicative of future investment performandVe do not make or endorse any
predictions as to future share price performance.

Period Ended

Index 02/08/11 06/30/11 12/31/11 06/30/12 12/31/12 06/30/13 12/31/13

Summit Hotel Properties, In 100.0( 117.0( 100.0¢ 91.0( 106.1¢ 108.0¢ 105.4¢
S&P 500 100.0( 100.5( 96.7¢ 105.97 112.2¢ 127.8( 148.6¢
SNL US REIT Hote 100.0( 89.67 79.5] 89.6¢ 89.6¢ 99.5: 113.3(
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Total Return Performance
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Securities Sold

There were no unregistered sales of our equityrgesuduring the years ended December 31, 2013@muegmber 31, 2012. There
were no unregistered sales of our equity secudiesg the year ended December 31, 2011 otherdkameviously reported in our Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on Februa8y 2011 relating to the concurrent private placenaadl the formation transactions.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The following information should be read in conjtiog with “Managemens Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditionsl
Results of Operatio” and our audited consolidated financial statemeatsl related notes thereto, appearing elsewhethigiForm 10-K.

Summit
Hotel
Properties,
Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. LLC Combined Summit Hotel Properties, LLC
2/14/11- 1/1/11-
(in thousands, except per share 2013 2012 12/31/11 2/13/11 2011 2010 2009
STATEMENT OF

OPERATIONS DATA
REVENUES

Room revenu 283,27¢ $ 154,60 $ 102,200 $ 10,62( $ 112,72t $ 99,05¢ $ 86,19

Other hotel operations reven 15,67¢ 7,10C 4,28( 51¢ 4,79¢ 4,32 2,39¢
Total revenue 298,95¢ 161,70( 106,38t 11,13¢ 117,52 103,38: 88,58¢
EXPENSES
Hotel operating expense

Rooms 80,39: 45,13( 30,21¢ 3,67¢ 33,89( 29,91¢ 26,11¢

Other direct 39,81¢ 21,28¢ 15,47¢ 2,28¢ 17,76¢ 15,60¢ 13,41¢

Other indirect 77,39. 43,371 27,81¢ 3,59¢ 31,41 27,31: 23,79¢

Other 744 651 47¢ 44 522 36C 48¢
Total hotel operating expens 198,34. 110,44. 73,98t¢ 9,60¢ 83,59: 73,19¢ 63,82:

Depreciation and amortizatic 51,18¢ 30,64¢ 21,64¢ 2,651 24,29 21,75 18,44(

Corporate general and

administrative
Salaries and other

compensatiol 8,21¢ 6,03¢ 3,121 — 3,121 — —
Other 4,711 3,53¢ 3,44( — 3,44( — —

Hotel property acquisition cos 1,88¢ 3,05( 254 — 254 367 1,38¢

Loss on impairment of asse 1,36¢ 66C — — — 6,47¢€ 7,50¢
Total expense 265,71( 154,37( 102,44¢ 12,25¢ 114,70: 101,79: 91,157
Income (loss) from operatiol 33,24¢ 7,33( 3,93¢ (1,11¢) 2,82: 1,591 (2,577
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE

Interest income 83 35 Q) 2 1 6 25

Other income (expens (343) 731 — — — — —

Interest expens (20,137) (14,909 (9,999 (3,435 (13,429 (21,57Y) (13,800

Debt transaction cos (1,69%) (661) — — — —

Gain (loss) on disposal of ass 363 (199 (36) — (36) (43) 1,29¢

Gain (loss) on derivative

financial instrument 2 (2) — — — — —
Total other income (expens (21,729 (15,00%) (10,030 (3,439 (13,467 (21,617 (12,477
Income (loss) from continuing

operations before income t 11,51¢ (7,67%) (6,097) (4,549 (10,640 (20,02) (15,049
Income tax (expense) bene (4,899 72¢ 2,25¢ (550 1,70¢ (195) —
Income (loss) from continuing

operations 6,62F (6,947) (3,839 (5,099 (8,93)) (20,21¢) (15,04
Income (loss) from discontinued

operations (728) 4,671 (345) (1,109 (1,45%) (704) (1,266)
Net income (loss 5,89 (2,270 (4,177) (6,207) (10,389 (20,920 (16,3149
Net income (loss) fror

noncontrolling interest ir

Operating partnershi (297) (1,199 (1,240 — (1,240 — —

Joint venture 31€ — — — — — —
Net income (loss) attributable

Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. /

Predecessc 5,87¢ (1,07¢€) (2,93%) (6,207) (9,149 (20,920 (16,319
Preferred dividend (14,590 (4,62%) (417) — (4117) — —
Net income (loss) attributable

common shareholders / memb (8715 $ (5701 $ (3,349 $  (6,20) $ (95559 $ (20,920 $ (16,319
WEIGHTED AVERAGE

COMMON SHARES

OUTSTANDING

Basic 70,32; 33,71 27,27¢

Diluted 70,737 33,84¢ 27,27¢

EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic and diluted net income (los




per share from
Continuing operation
Discontinued operatior

Basic and diluted net income (los
per share

DIVIDENDS PER SHARE

BALANCE SHEET DATA (at
period end)

TOTAL ASSETS

DEBT

EQUITY

$ (01D $ (020 $  (0.19)

(0.01) 0.11 (0.01)
$ (01 $ (017 $  (0.19
$ 0.4t $ 0.4t $ 0.2¢
$ 1294470 $ 810,78! $ 554,00
$ 43558 $ 31261 $ 217,10
$ 82237t $ 47353 $ 319,44

29

n/e
n/e
n/e

$ 554,00
$ 217,10«
$ 319,44

$ 493,00¢
$ 420,43 $ 426,18

$

59,84

$ 518,24t

$

81,29¢




Table of Contents
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analis of Financial Condition and Results of Operatios.
Overview

We are a self-managed hotel investment companythgtorganized in June 2010. We focus on acquairtowning premium-
branded, select-service hotels in the upscale ppdrunidscale segments of the U.S. lodging induasythese segments are currently defined
by STR.

We had no business activities prior to completibthe IPO and the related formation transaction§eloruary 14, 2011. As a res
of the formation transactions, we acquired solearsiip of the 65 hotels in our predecessor’s plotftn addition, we assumed the
indebtedness of our predecessor and its subsisli®igr predecessor was considered the acquiracfmunting purposes and its financial
statements became our financial statements upopletion of the formation transactions.

From the completion of our IPO through December28i,3, we acquired 43 hotel properties with a totd, 948 guestrooms for
purchase prices aggregating $791.0 million. In @aldli pursuant to our strategy to continually eedéuour hotel properties, since our IPO and
through December 31, 2013, we sold 20 hotel pragsewith a total of 1,564 guestrooms. At Decemlier2813, our portfolio consisted of 88
hotel properties with a total of 10,908 guestrodocated in 22 states.

Substantially all of our assets are held by, ahdfalur operations are conducted through, Sumr®it Through a wholly owned
subsidiary, we are the sole general partner of Su@m. At December 31, 2013, we owned, directly amtirectly, 99% of Summit OP’s
issued and outstanding Common Units, and all of 8itf®P’s issued and outstanding Series A, Series B andsSerPreferred Units. Pursui
to the Summit OP partnership agreement, we halieefdlusive and complete responsibility and disorein the management and control of
Summit OP, including the ability to cause Summit©Rnter into certain major transactions includieguisitions, dispositions and
refinancings, and to make distributions to partreerd to cause changes in Summit OP’s businesstastiv

Industry Trends and Outlook

Room-night demand in the U.S. lodging industryeseyally correlated to macroeconomic trends. Kéyeds of demand include
growth in GDP, corporate profits, capital investtisesmnd employment. Following periods of recessienpvery of room-night demand for
lodging historically has lagged improvements inélerall economy. However, in the economic recovsginning in early 2010, room-night
demand led improvements in the overall economy.

In “PwC Hospitality Directions,” Pricewaterhouse@ewos, LLP projects U.S. RevPAR growth increaseit¥} for upscale hotels
and upper midscale hotels of 6.1% and 5.1%, resspdct Although we expect that our hotel propertiéB realize meaningful RevPAR gains
as the economy and lodging industry continue taawg, the risk exists that global and domestic eatin conditions may cause the economic
recovery to stall, which likely would adverselyedt our growth expectations.

While we are guardedly optimistic about macro-eceoitoconditions and their effect on demand for ouegirooms, we feel
relatively confident that our near-term resultd wdt be adversely affected by increased lodgimgpbuin our markets. Growth in lodging
supply typically lags growth in roomight demand. Key drivers of lodging supply inclute availability and cost of capital, constructmosts,
franchise availability, local real estate markatditions, and availability and pricing of existipgoperties. As a result of scarcity of financing,
severe recession and declining operating fundarsemharing 2008 and 2009, many planned hotel ptgmievelopments were cancelled or
postponed. Due to economic uncertainty, we belibgesffect of the severe recession will be prolahgempared with prior recessions, which
could limit lodging supply growth. According to Lgithg Econometrics of Portsmouth, New Hampshire, atidg their 2013 year-end United
States Construction Pipeline Trend Report, appratety 634 new U.S. hotel properties with 71,192sgre®mms will open in 2014 and 770
hotel properties with 85,103 guestrooms will ope2015. This compares to 5,883 new hotels with58bguestrooms that opened during
2008.

If the general economy does not continue its regofae any number of reasons, including, among ithan economic slowdown
and other events outside our control, such asrtemcor significantly increased gasoline pricesigimg industry fundamentals may not impr:
as expected. In the past, similar events have adleaffected the lodging industry and if thesenéseecur, they may adversely affect the
lodging industry in the future.
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Operating Performance Metrics

We use a variety of operating performance indicasord other information to evaluate the financadition and operating
performance of our business. These key indicatmiside financial information that is prepared ic@clance with Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) as well as otherdimncial information that is not prepared in accomawith GAAP. In addition, we use other
information that may not be financial in natureliding statistical information and comparativead&e use this information to measure the
performance of individual hotel properties, groopsotel properties and/or our business as a whidkeperiodically compare historical
information to our internal budgets as well as stdgrwide information. These key indicators include

e Occupancy— Occupancy represents the total number of guessarccupied divided by the total number of guesitne available.
¢ Average Daily Rate (ADR)— ADR represents total room revenues divided bytdte number of guestrooms occupied.
* Revenue Per Available Room (RevPAR — RevPAR is the product of ADR and Occupancy.

Occupancy, ADR and RevPAR are commonly used messuithin the hotel industry to evaluate operatiegfprmance. RevPAR
is an important statistic for monitoring operatpegrformance at the individual hotel property leaetl across our business as a whole. We
evaluate individual hotel RevPAR performance orabsolute basis with comparisons to budget and pedpds, as well as on a company-
wide and regional basis. ADR and RevPAR includeg oabm revenue. Room revenue depends on demamae@sured by occupancy), prici
(as measured by ADR), and our available supplyotélirooms. Our ADR, occupancy and RevPAR perforceanay be affected by
macroeconomic factors such as regional and locplament growth, personal income and corporateiegsnoffice vacancy rates and
business relocation decisions, airport and otheiness and leisure travel, new hotel property cangbn, and the pricing strategies of
competitors. In addition, our ADR, occupancy and/lR&R performance is dependent on the continuedesisonf our franchisors and brands.
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Hotel Property Portfolio Activity

Acquisitions

We acquired 19 hotel properties in each of 2013204®. A summary of these acquisitions follows lahsl in thousands):

Date Gues- Purchase
Acquired Franchise/Brand Location rooms Price Management Company
2013
Chicago (Hoffmar
January 2: Hyatt Place Estates), IL 12¢ $ 9,23C Hyatt Managemer
January 2: Hyatt Place Orlando (Convention), F 14¢ 12,25. Hyatt Managemer
January 2: Hyatt Place Orlando (Universal), Fl 151 11,84: Hyatt Managemer
IHG / Holiday Inn Intercontinental
February 11 Express & Suite San Francisco, C 252 60,50C Managemen
SpringHill Suites by
March 11 Marriott New Orleans, LA 20¢ 33,09t  SpringHill Managemer
New Orleans (Convention
March 11 Courtyard by Marriot LA 202 30,827 Courtyard Managemel
New Orleans (Frenc
March 11 Courtyard by Marriot Quarter), LA 14C 25,68: Courtyard Managemel
March 11 Courtyard by Marriot New Orleans (Metairie), L/ 152 23,53¢ Courtyard Managemel
Residence Inn
March 11 Residence Inn by Marrio New Orleans (Metairie), L/ 12C 19,89( Managemen
April 30 Hilton Garden Inr Greenville, SC 12C 15,25( Kana Hotels
IHG / Holiday Inn Minneapolis (Minnetonka
May 21 Express & Suite MN 93 6,90( Interstate
Minneapolis (Eden Prairie)
May 21 Hilton Garden Inr MN 97 10,20( Interstate
Fairfield Inn & Suites by
May 23 Marriott Louisville, KY 13t 25,02 White Lodging
SpringHill Suites by
May 23 Marriott Louisville, KY 19¢ 39,13¢  White Lodging
May 23 Courtyard by Marriot Indianapolis, IN 297 58,63« White Lodging
SpringHill Suites by
May 23 Marriott Indianapolis, IN 15€ 30,20t  White Lodging
Hilton / Hampton Inn & Tsunami Hote
October 1 Suites Ventura (Camarillo), C/ 11t 15,75( Managemen
Hilton / Hampton Inn & Tsunami Hotel
October € Suites San Diego (Poway), C. 10¢ 15,15( Managemen
December 3: Hyatt Place Minneapolis, MN 21% 32,50¢ Hyatt Managemer
Total 2013 19 hotel properties 303 $ 475,61!
2012
January 1: Courtyard by Marriot Atlanta, GA 15C $ 28,90( Courtyard Manageme!
Birmingham (Liberty Park)
February 2¢ Hilton Garden Inr AL 13C 11,50C HP Hotels
Birmingham (Lakeshore
February 2¢ Hilton Garden Inr AL 95 8,62t HP Hotels
May 16 Courtyard by Marriot Dallas (Arlington), TX 10z 15,00C InterMountain
May 16 Hilton Garden Inr Nashville (Smyrna), T! 112 11,50C Kana Hotels
Hilton / Hampton Inn &
June 21 Suites Nashville (Smyrna), T! 83 8,00C Kana Hotels
July 2 Residence Inn by Marrio Dallas (Arlington), TX 96 15,50C InterMountain
October £ Hyatt Place Dallas (Arlington), TX 127 9,05t Hyatt Managemer
October £ Hyatt Place Denver (Lone Tree), Ct 127 10,53( Hyatt Managemer
October £ Hyatt Place Denver (Englewood), Ct 12¢ 11,51¢ Hyatt Managemer
October £ Hyatt House Denver (Englewood), Ct 13t 13,48( Hyatt Managemer
Baltimore (Owings Mills),
October £ Hyatt Place MD 122 10,23t Hyatt Managemer
October £ Hyatt Place Chicago (Lombard), Il 151 17,02t Hyatt Managemer
October £ Hyatt Place Phoenix, AZ 127 5,02C Hyatt Managemer
October £ Hyatt Place Scottsdale, Az 127 10,53( Hyatt Managemer
October 23 Hilton Garden Inr Fort Worth, TX 98 7,20C FCH Hospitality, Inc
December 2: Residence Inn by Marrio Salt Lake City, UT 17¢ 19,95¢ Lodging Dynamic:
Long Island (Garden City),
December 2 Hyatt Place NY 122 31,00 OTO Managemer
Hilton / Hampton Inn &
December 2° Suites Tampa (Ybor City), FL 13¢€ 20,84 OTO Managemer
Total 2012 19 hotel properties 2,34t $ 265,41t
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2013 Acquisitions

On January 22, 2013, we purchased from affiliafdsyatt Hotels Corporation (“Hyatt”), a portfolidf three hotel properties. We
completed renovations on two of these hotel prageend expect to spend $0.8 million for renovatiahthe remaining property for a total ¢
of $88,800 per key. In addition, we acquired a lpattel in Orlando, FL valued at $2.8 million tietlassified as land held for development.
We funded this acquisition with a portion of thegeeds from our common stock offering completedamuary 14, 2013 (the “January 2013
Stock Offering”).

On February 11, 2013, through a joint venture \&ithaffiliate of IHG, we purchased a Holiday Inn Eegs & Suites in San
Francisco, CA for $240,100 per key. We expect engigb4.3 million for renovations at this property & total cost of $257,100 per key. The
joint venture assumed a $23.4 million term loam gsurt of the acquisition. We contributed $34.6iom| including $2.8 million in renovatio
reserves, to the joint venture for an 80% coninglinterest. We funded our contribution to the fjai@nture with a portion of the proceeds from
our January 2013 Stock Offering.

On March 11, 2013, we purchased a portfolio of fiarriott hotel properties. We completed renovadion two of these hotel
properties and expect to spend $0.8 million fookations at the remaining properties for a totat o $169,300 per key. We funded this
acquisition with proceeds from term borrowings sedwy previously acquired hotel properties anddwings under our senior secured
revolving credit facility.

On April 30, 2013, we purchased a Hilton Gardeniim@reenville, SC for $127,100 per key. We exgegierform very minor
renovations on this hotel property. We funded #uguisition with borrowings under our senior seduevolving credit facility.

On May 21, 2013, we purchased a Holiday Inn Exp&eSsiites in Minneapolis (Minnetonka), MN for $78@2per key. We expe
to spend $1.7 million for renovations at this pnapéor a total cost of $92,500 per key. We fundeid acquisition through assumption of a ¢
million term loan and borrowings under our senigciged revolving credit facility.

On May 21, 2013, we also purchased a Hilton Galderin Minneapolis (Eden Prairie), MN for $105,20€r key. We expect to
spend $2.7 million for renovations at this propéadiya total cost of $132,700 per key. We fundad #tquisition through assumption of a $6.4
million term loan and borrowings under our senigeiged revolving credit facility.

On May 23, 2013, we purchased a portfolio of fowarhNbtt hotel properties. We expect to spend $3lliom for renovations at
these properties for a total cost of $198,600 pgr KWe funded this acquisition with proceeds fro9a.0 million senior secured interim loan
and borrowings under our senior secured revolviegit facility.

On October 1, 2013, we purchased a Hampton Innig&$in Ventura (Camarillo), CA for $137,000 peyk&/e expect to spend
$1.4 million for renovations at this property fotcaial cost of $149,100 per key. We funded thisugition with a portion of the proceeds from
our common stock offering completed on SeptembelQ®3 (the “September 2013 Stock Offering”).

On October 8, 2013, we purchased a Hampton Inni&Sin San Diego (Poway), CA for $140,300 per k& expect to spend
$0.3 million for renovations at this property fotcaial cost of $143,000 per key. We funded thisugition with a portion of the proceeds from
our September 2013 Stock Offering.

On December 31, 2013, we purchased a Hyatt Plagknneapolis, MN for $152,600 per key. We had poeely invested in the
development of this hotel property in the form dirst mortgage loan in the amount of $20.3 millidme purchase price consideration for this
property included the first mortgage loan and eglaccrued interest and $12.0 million in cash. Weléd the cash portion of this acquisition
with a portion of the proceeds from our Septemi@r32Stock Offering.

2012 Acquisitions

On January 12, 2012, we purchased 90% of the owipeirgerests in a Courtyard by Marriott in Atlan@A for $190,000 per
key. Including renovations, our total cost per keas $191,300. Upon expiration of tax credits reldtethe hotel property in 2016, we are
obligated to purchase the remaining ownership €4 $nillion, which has been accrued as a liabdityl is included in the purchase price of
$28.9 million. We funded this acquisition througisamption of a $19.0 million term loan and borraygiunder our senior secured revolving
credit facility.

On February 28, 2012, we purchased a Hilton Galgiein Birmingham (Liberty Park), AL for $88,500 pieey. Including
renovations, our total cost per key was $90,200 fuMded this acquisition with a $6.5 million teroah and borrowings under our senior
secured revolving credit facility.

On February 28, 2012, we also purchased a Hiltal&@elnn in Birmingham (Lakeshore), AL for $90,80¢€r key. Including
renovations, our total cost per key was $107,80@ funded the purchase price with a $5.6 milliamtéoan and borrowings under our senior
secured revolving credit facility.
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On May 16, 2012, we purchased a Courtyard by MtiindDallas (Arlington), TX for $145,600 per keyle performed very minor
renovations at this hotel. We funded this acquisitivith borrowings under our senior secured revig\gredit facility.

On May 16, 2012, we also purchased a Hilton Gatderin Nashville (Smyrna), TN for $102,700 per ké&ycluding renovations,
our total cost per key was $106,500. We fundedabiguisition through assumption of an $8.7 millierm loan and borrowings under our
senior secured revolving credit facility.

On June 21, 2012, we purchased a Hampton Inn &SuitNashville (Smyrna), TN for $96,400 per kexcliding renovations,
our total cost per key was $101,900. We fundedabdguisition through assumption of a $5.4 milliemt loan and borrowings under our sei
secured revolving credit facility.

On July 2, 2012, we purchased a Residence Inn lilaP@Arlington), TX for $161,500 per key. We penfeed very minor
renovations at this property. We funded this adtjoiswith borrowings under our senior secured fewg credit facility.

On October 5, 2012, we purchased from affiliateslydtt, a portfolio of eight hotel properties. Wpect to spend $14.4 million
for renovations at these properties for a totat 06$97,600 per key. We funded this acquisitiothvgroceeds from our first followwn commot
stock offering completed on October 3, 2012. Thmvations will be funded with borrowings on our iserunsecured credit facility.

On October 23, 2012, we purchased a Hilton Garderin Fort Worth, TX for $73,500 per key. Includirgnovations, our total
cost per key was $104,900. We funded this acooisitiith proceeds from our common stock offering pteted on October 3, 2012,

On December 21, 2012, we purchased a ResidendsyINarriott in Salt Lake City, UT for $112,100 pery. We expect to spend
$6.5 million for renovations at this property fotcaal cost of $149,100 per key. We funded thisugition through assumption of a $14.1
million term loan and the proceeds from the salewfCourtyard by Marriott in Missoula, MN compldten December 11, 2012.

On December 27, 2012, we purchased a Hyatt Plalceng Island (Garden City), NY for $254,100 per kéye expect to perform
very minor renovations at this property. We funtiad acquisition with borrowings under our seréecured revolving credit facility.

On December 27, 2012, we also purchased a Hampio& Buites in Tampa (Ybor City), FL for $150,706rkey. We expect to
spend $1.7 million for renovations at this propéadiya total cost of $163,200 per key. We fundad #tquisition with borrowings under our
senior secured revolving credit facility.

Dispositions

Pursuant to our strategy to continually evaluatehmtel properties and land held for developmemtsaid 15 hotel properties and
five parcels of land held for development in 20108 &ive hotel properties and three parcels of laeld for development in 2012. When a
property is identified as being held for sale, welassify the property on our consolidated balatesets, cease depreciation, evaluate for
potential impairment and, in the case of a hotepprty, report historical and future results of igpiens in discontinued operations. We
recognize impairment charges on hotel propertieBscontinued operations and on land held for dgyaknt in continuing operations. In 20
we recognized impairment charges of $7.7 milliorhotel properties and $1.4 million on land heldderelopment. In 2012, we recognized
impairment charges of $2.3 million on hotel projgsriand $0.7 million related to land held for depshent.

2013 Dispositions

On January 15, 2013, we sold the Americlnn Hot8uites in Golden, CO for $2.6 million.

On February 15, 2013, we sold the Hampton Inn inM@e, CO for $5.5 million and recognized a gairtlom sale of $1.7 million.

On February 27, 2013, we sold a parcel of landgaksonville, FL for $1.9 million.

On May 1, 2013, we sold the Holiday Inn and Holidialy Express in Boise, ID for $12.6 million and Movember 12, 2013, we
sold the Hampton Inn, Fairfield Inn and a parcebofd in Boise, ID for $8.1 million. We recognizadjain of $1.3 million on the sale of our
Boise assets.

On May 30, 2013, we sold the Courtyard by Marrietilemphis, TN for $4.2 million.

On August 8, 2013, we sold the SpringHill Suitesithia Springs, GA for $2.4 million.
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On August 21, 2013, we sold a parcel of land inddiga, MT for $0.8 million.
On August 29, 2013, we sold the Fairfield Inn imligville, TX for $2.0 million and recognized a loss the sale of $0.8 million.
On September 30, 2013, we sold the Fairfield Inbakewood, CO for $2.8 million.

On October 30, 2013, we sold the Fairfield Inn mg6ria, KS for $1.7 million and on December 19, 204e sold the Holiday In
Express in Emporia, KS for $1.8 million. We prowvideeller financing in the form of mortgage loanstlvese sales totaling $2.4 million. These
mortgage loans mature in the first quarter of 2014.

On November 1, 2013, we sold the SpringHill Suitekittle Rock, AR for $4.5 million and recognizedgain on the sale of $0.9
million.

On November 1, 2013, we sold a parcel of land iR&o, TX for $2.4 million.
On November 8, 2013, we sold the Fairfield Inn Angericinn Hotel & Suites in Salina, KS for $3.0 hah.
On November 18, 2013, we sold a parcel of landangton, TX for $2.5 million.

Proceeds from these sales were used to pay offdelihand pay down our senior secured revolvinditfacility or our senior
unsecured credit facility.

2012 Dispositions
On May 16, 2012, we sold the Hampton Inn, Holidary Express and Americlnn in Twin Falls, ID for $a.@nillion.
On August 15, 2012, we sold the Americlnn Hotel §it8s in Missoula, MT for $1.9 million.
On December 11, 2012, we sold the Courtyard by igtain Missoula, MT for $7.7 million.

Other Hotel Property Investment Activities

In 2012, we entered into an agreement with aniailof Hyatt to fund $20.3 million in the form affirst mortgage loan on a hotel
property located in downtown Minneapolis, MN. TH0$ million represented a portion of the totaldsijion cost and renovation costs
expected to be incurred to convert the property lttyatt Place hotel. At December 31, 2012, ourstiwent in this loan was $10.3 million and
was classified as investment in hotel propertiedeunlevelopment in our consolidated balance sHeethe fourth quarter of 2013, we
purchased the hotel property for $32.6 million antered into a management agreement with a Hyfdiaif. The $20.3 million outstanding
principal balance of the loan and all outstandintgriest were part of the purchase price consiaderati acquisition.

Hotel Revenues and Operating Expenses

Our revenues are derived from hotel operationscangist of room revenue and other hotel operatiemsnue. As a result of our
focus on select-service hotels in the upscale @perumidscale segments of the U.S. lodging industrigstantially all of our revenues are
related to the sales of hotel rooms. Our otherllogterations revenue consists of ancillary revemaksged to food and beverage sales, meetin
rooms and other guest services provided at out potperties.

Our hotel operating expenses consist primarilyxpieases incurred in the day-dey operation of our hotel properties. Many of
expenses are fixed, such as essential hotel staffestate taxes, insurance, depreciation andiceypes of franchise fees, and these expense
do not decrease even if the revenues at our haipkpties decrease. Our hotel operating expensesist@f room expenses (wages, payroll
taxes and benefits, linens, cleaning and guestsagnplies, and complimentary breakfast), other tiegpenses (office supplies, utilities,
telephone, advertising and bad debts), other ioteepenses (real and personal property taxesanse, travel agent and credit card
commissions, hotel management fees, and franchés),fand other expenses (ground rent and otines i miscellaneous expense).

Results of Operations

The comparisons that follow should be reviewedadnjgnction with the consolidated financial statetséncluded elsewhere in tl
Form 10-K. As noted above, in 2013, we sold the Achen Hotel & Suites in Golden, CO; the Hamptom in Denver, CO; the Holiday Inn,
Holiday Inn Express, Hampton Inn, and Fairfield Baisuites in Boise, ID; the Courtyard by MarrigitMemphis, TN; the SpringHill Suites
Lithia Springs, GA; the Fairfield Inn in LewisvilldX; the Fairfield Inn in Lakewood, CO; the Fadffil Inn and Holiday Inn Express in
Emporia, KS; the SpringHill Suites in Little RockR; and the Fairfield Inn and
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Americlnn Hotel & Suites in Salina, KS. In 2012, s@d the Hampton Inn, Holiday Inn Express and Agoten in Twin Falls, ID and the
Americlnn Hotel & Suites and Courtyard by MarristtMissoula, MT. In addition, at December 31, 20tt® Hampton Inn, Americinn Hotel
Suites and Aspen Hotel & Suites in Fort Smith, A&evclassified as held for sale. Accordingly, wasslfied all of these hotel properties as
discontinued operations and their operating resuitsnot included in the discussion below.

Comparison of 2013 to 2012

The following table contains key operating metfimsour total portfolio and our same-store porthdior 2013 compared with 2012
(dollars in thousands, except ADR and RevPAR):

2013 2012 Percentage Changt
Total Same-Store Total Same-Store Same-Store
Portfolio Portfolio Portfolio Portfolio Total Portfolio Portfolio
(85 hotels) (47 hotels) (66 hotels) (47 hotels) (85/66 hotels) (47 hotels)
Total revenue $ 298,95¢ $ 146,07¢ $ 161,70( $ 136,77! 84.% 6.8%
Hotel operating expens $ 198,34: $ 99,32¢ $ 110,44. $ 93,85¢ 79.€% 5.8%
Occupancy 73.41% 72.32% 70.92% 70.92% 2.4% 1.4%
ADR $ 110.37 $ 102.0: $ 98.5. % 97.2¢ 12.(% 4.9%
RevPAR $ 81.0: $ 73.7¢ % 69.8¢ $ 68.9¢ 16.(% 7.C%

The total portfolio information above includes raues and expenses from the 19 hotels we acquir2@lid (the “2013 Acquired
Hotels”) and the 19 hotel properties we acquired(f?2 (the “2012 Acquired Hotels”) from the dateacfjuisition through December 31, 2013,
and operating information (occupancy, ADR, and ReR}Pfor the period each hotel was owned. Accordintiie information does not reflec
full twelve months of operations in 2013 for thel30Acquired Hotels or a full twelve months of ogenas in 2012 for the 2012 Acquired
Hotels. The combined 2013 Acquired Hotels and 28dQuired Hotels are referred to as the “2013/20tgured Hotels.”

RevenuesTotal revenues increased $137.3 million, or 84.896299.0 million in 2013, compared with $161.iflion in 2012.
The growth was due to a $9.3 million increase meatore revenues and a $128.0 million increasevienues at the 2013/2012 Acquired

Hotels.

The same-store revenue increase of 6.8%, to $1dillidn in 2013 compared with $136.8 million in 2BIwas due to a 140 basis
point increase in occupancy in 2013 compared witt22 and a 4.9% increase in ADR in 2013 compardk 2012. The increases in occupa
and ADR resulted in a 7.0% increase in same-stexdRR to $73.79 in 2013 compared with $68.98 in20hese increases were due to the
improving economy and hotel industry fundamentals$ @novations made at 13 hotel properties in 2012.

Hotel Operating ExpensedHotel operating expenses increased $87.9 miitid2013 compared with 2012. The increase is due in
part to an increase in operating expenses at th&/2012 Acquired Hotels of $82.4 million. In additi the increase in same-store hotel
operating expenses is due to $5.5 million of vdealosts related to the increase in revenue. Exgsesisthe same-store hotels declined as a
percentage of revenue from 68.6% in 2012 to 6802913, due to stability in expenses despite irgingarevenues at the same-store hotel
properties.

The following table summarizes our hotel operagrgenses for our same-store (47 hotels) portfoli®013 and 2012 (dollars in
thousands):

Percentage Percentage of Revenu

2013 2012 Change 2013 2012
Rooms expens $ 39,762 $ 38,31¢ 3.8% 27.2% 28.(%
Other direct expens 19,69¢ 17,757 10.9% 13.5% 13.(%
Other indirect expens 39,28! 37,18 5.6% 26.% 27.2%
Other expens 58¢ 59¢ (1.9% 0.4% 0.4%
Total hotel operating expens $ 9932¢ § 93,385t 5.8% 68.C% 68.€%

Depreciation and AmortizationDepreciation and amortization expense increag6cbdmillion, or 67.0%, to $51.2 million in 2013
compared with 2012, primarily due to renovationsxasting hotel properties and depreciation assediwith the 2013/2012 Acquired
Hotels. The 2013 depreciation and amortization rgpencludes $48.9 million of fixed asset depréemt$1.9 million of financing costs
amortization, and $0.4 million of franchise feesoatization. The 2012 depreciation and amortization
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expense includes $28.0 million of fixed asset deipt®n, $2.3 million of financing costs amortizatj and $0.4 million of franchise fees
amortization.

Corporate General and Administrativ€orporate general and administrative expensesased by $3.4 million, or 35.1%, to
$12.9 million in 2013 compared with 2012. The irawe is primarily due to an increase in equity-basedpensation of $0.9 million, costs
related to the development of corporate functibias did not exist prior to our IPO of $0.9 millicend costs related to the move of our
corporate headquarters from Sioux Falls, SD, taiiap$X of $0.6 million.

Other Income/Expenséur other income/expense increased $6.7 milliod408%, in 2013 compared with 2012. The major
component of other income/expense is interest esqgeand the increase is primarily due to interggénrse on new debt related to our
2013/2012 Acquisition Hotels.

Income Tax Expense/Bene@r total income tax expense (in continuing operetiand discontinued operations) in 2013 of $4.4
million is primarily due to our establishment ofauation allowance related to net operating log9¢©Ls") incurred at our TRSs in 2011,
2012 and 2013. As a result of consecutive losssyewardetermined that it is more likely than not tlve will not be able to recognize our NC
before they expire. Our total income tax benefitddntinuing operations and discontinued opera}ion2012 of $1.3 million was the result of
NOLs at our TRSs. The net operating losses wenagpily the result of the disruption at the sevdradel properties rebranded in 20

Cash FlowsThe increase in net cash provided by operatingitie8 of $37.7 million in 2013 compared with 20E&ulted from a
$8.2 million improvement in earnings, a $18.3 noillincrease in depreciation, primarily relatedht® 2013/2012 Acquisition Hotels, and a {
million increase in cash provided from operatingeas and liabilities. The $234.4 million increas@et cash used in investing activities in 2
compared with 2012 resulted from an increase ieli@bperty acquisitions of $224.7 million and anrease in hotel property improvements
and additions of $23.8 million; partially offset by increase in proceeds from asset dispositio82 00 million. The $226.0 million increase
net cash provided by financing activities in 20b8pared with 2012 resulted from a net increaseebt th 2013 of $89.4 million compared
with an increase in 2012 of $48.3 million. In adatit we received net proceeds of $389.3 milliomfrie issuance of equity in 2013 comparec
with net proceeds of $178.9 million in 2012. Thd2@roceeds related to our January 14 and Septel®b2013 common stock offerings and
our March 20, 2013 preferred stock offering and28&2 proceeds related to our October 3, 2012 camstuxk offering and our December 11,
2012 preferred stock offering. Dividends and disttions paid to members increased $24.5 millioaGh3.

Comparison of 2012 to 2011

Prior to February 14, 2011, the date we completedO, concurrent private placement, and formatiansactions, we had no
operations other than the issuance of 1,000 slofiasmmon stock to our Executive Chairman in cotineawvith our formation and initial
capitalization and activity in connection with O and the formation transactions. As a resudt ftilowing discussion compares our
operating results for the year 2012 with the corabiresults of our operations for the period frorhrary 14, 2011 through December 31,
2011 and our predecessor’s operations for the gpéroon January 1, 2011 through February 13, 2011.

The following table contains key operating metfmsour total portfolio and our same-store portdior 2012 compared with 2011
(dollars in thousands, except ADR and RevPAR):

2012 2011 Percentage Changt
Total Same-Store Total Same-Store Total Same-Store
Portfolio Portfolio Portfolio Portfolio Portfolio Portfolio
(66 hotels) (42 hotels) (47 hotels) (42 hotels) (66/47 hotels’ (42 hotels)
Total revenue: $ 161,700 $ 11993 $ 117,527 $ 107,24 37.€% 11.8%
Hotel operating expens $ 110,44: $ 81,71( $ 83,59: $ 76,501 32.1% 6.8%
Occupancy 70.92% 70.5¢% 66.3t% 65.92% 4.5€% 4.6€%
ADR $ 98.5: $ 96.6t $ 93.0t $ 92.4: 5.% 4.€%
RevPAR $ 69.8¢ $ 68.21 $ 61.7¢8 $ 60.92 13.2% 12.(%

The total portfolio information above includes raues and expenses from the 2012 Acquired Hotelshenfive hotel properties
we acquired in 2011 (the “2011 Acquired Hotelsrr the date of acquisition through December 3122@mhd operating information
(occupancy, ADR, and RevPAR) for the period eadielhwas owned. Accordingly, the information does mdlect a full twelve months of
operations in 2012 for the 2012 Acquired Hotels dull twelve months of operations in 2011 for 20dquired Hotels. The combined 2012
Acquired Hotels and 2011 Acquired Hotels are reféto as the “2012/2011 Acquired Hotels.”

RevenuesTotal revenues increased $44.2 million, or 37.6%4161.7 million in 2012, compared with $117.3lion in
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2011. The growth was due to a $12.7 million incesiassame-store revenues, and a $31.5 million &serén revenues at the 2012/2011
Acquired Hotels.

The same-store revenue increase of 11.8%, to $1Midli®n in 2012 compared with $107.2 million in 20, was due to a 466 basis
point increase in occupancy 2012 compared with 28td a 4.6% increase in ADR in 2012 compared 20thl. The increases in occupancy
and ADR resulted in an 12.0% increase in same-fePAR to $68.21 in 2012 compared with $60.920h12 These increases were due to
the improving economy and hotel industry fundamlsntanovations made at eight hotel propertie0ihl2 and the stabilization of operations
at the hotels after the successful rebranding agdades that occurred in 2011.

Hotel Operating Expensediotel operating expenses increased $26.9 miilid012 compared with 2011. The increase is due in
part to an increase in operating expenses at th2/2011 Acquired Hotels of $21.7 million. In additi the increase in same-store hotel
operating expenses is due to $5.2 million of vdeaosts related to the increase in revenue. Exgsegisthe same-store hotels declined as a
percentage of revenue from 71.3% in 2011 to 682912, due to stability in expenses despite irgingarevenues at the same-store hotel
properties.

The following table summarizes our hotel operagrgenses for our same-store (42 hotels) portfoli®012 and 2011 (dollars in
thousands):

Percentage Percentage of Revenu

2012 2011 Change 2012 2011
Rooms expens $ 33,24. $ 30,90¢ 7.5% 27.1% 28.6%
Other direct expens 15,42¢ 16,21¢ (4.99% 12.% 15.1%
Other indirect expens 32,65¢ 28,99( 12.€% 27.2% 27.(%
Other expens 384 38¢€ (0.5% 0.2% 0.4%
Total hotel operating expens $ 8171C $ 76,50: 6.8% 68.1% 71.5%

Depreciation and AmortizationDepreciation and amortization expense increase®iillion, or 26.1%, to $30.6 million in 2012
compared with 2011, primarily due to renovationsxasting hotel properties and depreciation assediwith the 2012/2011 Acquisition
Hotels. The 2012 depreciation and amortization egpéncludes $28.0 million of fixed asset deprézigt$2.3 million of financing costs
amortization, and $0.4 million of franchise feesoatization. The 2011depreciation and amortizatigpemse includes $22.5 million of fixed
asset depreciation, $1.3 million of financing castsortization, and $0.5 million of franchise fe@soatization.

Corporate General and Administrativi€orporate general and administrative expensesased by $3.0 million, or 45.9%, to $9.6
million in 2012 compared with 2011. The increasprisarily due to an increase in bonuses of $115anj as there were no bonuses in 2011;
equity-based compensation of $0.7 million; coslateel to the development of corporate functions diginot exist prior to our IPO of $0.3
million; and costs related to the move of our cogp® headquarters from Sioux Falls, SD, to Audtk,of $0.2 million.

Other Income/Expensélhe major component of other income/expense é&ést expense, which increased $1.5 million, o5%].
in 2012 compared with 2011. This increase is duati@yest expense on new debt related to our 2012/2Acquisition Hotels, partially offset
by the repayment of $223.7 million of debt with geeds from our IPO and concurrent private placerme2®11.

Income Tax BenefiOur total income tax benefits (in continuing opinas and discontinued operations) of $1.3 millior2012
and $2.0 million in 2011 were a result of NOLs at ®RSs.

Cash FlowsThe increase in net cash provided by operatingitie8 of $10.6 million in 2012 compared with 20Ekulted from a
$8.1 million improvement in earnings and a $5.1lionlincrease in depreciation, primarily relatedhe 2012/2011 Acquisition Hotels;
partially offset by $3.9 million less cash providiedm operating assets and liabilities. The $148ilfion increase in net cash used in investing
activities in 2012 compared with 2011 resulted framincrease in hotel property acquisitions of $a6@8illion and hotel properties under
development of $10.3 million, partially offset byeduction in hotel property improvements and addit of $4.1 million and an increase in
proceeds from asset dispositions of $25.5 millfme $139.8 million increase in net cash provideditgncing activities in 2012 compared
with 2011 resulted from an increase in debt in 26f.848.3 million compared with a reduction in 20df1$203.3 million. The 2011 reduction
was due to the use of net proceeds from our IPQcandurrent private placement to repay debt. Intenig we received net proceeds of $178.¢
million from the issuance of equity securities B2 compared with net proceeds of $288.7 millioB04 1. The 2012 proceeds related to our
October 3, 2012 common stock offering and our Ddmmmi 1, 2012 preferred stock offering and the 2®bteeds related to our IPO and
concurrent private placement and our October 281 20eferred stock offering. Dividends paid andribsitions to members increased $3.9
million in 2012.
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Discontinued Operations

Pursuant to our strategy to continually evaluatehmtel property portfolio, we periodically evalaaiur hotel properties for
potential sale and redeployment of capital. Whéwotal property is sold or identified as being hieldsale, we report its historical and future
results of operations, including impairment chargesliscontinued operations.

Discontinued operations include the following hgiedperties that have been sold:

*  Hampton Inn, Holiday Inn Express, and AmericinTimin Falls, ID — sold May 2012;
*  Americlnn Hotel & Suites in Missoula, MT — sold Ausgt 2012;

»  Courtyard by Marriott in Missoula, MT — sold Deceent2012;

*  Americlnn Hotel & Suites in Golden, CO — sold Jaryu2013;

*  Hampton Inn in Denver, CO — sold February 2013;

e Holiday Inn and Holiday Inn Express in Boise, IDseld May 2013;

e Courtyard by Marriott in Memphis, TN — sold May Z)1

e SpringHill Suites in Lithia Springs, GA — sold AusflR013;

e Fairfield Inn in Lewisville, TX — sold August 2013;

e Fairfield Inn in Lakewood, CO — sold September 2013

e  Fairfield Inn in Emporia, KS — sold October 2013;

e SpringHill Suites in Little Rock, AR — sold Novemhb2013;

* Fairfield Inn and Americinn Hotel & Suites in SairKS — sold November 2013;
e Hampton Inn and Fairfield Inn & Suites in Boise, 4B sold November 2013; and
e Holiday Inn Express in Emporia, KS — sold Decemb@t 3.

In addition, discontinued operations also incluge following hotel properties that were classiféedheld for sale at December 31,

2013:
*  Americlnn Hotel & Suites and Aspen Hotel & SuitagHort Smith, AR (sold on January 17, 2014); and
e Hampton Inn in Fort Smith, AR (under contract tt)se
A summary of results from our hotel properties udgld in discontinued operations follows (in thowsgn
2013 2012

Revenue: $ 19,45¢ $ 33,19:
Hotel operating expens 14,85¢ 24,70
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,96( 4,22¢
Loss on impairment of asse 7,67¢ 2,30¢
Interest expens 174 85t
(Gain) loss on disposal of ass (3,945 (3,010
Total expense 20,728 29,07:
Income (loss) from discontinued operations befoomine taxe (1,265 4,11¢
Income tax (expense) bene 537 561
Income (loss) from discontinued operatic $ (72¢) $ 4,671

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Short-Term Liquidity Requirements

Our short-term liquidity requirements consist priityaof operating expenses and other expenditurestly associated with our
hotel properties including recurring maintenance eapital expenditures necessary to maintain otel lppoperties in accordance with brand
standards, capital expenditures to improve ourl pptperties, and interest expense and scheduiedipal payments on outstanding
indebtedness. In addition, we have funding requamresifor the cash portion of the purchase prideotél properties under contract, if acquir
and distributions to our shareholders.

We expect to fund these requirements with workiagital, cash provided by operations, and borrowungder our senior
unsecured credit facility. In addition, we may fuhe purchase price of hotel property acquisitiand cost of required capital
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improvements by assuming existing mortgage defujrig securities (including partnership units issbg Summit OP), or incurring other
mortgage debt. Further, we may seek to raise ddpitaugh public or private offerings of our equdy debt securities. However, certain factor:
may have a material adverse effect on our abilitgdcess these capital sources, including our dagrieverage, the value of our
unencumbered hotel properties, borrowing restmationposed by lenders and market conditions. Wiecaiitinue to analyze which sources of
capital are most advantageous to us at any paatipoint in time, but financing may not be considiieavailable to us on terms that are
attractive, or at all. We believe that our workoapital, cash provided by operations, borrowingdeurour senior unsecured credit facility, and
other sources of funds available to us will beisight to meet our ongoing short-term liquidity végments for at least the next 12 months.

At December 31, 2013, we have no debt that matare814. However, we have scheduled principal gelytnents in 2014
totaling $9.2 million. Although we believe we wiilhve the capacity to pay these scheduled prindgiatl payments, or we will be able to fund
them using draws under our senior unsecured dadiity, there can be no assurances that our cfadility will be available to repay such
amortizing debt, as draws under our senior unsdatnedit facility are subject to certain finanaalvenants.

We anticipate making renovations and other non+retgcapital expenditures with respect to our hpteperties pursuant to
property improvement plans required by our franmlsisWe expect 2014 capital expenditures for tlaesigities at hotel properties we own as
of March 20, 2014 to be in the range of $35.0 wrillto $45.0 million. We may also make renovatiomg ather non-recurring capital
expenditures in 2014 at hotel properties we acquitke future.

Long-Term Liquidity Requirements

Our long-term liquidity requirements consist prifhaof the costs of renovations and other non-reéngrcapital expenditures that
need to be made periodically with respect to otielharoperties, maturing debt and scheduled dephpats, and acquisitions of additional
hotel properties. We expect to fund these requirggidarough various sources of capital, includirarking capital, cash provided by
operations, long-term mortgage indebtedness aret bthrrowings, and borrowings under our senior o credit facility. In addition, we
may fund the purchase price of hotel property agitjans by issuing securities (including partnepsiits issued by Summit OP). We may ¢
seek to raise capital through public or privatenffgs of our equity or debt securities. Howevertan factors may have a material adverse
effect on our ability to access these capital sesjrscluding our degree of leverage, the valueuwofunencumbered hotel properties, borrowing
restrictions imposed by lenders and market conubtidVe will continue to analyze which sources qfitzd are most advantageous to us at any
particular point in time, but financing may not ¢@nsistently available to us on terms that araetitre, or at all.

To satisfy the requirements for qualification &RE T, we must meet a hnumber of organizational grerational requirements,
including a requirement that we distribute annuatlyeast 90% of our REIT taxable income to ourshelders, determined without regard to
the deduction for dividends paid and excluding aefcapital gain. Therefore, we will need to raidditional capital to grow our business and
invest in additional hotel properties. However réhis no assurance that we will be able to bornamd$ or raise additional capital on terms
acceptable to us, if at all. We anticipate thattadedincur in the future may include, as does aurant debt, restrictions (including lockbox ¢
cash management provisions) that under certainmistances may limit or prohibit Summit OP and itssidiaries from making distributions
or paying dividends, repaying loans or transferasgets.

Outstanding Indebtedness

At December 31, 2013, we had $360.6 million in mpage loans secured by mortgages on 43 hotel prepeWe also had $75.0
million borrowed on our senior unsecured creditlitgyathat was supported by 32 hotel propertieduded in the credit facility borrowing base
which must remain unencumbered by mortgage delatddiition, we have 13 other hotel properties unetbmred by mortgage debt, including
nine hotel properties (containing 1,254 guestroampgrating under brands owned by Marriott, Hiltowl &lyatt, that are available to be used a
collateral for future loans.

We intend to secure or assume term loan finanaingse our senior unsecured credit facility, togethi¢gh other sources of
financing, to fund future acquisitions. We may sotceed in obtaining new financing on favorablenggror at all, and we cannot predict the
size or terms of future financings. Our failureotatain new financing could adversely affect outligbio grow our business.

We maintain a prudent capital structure and, wthigeratio will vary from time to time, we generaihtend to limit our ratio of
indebtedness to EBITDA to no more than six to éo.purposes of calculating this ratio, we exclpdeferred stock from indebtedness. In
2013, we obtained financing through common andeprefl equity issuances and debt financing haviagggred maturities, and intend to
continue to do so in the future. Our debt includeg] may include in the future, mortgage debt sstby hotel properties and unsecured debt.

At December 31, 2013, we complied with the covesmanider our debt agreements. We do not currentigipate any change in
circumstances that would impair our ability to doné to comply with these covenants.

We believe we will have adequate liquidity to mesfuirements for scheduled maturities. Howevercareprovide no assurances
that we will be able to refinance our indebtedreesi& becomes due and, if refinanced, whether sfaiancing will be available on favorable
terms.
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A summary of our debt at December 31, 2013 foll¢aadlars in thousands):

Interest Rate

December 31, Amortization Amount of
Lender 2013 (1) Period (Years) Maturity Date Collateral Debt
Senior Unsecured Credit Facilit
Deutsche Bank AG New York Bran
$225 Million Revolver n/a n/a Oct 10,2017 nl/a $ —
$75 Million Term Loan 4.15% n/a Oct 10, 2018 n/a
Variable (2) 75,00(
Total Senior Unsecured Credit Facil 75,00(
Mortgage Loans
ING Life Insurance and Annuit 6.10% Fixec 20 March 1, 2032  See“Mortgage Loan” 64,30¢
4.55% Fixec 25 Aug 1, 203¢ See*Mortgage Loar” 33,75¢
KeyBank National Associatio 4.46% Fixec 30 Feb 1, 202: See“Mortgage Loan” 28,96¢
4.52% Fixec 30 April 1, 2023 See“Mortgage Loan” 22,42
4.30% Fixec 30 April 1, 2023 See“Mortgage Loan” 21,767
4.95% Fixec 30 Aug 1, 202< See“Mortgage Loar” 38,49;
Bank of America Commercial 6.41% Fixed 25 Sept 1, 2017  Hilton Garden Inn, Smyrng
Mortgage TN 8,382
Merrill Lynch Mortgage Lending Inc.  6.38% Fixed 30 Aug 1, 2016 Hampton Inn & Suites,
Smyrna, TN 5,24¢
GE Capital Financial Inc. 6.03% Fixed 25 May 1, 2017  Courtyard by Marriott,
Scottsdale, AZ and
SpringHill Suites by
Marriott, Scottsdale, A. 14,57¢
MetaBank 4.25% Fixec 20 Aug 1, 201¢ Hyatt Place, Atlanta, G, 7,34¢
Bank of Cascades 4.66% Fixed 25 Sept 30, 2021 Residence Inn by Marriott,
Portland, OF 11,98¢
Goldman Sachs 5.67% Fixed 25 July 6, 2016  SpringHill Suites by
Marriott and Hampton
Inn & Suites,
Bloomington, MN 14,09(
Compass Bank 4.57% Fixed 20 May 17,2018 Courtyard by Marriott,
Flagstaff, AZ 13,32t
General Electric Capital Corp. 5.46% Fixed 25 April 1, 2017 Hilton Garden Inn,
Birmingham (Lakeshore
5,371
5.46% Fixed 25 April 1, 2017 Hilton Garden Inn,
Birmingham (Liberty
Park), AL 6,29(
4.82% Fixed 20 April 1, 2018 SpringHill Suites by
Marriott, Denver, CC 7,612
5.03% Fixed 25 March 1, 2019 Double Tree, Baton Rouge
LA 10,10¢
AIG 6.11% Fixed 20 Jan 1, 2016 Residence Inn by Marriott,
Salt Lake City, UT 13,51¢
Greenwich Capital Financial 6.20% Fixed 30 Jan 6, 2016 Holiday Inn Express &
Products, Inc Suites, San Francisco, C 23,107
Wells Fargo Bank, National 5.53% Fixed 25 Oct 1, 2015 Holiday Inn Express &



Association Suites, Minneapolis

(Minnetonka), MN 3,652
5.57% Fixed 25 Jan 1, 2016 Hilton Garden Inn,
Minneapolis (Eden
Prairie), MN 6,261
Total Mortgage Loans 360,58
Total Debt $ 435,58

(1) The interest rates at December 31, 2013a@bme effect to our use of interest rate derivegjwvhere applicable.
(2) We entered into an interest rate derivativBx LIBOR, however, the interest rate spreadrddBOR may change based upon our
Leverage Ratio, as defined in the credit facilipcdments.
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Senior Secured Interim Loal

On May 23, 2013, we closed on a $92.0 million Jalgaate senior secured interim loan with KeyBargtidbhal Association
(“KeyBank”) and Regions Bank, which was scheduled to matutdox@ember 23, 2013. This loan was secured by a plefithe equity intere
in the subsidiaries that own the Fairfield Inn &it8s and SpringHill Suites by Marriott in Louis|IKY and the Courtyard and SpringHill
Suites by Marriott in Indianapolis, IN, and wasssalefaulted with our senior secured revolving icfadility.

In the third quarter of 2013, we paid off the sersiecured interim loan using proceeds from a nan leith KeyBank and procee
from our September 19, 2013 common stock offel8epe “Outstanding Indebtedness$ertgage Loans and “Equity Transactions” for
additional details regarding the KeyBank loan aochmon stock offering, respectively.

Senior Unsecured Credit Facilit

At December 31, 2013, we have a $300.0 million@ennsecured credit facility. Deutsche Bank AG Néwvk Branch (“Deutsche
Bank”) is the administrative agent and DeutschekBaecurities Inc. is the sole lead arranger. Theligation of lenders includes Deutsche
Bank, Bank of America, N.A., Royal Bank of Canaay Bank, Regions Bank, Fifth Third Bank, Raymoathé&s Bank, N.A., and U.S. Bank
National Association. Our existing and future sdizsies that own or lease an asset that is incliméte unencumbered asset pool suppol
the facility are required to guaranty this creditifity.

The senior unsecured credit facility is compriséd $225.0 million revolving credit facility (theb225 Million Revolver”) and a
$75.0 million term loan (the “$75 Million Term LognThis credit facility has an accordion featurhieh will allow us to increase the
commitments by an aggregate of $100.0 million an$B25 Million Revolver and the $75 Million Term & prior to October 10, 2017. The
$225 Million Revolver will mature on October 10,720 which can be extended to October 10, 2018 appiion, subject to certain conditions.
The $75 Million Term Loan will mature on October, 2D18.

Outstanding borrowings on this credit facility #ireited to the least of (i) the aggregate committsesf all of the lenders, (ii) the
aggregate value of the unencumbered assets, lessmaplidated unsecured indebtedness, all aslatddupursuant to the terms of the credit
facility documentation, multiplied by 60%, and )iihe principal amount that when drawn under tleglitifacility would result in an unsecured
interest expense, calculated on a pro forma basihé& next consecutive four fiscal quarters atiking such draws into account, equal to 50%
of the net operating income of the unencumbereetsisas adjusted pursuant to the credit facilitudeentation.

On December 27, 2013, we fully drew the $75 Milliberm Loan at a variable interest rate of 4.15% S@ptember 5, 2013, we
entered into an interest rate derivative with aamatl value of $75.0 million that became effectidamuary 2, 2014 and matures on October 1,
2018. This interest rate derivative was designatedsh flow hedge and effectively fixes LIBOR &426. The interest rate spread over LIBOR
may change based upon our Leverage Ratio, as défirthe credit facility documents. The interestron the $75 Million Term Loan was
3.94% at January 2, 2014.

At December 31, 2013, the maximum amount of bomgwiermitted under the senior unsecured credilitiawias $270.7 million,
of which, we had $75.0 million borrowed, $0.2 natiiin standby letters of credit, and $195.5 millamilable to borrow.

At March 20, 2014, 35 of our unencumbered hoteperties are included in the borrowing base suppgttie senior unsecured
credit facility. Thus, none of these propertieavsilable to be leveraged with other indebtedngss result, the maximum amount of
borrowing permitted under the senior unsecureditcfacility was $292.3 million, of which, we had 1.0 million borrowed, $14.0 million in
standby letters of credit and $117.3 million avalgeto borrow.

Payment Terma&Ne are obligated to pay interest at the end of sa#rted interest period, but not less than guwriith all
outstanding principal and accrued but unpaid istedee at the maturity. We have the right to paprény portion of the outstanding
borrowings from time to time without penalty or priem. We pay interest on advances at varying ragsed upon, at our option, either (i) 1,
2, 3, or 6-month LIBOR, plus a LIBOR margin betweei5% and 2.50%, depending upon our leverage (@ialefined in the credit facility
documentation), or (ii) the applicable base rateictvis the greatest of the administrative agegmtime rate, the federal funds rate plus 0.50%,
or 1-month LIBOR plus 1.00%, plus a base rate nmabgtween 0.75% and 1.50%, depending upon ourdgeenatio. In addition, on a
quarterly basis, we are required to pay a fee enuttused portion of the credit facility equal te tmused amount multiplied by an annual rate
of either (i) 0.30%, if the unused amount is eqoair greater than 50% of the maximum aggregateuaitnaf the credit facility, or (ii) 0.20%,
the unused amount is less than 50% of the maxinggregate amount of the credit facility.

Financial and Other Covenanté#/e are required to comply with a series of finahara other covenants in order to borrow under
this credit facility. The material financial covenrtainclude a maximum leverage ratio, a minimumsotidated tangible net worth, a maximum
dividend payout ratio, a minimum consolidated fixawrge coverage ratio, a maximum ratio of secimgebtedness to total asset value, a
maximum ratio of secured recourse indebtednesstabdsset value, a maximum ratio of consolidatezbaured indebtedness to total
unencumbered asset value, and a maximum ratioesfaumbered adjusted net operating income to assunsstured interest expense.
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We are also subject to other customary covenarthkiding restrictions on investment and limitatmmliens and maintenance of
properties. This credit facility also contains ausary events of default, including, among othdrs,failure to make payments when due unde
any of the credit facility documentation, breactanf covenant continuing beyond any cure period,mkruptcy or insolvency.

Unencumbered Asset3his credit facility is unsecured; however, boriogs are limited by the value of hotel propertieastt
qualify as unencumbered assets supporting thistdesility. At December 31, 2013, 32 of our hopebperties qualify as, and are deemed t
unencumbered assets that support this credittiaclimong other conditions, unencumbered assets naidbe subject to liens or security
interest, and the owner and operating lessee ¢f smencumbered asset must execute a guaranty swggleursuant to which the owner and
operating lessee become subsidiary guarantoreafrtdit facility. In addition, hotel properties ynae added to or removed from the
unencumbered asset pool at any time so long as iharminimum of 20 hotel properties in the unenicered asset pool, the unencumbered
assets meet certain diversity requirements (sudimés on concentrations in any particular markeat)d the then-current borrowings on the
credit facility do not exceed the maximum availabteler the credit facility given the availabilifynitations described above. Further, to be
eligible as an unencumbered asset, the hotel gyoperst: be franchised with a nationally-recognifreahchisor; have been in operation a
minimum of one year; satisfy certain ownership, agament and operating lessee criteria; and natlijec to material defects, such as liens,
titte defects, environmental contamination and otttandard lender criteria.

Mortgage Loans

At December 31, 2013, we had $360.6 million in mpage loans. These loans are secured by first grimortgage liens on hotel
properties.

Our mortgage loans include borrowings with ING Lifsurance and Annuity (“ING”)n February 2013, we removed the Hamj
Inn in Denver, CO from the security for our oridilldG loan and replaced it with a $2.4 million sty letter of credit issued under our sel
secured revolving credit facility. In May 2013, weamoved the Holiday Inn Express in Boise, ID frdra security for our original ING loan a
replaced it with a $1.5 million stand-by letterapédit issued under our senior secured revolviegitfacility.

On August 1, 2013, we entered into a new $34.0onilerm loan with ING with a fixed rate of 4.55%his loan matures on
August 1, 2038 and amortizes over 25 years. INGHwmsight to call the loan in full on Marchsl @019, 2024, 2029 and 2034.
Simultaneously, we amended our original loan wiNisIto (i) remove the Fairfield Inn & Suites and Residence Inn, Germantown, TN; the
Hampton Inn, Fort Smith, AR; and the Fairfield Itwewisville, TX from the collateral and (ii) remo®3.9 million in letters of credit from the
collateral. We also added the Courtyard by Marrigdtkson, MS; the Hampton Inn & Suites, Ybor, &hgl the Courtyard by Marriott and the
Residence Inn, Metairie, LA as collateral to the taans, such that both ING loans are secureddgdme 14 hotel properties and are cross-
defaulted. The proceeds from this borrowing weedus pay down our senior secured revolving crieditity. At December 31, 2013, the IN
loans were secured by 14 hotel properties.

Our mortgage loans also include borrowings fromBaayk. On January 25, 2013, we closed on a $29libmlban with a fixed
rate of 4.46% and a maturity of February 1, 2028sToan is secured by four of the Hyatt Place Isotee acquired in October 2012. These
hotels are located in Chicago (Lombard), IL; Denfleme Tree), CO; Denver (Englewood), CO; and Bafkarlington), TX. The proceeds
from this borrowing were used to fund a portiorihef cash required to acquire hotel propertiesvieae under contract to purchase.

On March 7, 2013, we closed on a $22.7 million leéth KeyBank with a fixed rate of 4.52% and a nmayuof April 1, 2023. Thit
loan is secured by three of the Hyatt hotels waismed in October 2012. These hotels include a Hytatise in Denver (Englewood), CO and
Hyatt Place hotels in Baltimore (Owings Mills), Mihd Scottsdale, AZ. The proceeds from this borrgwiere used to fund a portion of the
cash required to acquire five hotel properties @w\Drleans, LA.

On March 8, 2013, we closed on a $22.0 million ledth KeyBank with a fixed rate of 4.30% and a nmaguof April 1, 2023. This
loan is secured by the three Hyatt Place hotelacggired in January 2013. These hotels are logat€tiicago (Hoffman Estates), IL; Orlando
(Convention), FL; and Orlando (Universal), FL. Tgreceeds from this borrowing were used to fundréiquo of the cash required to acquire
five hotel properties in New Orleans, LA.

On July 22, 2013, we closed on a $38.7 million leéthh KeyBank with a fixed rate of 4.95% and a nidyuof August 1, 2023.
This loan is secured by the Fairfield Inn & Suiéesl SpringHill Suites by Marriott in Louisville, KYThe proceeds from this borrowing were
used to pay down our senior secured interim loan.

For additional information regarding our mortgagarls, please read our audited consolidated finlastei'zments and related notes
thereto, appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-K.
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Equity Transactions
2013

On January 14, 2013, we completed an underwrittdtiqpoffering of 17,250,000 shares of our commumtks. Net proceeds were
$148.1 million, after the underwriting discount asftering-related expenses. We used the proceedmfel property acquisitions and to pay
down our term debt and our senior secured revoleredit facility.

On March 20, 2013, we completed an underwrittediputffering of 3,400,000 shares of 7.125% SerieSunulative Redeemable
Preferred Stock for net proceeds of $81.7 millafter the underwriting discount and offering-rethexpenses. We used the proceeds to pay
down the principal balance of our senior securedlung credit facility.

On September 19, 2013, we completed an underwptibtic offering of 17,250,000 shares of commortistiNet proceeds were
$152.0 million, after the underwriting discount asftering-related expenses of $6.5 million. We uieziproceeds to fund hotel property
acquisitions, pay off our senior secured interigmnlpand reduce the outstanding balances undeeaiorsecured revolving credit facility.

2012

On October 3, 2012, we completed an underwrittédlipoffering of 13,800,000 shares of common stdbkt proceeds were
$106.4 million, after the underwriting discount asftering-related expenses of $6.1 million. We uleglproceeds to fund the cash portion of
acquisitions of 10 hotel properties that were urtdgrtract to purchase and pay down the principlaino@ of our senior secured revolving cr
facility.

On December 11, 2012, we completed an underwiittdatic offering of 3,000,000 shares of 7.875% SeBeCumulative
Redeemable Preferred Stock. Net proceeds were $¥lién, after the underwriting discount and offeg-related expenses of $2.5 million. \
used the proceeds to pay down the principal balahoer senior secured revolving credit facility.

Capital Expenditures

In 2013, we spent $46.9 million on renovationsjuding $19.1 million on hotel properties that wermd prior to 2012 and $27.8
million on hotel properties acquired since the bagig of 2012. We currently have renovations unagrat 19 of our hotel properties. We
anticipate spending a total of $35.0 million to $4Billion on hotel property renovations in the 20MWe expect to fund these renovations
cash provided by operations, working capital, beings under our senior unsecured credit facilityd ather potential sources of capital, to the
extent available to us.

In addition, the Company capitalized $4.4 millidmeaintenance and repair costs at our hotels ir3201
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

From time to time, we enter into off-balance steweangements to facilitate our operations. At Dewen31, 2013, we had $0.9
million in outstanding stand-by letters of credipporting performance bonds related to workers’ gensation insurance and other operationa
matters.

Contractual Obligations

The following table outlines the timing of requirpdyments related to our long-term debt and otbetractual obligations at
December 31, 2013 (dollars in thousands):

Payments Due By Perioc

Less than One to Three Four to More than

Total One Year Years Five Years Five Years
Debt obligations (1 $ 584,91. $ 30,64¢ $ 118,67: $ 170,86: $ 264,72!
Operating lease obligations ( 33,84« 58¢ 1,22 1,114 30,91¢
Purchase obligations (. 19,41: 19,41: — — —
Total $ 638,16 $ 50,65( $  119.89° $ 171,970 $ 295,64

(1) Amounts shown include amortization of principal.tordies, and estimated interest payments on oligations. Interest payments
our variable rate obligations have been estimasatithe interest rates in effect at December 8132after giving effect to our
interest rate swaps.

(2) Primarily ground leases and corporate office leases

(3) Represents purchase orders and executed conwacenbvation projects at our hotel properties, amabligation to purchase the
remaining 10% of a hotel property in which we hav@0% interest.
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In addition to the contractual obligations in thmae table, at December 31, 2013 we had enterediptirchase agreement for «
hotel property. The acquisition closed on March2@1,4. The purchase price of this hotel propertg $29.1 million, which includes debt that
was assumed of $13.3 million.

We have entered into a purchase agreement witheh froperty developer to acquire a Hampton Innuété&s in downtown
Minneapolis, MN for $37.7 million, subject to cartaonditions including the completion of constiantof the hotel in accordance with agre
upon architectural and engineering designs, recéigtHampton Inn & Suites franchise, and recefjat oertificate of occupancy: therefore,
there is no assurance that it will be completedidmuary 2014, we issued a standby letter of cfed#13.1 million in support of this purchase
agreement. This letter of credit was issued undesenior unsecured credit facility.

Inflation

Operators of hotel properties, in general, postesability to adjust room rates daily to refldu effects of inflation. However,
competitive pressures may limit the ability of enanagement companies to raise room rates.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in conféymiith GAAP requires us to make estimates andrapsions that affect the
reported amount of assets and liabilities at the daour financial statements and the reportedwusnsoof revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. While we do not believe the répdramounts would be materially different, applmaif these policies involves the exercise
of judgment and the use of assumptions as to futicertainties and, as a result, actual resultklatitfer from these estimates. We evaluate
our estimates and judgments on an ongoing basidadke our estimates on experience and on varibes assumptions that we believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. The followgpgesent certain critical accounting policies tiegiuire us to exercise our business judgr
or make significant estimates:

Investment in Hotel Propertie

AcquisitionsWe allocate the purchase price based on the fhieva the acquired assets and assumed liabilifiesdetermine the
acquisition-date fair values of all assets and rassuliabilities using methods similar to those usgdndependent appraisers, for example,
using a discounted cash flow analysis that utile@gropriate discount and/or capitalization rate$ @available market information. Estimates
future cash flows are based on a number of fadtetgading historical operating results, known amticipated trends, and market and econc
conditions. Acquisition costs are expensed as readuiChanges in estimates and judgments relatéet tallocation of the purchase price could
result in adjustments to our investment in hoteprties or intangible assets, which can affectat@ation and/or amortization expense anc
results of operations.

D epreciation and Amortizatiofiotel properties are recorded at cost and depsztiaging the straight-line method over an
estimated useful life of 25 to 40 years for buifgirand two to 15 years for furniture, fixtures aogiipment. We are required to make subje:
assessments as to the useful lives of our asggtsifposes of determining the amount of depreciatipense to reflect each year. While we
believe our estimates are reasonable, a change iestimated useful lives could affect our respiltsperations.

Impairment of Hotel Propertie§Ve monitor events and changes in circumstancesdaators that the carrying value of a hotel
property or land held for development may be imghiFactors that could trigger an impairment ansliyelude, among others: i) significant
underperformance relative to historical or projdateerating results, ii) significant changes initi@nner of use of a property or the strategy o
our overall business, iii) a significant increaseompetition, iv) a significant adverse changkegal factors or regulations, and v) significant
negative industry or economic trends. When suctofa@re identified, we prepare an estimate olitigiscounted future cash flows, without
interest charges, of the specific property andrdgtes if our investment is recoverable based orutigiscounted future cash flows. If
impairment is indicated, we estimate the fair vadtighe property and an adjustment is made to retlue carrying value of the property to fair
value. These assessments may affect the resudtg afperations.

Revenue Recoghnitio

Our revenues are comprised of room revenue and btitel operations revenue, which includes reverfues the sale of food and
beverages and other ancillary amenities. We rezegeivenues, net of any sales and occupancy takested from guests, when rooms are
occupied and services are rendered. All rebateslsedunts are recorded as a reduction in revelyyeropriate allowances are made for
doubtful accounts and are recorded as bad debhsgp&he allowances are calculated as a perceotaged accounts receivable and take int
consideration past collection history and spedtistomer information. Cash received prior to gaesval is recorded as an advance from the
customer and is recognized as revenue at the fimecapancy.
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Equity-Based Compensation

Our 2011 Equity Incentive Plan provides for thengraf stock options, stock appreciation rightstrieted stock, restricted stock
units, dividend equivalent rights and other stoekédd awards. We account for equity-based compensading the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model for stock options and the grant datevalue of our common stock for all other awar8eme of the awards we issue are market
based awards and are valued using a Monte Carldaion model. We expense these awards over thaggseriod. The amount of the
expense may be subject to adjustment in futuregeriue to a change in forfeiture assumptions.

Income Taxes

Commencing with our short taxable year ended Deeeb, 2011, we elected to be taxed as a REIT wetéain provisions of tt
Internal Revenue Code. To qualify as a REIT, wetrmeset certain organizational and operational r@goénts, including a requirement to
distribute annually to our shareholders at lea%b @b our REIT taxable income, determined withouamel to the deduction for dividends paid
and excluding net capital gains, which does noessarily equal net income as calculated in accoelaith GAAP. As a REIT, we generally
will not be subject to federal income tax (othaarthaxes paid by our TRSs) to the extent we cuyreligtribute 100% of our REIT taxable
income to our shareholders. If we fail to qualif/aREIT in any taxable year, we will be subjedetteral income tax on our taxable income a
regular corporate income tax rates and generallyo@iunable to re-elect REIT status until thetfifialendar year after the year in which we
failed to quality as a REIT, unless we satisfy aiartelief provisions. Such an event could matbriaflversely affect our net income and net
cash available for distribution to shareholderswieer, we intend to be organized and operate ih aunanner as to qualify for treatment as a
REIT.

We account for federal and state income taxes o &8s using the asset and liability method. Deftax assets and liabilities
are recognized for the future tax consequencebuttible to differences between carrying amounexidting assets and liabilities based on
GAAP and respective carrying amounts for tax puespand operating losses and tax-credit carry fatsvddowever, deferred tax assets are
only recognized to the extent that it is more fkitlan not that they will be realized. Deferred éamsets and liabilities are measured using
enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxablarirda the years in which temporary differencesex@ected to be recovered or settled. The
effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities ofiange in tax rates is recognized in income irp#réod that includes the enactment date. In the
event that these assumptions change, the defexed may change.

New Accounting Standards Adopted

In the first quarter of 2013, we adopted AccountBigndards Update (“ASU”") 2013—02pmprehensive Income (Topic 220):
Reporting of Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumdl@#her Comprehensive Incor. ASU 2013—02 required an entity to separately jolev
information about the effects on net income ofaiarsignificant amounts reclassified out of eacimpgonent of accumulated other
comprehensive income. Adoption of this new stadidiéd not have a material effect on our consolidditeancial statements.

Recent Developments
Equity

On January 2, 2014, we redeemed 126,155 Commos,Wtiich had been tendered on November 2, 2013,28y155 shares of
our common stock. On January 31, 2014, 22,570 Camldmits were tendered for redemption, which weridteo redeem for 22,570 shares of
our common stock on April 1, 2014.

Acquisitions and Debt Assumptior

On January 9, 2014, we purchased a 182-guestrotionkBarden Inn in Houston, TX for $37.5 milliorcloding the assumption
of a $17.9 million mortgage loan with a fixed irgst rate of 6.22%, an original amortization pewd@0 years, and a maturity date of
November 1, 201¢

On January 10, 2014, we purchased a 98-guestroonptda Inn in Santa Barbara (Goleta), CA for $27ilion including: i) the
assumption of a $12.0 million mortgage loan wifixad interest rate of 6.13%, an original amorii@atperiod of 25 years, and a maturity date
of November 11, 2021, ii) the issuance of 412,1@M@on Units in Summit OP valued at $3.7 milliong @) $12.2 million in cash.

On January 24, 2014, we purchased a 101-guestroomMints by Sheraton in San Francisco, CA for.32dillion.

On March 14, 2014, we purchased a 210-guestroonbl®dree by Hilton in San Francisco, CA for $39.1liomi. The purchase
price plus closing costs and a renovation reseag paid through: i) assumption of a $13.3 millicortgage loan with a fixed interest rate of
5.98%, an original amortization period of 30 years] a maturity date of March 8, 2016; and ii) $29illion in cash. We anticipate spending
$4.1 million in renovations to the hotel during 201

We funded the cash portion of these acquisitionik drrowing under our senior unsecured credififgci

Dispositions

On January 17, 2014, we sold the Americinn Hot8uites and the Aspen Hotels & Suites in Fort SR, for $3.1 million.



46




Table of Contents
Pending Acquisitions

We have entered into a purchase agreement witheh froperty developer to acquire a Hampton Innutés in downtown
Minneapolis, MN for $37.7 million, subject to cartaonditions including the completion of constiontof the hotel in accordance with agre
upon architectural and engineering designs, recéiatHampton Inn & Suites franchise, and recefjat oertificate of occupancy: therefore,
there is no assurance that it will be completedidmnuary 2014, we issued a standby letter of cfed#13.1 million in support of this purchase
agreement. This letter of credit was issued undesenior unsecured credit facility.

We intend to fund the cash portion of this pendinguisition, if completed, with borrowings under sanior unsecured credit
facility.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Marlet Risk.
Market Risk

Market risk includes risks that arise from chanigegterest rates, foreign currency exchange ra@smodity prices, equity prices
and other market changes that affect market-seasitstruments. In pursuing our business stratethesprimary market risk to which we are
exposed is interest rate risk. Our primary interatt exposure is to 3y LIBOR. We primarily use fixed interest ratediting to manage o
exposure to fluctuations in interest rates. Omatdid basis we also use derivative financial insgnts to manage interest rate risk.

At December 31, 2013, we were party to four interate derivative agreements, with a total noti@rabunt of $104.3 million,
where we receive variable-rate payments in exchéorgmaking fixed-rate payments. These agreementaecounted for as cash flow hedges
and have a termination value of $1.7 million.

At December 31, 2013, after giving effect to ouemsst rate derivative agreements, $358.6 millkorg2.3%, of our debt had fixed
interest rates and $77.0 million, or 17.7%, hadalde interest rates. At December 31, 2012, afiteéng effect to our interest rate derivative
agreements, $229.6 million, or 73.4%, of our dedat fixed interest rates and $83.0 million, or 26, 8%d variable interest rates. Assuming no
increase in the level of our variable rate debstanding as of December 31, 2013, if interest rateased by 1.0% our cash flow would
decrease by less than $0.8 million per year.

As our fixed-rate debts mature, they will becomiejsct to interest rate risk. In addition, as ourafale-rate debts mature, lenders
may impose interest rate floors on new financimgragements because of the low interest rates exqmend during the past few years. At
December 31, 2013, we have no debt that matur28lid. However, $9.2 million of our long-term debstcheduled to amortize in 2014, of
which $9.1 million has fixed interest rates.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

See Index to the Financial Statements on page F-1.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Acunting and Financial Disclosure.
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Controls and Procedures—Summit REIT
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our Chief Executive €ffiand Chief Financial
Officer, we have evaluated the effectiveness offémign and operation of our disclosure controtsf@ocedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15
(b) under the Exchange Act as of the end of thioderovered by this report. Based on that evalnator Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer have concluded that, as of the ehthe period covered by this report, these dmale controls and procedures were effective
to provide reasonable assurance that informatiquired to be disclosed in the reports filed or sittet under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the pieni@ds specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, thatlsuch information is accumulated
and communicated to our management to allow tirdebisions regarding required disclosure.
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Management’'s Report on the Effectiveness of Inteh@ontrol Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting. Internal control
over financial reporting is a process designedbynder the supervision of, our Chief Executivéic@f and our Chief Financial Officer, and
effected by our board of directors, managementather personnel, to provide reasonable assurageedieg the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statet:iéor external purposes in accordance with GAA® ianludes those policies and procedure:s
that:

. pertain to the maintenance of records that, inaralsle detail, accurately and fairly reflect thensactions and
dispositions of our assets;

. provide reasonable assurance that transactions@eded as necessary to permit preparation ofiiahstatements in
accordance with GAAP and that our receipts andegpenditures are being made only in accordanceawithorizations
of our management and our board of directors; and

. provide reasonable assurance regarding preventitmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, usedisposition of
our assets that could have a material effect orioancial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtwver financial reporting may not prevent or @étaisstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectivenessuiufe periods are subject to the risk that contmdy become inadequate because of chang
conditions, or that the degree of compliance withpolicies or procedures may deteriorate.

A “material weakness” is a deficiency, or a combimaof deficiencies, in internal control over fim@al reporting, such that there
is a reasonable possibility that a material misst&nt of our annual or interim consolidated finahstatements will not be prevented or
detected on a timely basis.

In connection with the preparation of this Annuaiprt on Form 10-K, management, under the supervisi our Chief Executive
Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, conductaa evaluation of the effectiveness of our integwaltrol over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2013, based on criteria establishétennal Control—Integrated Framework (1992) elishled by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commisdased on such evaluation, our management idedtifie material weakness described
below. Accordingly, our management concluded tadid not maintain effective internal control ofieancial reporting as of December 31,
2013.

In the course of preparing this Annual Report omk&0-K and the consolidated financial statememtiided herein, our
management identified a deficiency in the desigawfinternal control over financial reporting et we did not have in place controls and
procedures that would allow us to reconcile theuhe¢ sheets of our individual hotels to the firmisolidated amounts in our consolidated
balance sheet. As a result of the design defigigthe intercompany accounts between the indiviloé¢ls and the consolidated entity had not
been
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reconciled in 2013 and in prior periods. Followthg identification of the design deficiency, theld committee of our board of directors
engaged a nationally recognized consulting andwattetg firm to assist our management with the redi@tion of the intercompany accounts
between the individual hotels and the consolidataity for 2012 and 2013. As a result of the reiigation process, we made reclassification
entries within certain balance sheet line itemguinconsolidated balance sheet as of Decembe03B, 2ome of which required us to make
adjustments to our consolidated statements of tipasafor the year ended December 31, 2013. Ouragrement concluded that the design
deficiency amounted to a material weakness inmermal control over financial reporting becauseasonable possibility existed that a
material misstatement of our annual or interim otidated financial statements would not be prewtiaied detected on a timely basis.
Notwithstanding this material weakness, our manageras concluded that the consolidated finantiaéments included in this Annt
Report on Form 10-K present fairly in all mater@$pects the consolidated financial position, tesafl operations and cash flows of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

Ernst & Young LLP, our independent registered puhbticounting firm, has issued an auditor’s attestatport on our
management’s assessment of the ineffectivenessrafternal control over financial reporting asdcember 31, 2013. This report is includec
in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We acquired 19 hotels in 2013. In accordance witbsition of the staff of the SEC that appliesubsidiaries that were acquirec
material purchase business combinations that cetuluring the most recent fiscal year, we exclutiede hotels from our assessment of our
internal control over financial reporting as of Betber 31, 2013. These 19 hotels had an aggrefjhtded-level assets of $490 million as of
December 31, 2013 and an aggregate of hotel-levehues of $76.7 million for the year ended Decerhe2013.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reportm

During the quarter ended December 31, 2013, there wo changes to our internal control over finaln@porting that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely totenally affect, our internal control over finantiaporting.

We are in the process of implementing certain ate@nd procedures that will allow our managemedtaccounting personnel to
reconcile our intercompany accounts to amountsiirconsolidated balance sheet. We expect totb@implementation of these changes
immediately.
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Item 9B. Other Information.
Additional Material Federal Income Tax Considerations

The following is a summary of additional materiedléral income tax considerations with respecteotlinership of our stock. This
summary supplements and should be read togethiethetdiscussion under “Material Federal Income Tarsiderations” in the prospectus
dated May 15, 2012 and filed as part of a registnagtatement on Form S-3 (No. 333-179828).
Taxation of Taxable U.S. Stockholders

For payments after June 30, 2014, a U.S. withhglthx at a 30% rate will be imposed on dividendsd pa our stock received by
U.S. stockholders who own their stock through fgmeaccounts or foreign intermediaries if certagcttisure requirements related to U.S.
accounts or ownership are not satisfied. In addlitithose disclosure requirements are not satisth U.S. withholding tax at a 30% rate will
be imposed on proceeds from the sale of our stexdived after December 31, 2016 by U.S. stockhsldéio own their stock through foreign
accounts or foreign intermediaries. We will not @any additional amounts in respect of any amouiittsheld.
Taxation of Non-U.S. Stockholders

For payments after June 30, 2014, a U.S. withhglthx at a 30% rate will be imposed on dividendsd pa our stock received by
certain non-U.S. stockholders if they held our ktilrough foreign entities that fail to meet cantdisclosure requirements related to U.S.
persons that either have accounts with such entitiewn equity interests in such entities. In &ddj if those disclosure requirements are not
satisfied, a U.S. withholding tax at a 30% ratd & imposed on proceeds from the sale of our steckived after December 31, 2016 by
certain non-U.S. stockholders. If payment of witlolirog taxes is required, non-U.S. stockholders #natotherwise eligible for an exemption
from, or reduction of, U.S. withholding taxes withkspect of such dividends and proceeds will beireduo seek a refund from the Internal
Revenue Service to obtain the benefit or such exempr reduction. We will not pay any additionaha@unts in respect of any amounts
withheld.

PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace.

The information required by this item is incorpaaby reference to our Proxy Statement for the 20idual Meeting of
Stockholders.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by this item is incorpadby reference to our Proxy Statement for the 20idual Meeting of
Stockholders.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andlanagement and Related Stockholder Matters.

The information required by this item is incorpaaby reference to our Proxy Statement for the 20ddual Meeting of
Stockholders.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, andrustee Independence.

The information required by this item is incorpadby reference to our Proxy Statement for the 20idual Meeting of
Stockholders.
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Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The information required by this item is incorpadby reference to our Proxy Statement for the 20ddual Meeting of
Stockholders.

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.
1. Financial Statements
Included herein at pages F-1 through F-37
2. Financial Statement Schedules

The following financial statement schedule is inigd herein at pages F-38 - F-40.
Schedule Il — Real Estate and Accumulated Deptietia

All schedules for which provision is made in Regjiola S-X are either not required to be includedelrepursuant to the related instructions or
are inapplicable or the related information is inledd in the footnotes to the applicable finandiatesnent.

3. Exhibits
The following exhibits are filed as part of thipoest:

Exhibit

Number Description of Exhibit

3.1 Articles of Amendment and Restatement of SummiteHBtoperties, Inc. (incorporated by referencexbikit 3.1 to Annual
Report on Form 1-K filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on Febguas, 2012

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Summit Hotel Prgggrinc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit®2mendment No. 2 t
Registration Statement on Forr-11 filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on Novemf, 2010

4.1 Specimen certificate of common stock of Summit HBt@perties, Inc. (incorporated by reference tbikix 4.1 to Amendment
No. 5 to Registration Statement on For-11 filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on Felbyua 2011)

10.1 Amended and Restated Hotel Management Agreemeet] &@bruary 14, 2011, among Interstate Manage@emipany, LLC

and the subsidiaries of Summit Hotel Properties, jrarty thereto (incorporated by reference to BixHi0.4 to Current Report ¢
Form &K filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on Februas, 2011

10.2 First Amendment to Amended and Restated Hotel Mamagt Agreement, dated June 30, 2011, among latefganagement
Company, LLC and the subsidiaries of the Compamgyghereto (incorporated by reference to Exhilfit2lto Quarterly Report
on Form 1+-Q filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on AugiSt 2011)

10.3 $300,000,000 Credit Agreement dated October 103 20iong Summit Hotel OP, LP, Summit Hotel Propsrtiec., the
subsidiary guarantors party thereto, Deutsche BeBiNew York Branch, Bank of America, N.A., Royalidaof Canada, Key
Bank National Association, Regions Bank, Fifth Thisank, Raymond James Bank, N.A., and U.S. BanloNalt Association
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Catfeeport on Form 8-K filed by Summit Hotel Projpest Inc. on October 15,
2013)

10.4 Consolidated, Amended and Restated Loan Agreenatetl d~ebruary 13, 2012, between Summit Hotel ORaRdPING Life
Insurance and Annuity Company (incorporated byregfee to Exhibit 10.1 to Current Report on Forid 8led by Summit Hote
Properties, Inc. on February 16, 20

10.5 First Modification of Consolidated, Amended and fReed Loan Agreement among Summit Hotel OP, LBoaower, and ING
Life Insurance and Annuity Company, as lender, dl&tegust 1, 2013 (incorporated by reference to BixHi0.3 to Quarterly
Report on Form 1-Q filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on Aug@s2013)

10.6 Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. 2011 Equity Incent®lan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10d&urrent Report on
Form &K filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on Februas, 2011)*
10.7 Form of Indemnification Agreement between Summitéi@roperties, Inc. and each of its Executive €&ifs and Directors

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to Adrment No. 2 to Registration Statement on Form #iéd by Summit Hotel
Properties, Inc. on November 1, 20:

10.8 Form of Option Award Agreement (incorporated byerehce to Exhibit 10.6 to Amendment No. 1 to Regiiin Statement on
Form ¢-11 filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on Septen23, 2010)
10.9 Form of Lease Agreement between Summit Hotel OPaiidPTRS Lessee (incorporated by reference to Ext4 to

Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on Fc-11 filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on Novesnh, 2010
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10.10

10.11
10.12

10.13

10.14

12.1t
211t
23.1t
23.2%
31.1%

31.2%
321t
32.2t

101.INS
101.SCt
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

Sourcing Agreement between Six Continents Hotel, livb/a InterContinental Hotels Group, and Suntiaitel Properties, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to Adraent No. 3 to Registration Statement on Form #iéd by Summit Hotel
Properties, Inc. on December 3, 20

Form of Severance Agreement between Summit Hotedd?ties, Inc. and Troy L. Hester (incorporateddfgrence to

Exhibit 10.1 to Quarterly Report on Form-Q filed by Summit Hotel Properties on November 012)*

Form of Incentive Award Agreement between SummitdHBroperties, Inc. and its executive officergdirporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.2 to Quarterly Report of Form 10@#llby Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on May 5, 26

Form of Stock Award Agreement (Performance Basetté) between Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. anediezutive officers
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to QerdytReport on Form 10-Q filed by Summit Hotel Pedges, Inc. on May 5,
2012)*

Form of Stock Award Agreement (Service-Based Shdretsveen Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. and itscatiee officers
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to QerdytReport on Form 10-Q filed by Summit Hotel Pedges, Inc. on May 5,
2012)*

Calculation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charged Rreferred Stock Dividen:

List of Subsidiaries of Summit Hotel Properties;.!

Consent of KPMG LLF

Consent of Ernst & Young, LL

Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Sumnfitotel Properties, Inc. pursuant to Rule 13a-14g/14(a), as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbi-Oxley Act of 200z

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Summit HatProperties, Inc. pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15%(h), as adopted pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Summit HbtProperties, Inc. pursuant to 18 U.S.C. SectRiB0] as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 200z

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Summit HatProperties, Inc. pursuant to 18 U.S.C. SectRiB0] as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbar-Oxley Act of 200z

XBRL Instance Documer

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Docunr

XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Docum

* Management contract or compensatory plan or gearent.
T Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theoeduly authorized.

SUMMIT HOTEL PROPERTIES, INC. (registrant)

Date: March 25, 2014 By: /sl Kerry W. Boekelheid

Kerry W. Boekelheidt
Executive Chairman of the Boa

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed &ydhowing persons on behalf of
the registrant and in the capacities and on thesdatlicated.

Signature Title Date
/sl Kerry W. Boekelheid Executive Chairman of the Board March 25, 2014
Kerry W. Boekelheid:
/s/ Daniel P. Hanse President, Chief Executive Officer and Director March 25, 2014
Daniel P. Hanse (principal executive officer)
/sl Stuart J. Becke Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Off March 25, 2014

Stuart J. Becke
(principal financial officer’

/s/ Troy L. Heste Chief Accounting Officer March 25, 2014
Troy L. Hestel

/sl David V. Egenol Vice President and Controller March 25, 2014
David V. Egenoli

/s/ Bjorn R. L. Hanso Director March 25, 2014
Bjorn R. L. Hansor

/sl Thomas W. Store Director March 25, 2014
Thomas W. Store

/sl Wayne W. Wielgu Director March 25, 2014
Wayne W. Wielgu:
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit

Number Description of Exhibit

3.1 Articles of Amendment and Restatement of SummiteHBtoperties, Inc. (incorporated by referencexbikit 3.1 to Annual
Report on Form 1-K filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on Febguas, 2012

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Summit Hotel Prgggerinc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit ®2Amendment No. 2 t
Registration Statement on Forr-11 filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on Novemb, 2010

4.1 Specimen certificate of common stock of Summit HBt@perties, Inc. (incorporated by reference tbikix 4.1 to Amendment
No. 5 to Registration Statement on For-11 filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on Felbyia 2011)

10.1 Amended and Restated Hotel Management Agreemeet] &abruary 14, 2011, among Interstate Manage@emipany, LLC
and the subsidiaries of Summit Hotel Properties, jrarty thereto (incorporated by reference to BixHi0.4 to Current Report ¢
Form &K filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on Februas, 2011

10.2 First Amendment to Amended and Restated Hotel Mamagt Agreement, dated June 30, 2011, among latefglanagement
Company, LLC and the subsidiaries of the Compamgyghereto (incorporated by reference to Exhilfit2lto Quarterly Report
on Form 1+Q filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on AugiSt 2011)

10.3 $300,000,000 Credit Agreement dated October 103 20iong Summit Hotel OP, LP, Summit Hotel Propsrtiec., the
subsidiary guarantors party thereto, Deutsche BeBiNew York Branch, Bank of America, N.A., Royalidaof Canada, Key
Bank National Association, Regions Bank, Fifth Thidank, Raymond James Bank, N.A., and U.S. BanloNalt Association
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Catfeeport on Form 8-K filed by Summit Hotel Projpest Inc. on October 15,
2013)

10.4 Consolidated, Amended and Restated Loan Agreenatetl d~ebruary 13, 2012, between Summit Hotel ORaRdPING Life
Insurance and Annuity Company (incorporated byresfee to Exhibit 10.1 to Current Report on Forid 8led by Summit Hote
Properties, Inc. on February 16, 20

10.5 First Modification of Consolidated, Amended and fReed Loan Agreement among Summit Hotel OP, LBoaower, and ING
Life Insurance and Annuity Company, as lender, dl&tegust 1, 2013 (incorporated by reference to BixHi0.3 to Quarterly
Report on Form 1-Q filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on Aug6s2013)

10.6 Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. 2011 Equity IncentRlan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10d.8tirrent Report on
Form &K filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on Februas, 2011)*

10.7 Form of Indemnification Agreement between Summitéi@roperties, Inc. and each of its Executive €&ifs and Directors
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to Adrent No. 2 to Registration Statement on Form 8ldd by Summit Hotel
Properties, Inc. on November 1, 20:

10.8 Form of Option Award Agreement (incorporated byerehce to Exhibit 10.6 to Amendment No. 1 to Regiiin Statement on
Form ¢-11 filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on Septen?23, 2010)

10.9 Form of Lease Agreement between Summit Hotel OPaiidPTRS Lessee (incorporated by reference to Extib4 to
Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on Fc-11 filed by Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on Novemnf, 2010

10.10 Sourcing Agreement between Six Continents Hotel, ldvb/a InterContinental Hotels Group, and Suntiaitel Properties, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to Adraent No. 3 to Registration Statement on Form #iéd by Summit Hotel
Properties, Inc. on December 3, 20

10.11 Form of Severance Agreement between Summit Hotgdd?ties, Inc. and Troy L. Hester (incorporateddfgrence to
Exhibit 10.1 to Quarterly Report on Form-Q filed by Summit Hotel Properties on November 012)*

10.12 Form of Incentive Award Agreement between SummitdHBroperties, Inc. and its executive officergdirporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.2 to Quarterly Report of Form 10@#lIby Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. on May 5, 26

10.13 Form of Stock Award Agreement (Performance Baseatéd) between Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. anexésutive officers
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to QerdytReport on Form 10-Q filed by Summit Hotel Pedges, Inc. on May 5,
2012)*

10.14 Form of Stock Award Agreement (Service-Based Shdrelsveen Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. and itcatee officers
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to QedytReport on Form 10-Q filed by Summit Hotel Pedjes, Inc. on May 5,
2012)*

12.1¢% Calculation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charged Rreferred Stock Dividen:

21.1t List of Subsidiaries of Summit Hotel Properties;.|

23.1% Consent of KPMG LLF

23.2% Consent of Ernst & Young, LL

31.1t Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Sumntitotel Properties, Inc. pursuant to Rule 13a-14g)/14(a), as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbi-Oxley Act of 200z

31.2¢t Certification of Chief Financial Officer Summit HdtProperties, Inc. pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/1%(), as adopted pursuant

to Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002
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32.1t Certification of Chief Executive Officer Summit HbtProperties, Inc. pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sect@B0]l as adopted pursuan
Section 906 of the Sarbar-Oxley Act of 200z
32.2t Certification of Chief Financial Officer Summit HdtProperties, Inc. pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Secti@B0l as adopted pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbar-Oxley Act of 200z
101.INS XBRL Instance Documer
101.SCF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docun
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Docurnr
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Docum

* Management contract or compensatory plan or gearent.
T Filed herewith.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Summit Hotel Properties, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineet of Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. (the Camypas of December 31, 2013, and
the related consolidated statements of operatemmprehensive income (loss), changes in equitycast flows for the year then ended. Our
audit also included the financial statement scheetlubs it relates to information included theramof and for the year ended December 31,
2013. These financial statements and scheduldanmesponsibility of the Company’s management. i@sponsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements and schedule basedraudit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8dé/nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtagsonable assurance about whether the finataiaiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managenenelhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our auditigges a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegrferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the consolidated financial position

of Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. at December 31L,38nd the consolidated results of its operationkits cash flows for the year then ended,

in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accongtprinciples. Also, in our opinion, the informatias of and for the year ended

December 31, 2013 included in the related finarat@ement schedule, when considered in relatidinetdasic financial statements taken as a
whole, presents fairly in all material respectsitifermation set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of Betber 31, 2013, based on criteria establishedtémial Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway Commission (1992 Framework), amdreport dated March 25, 2014
expressed an adverse opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Austin, Texas
March 25, 2014
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Summit Hotel Properties, Inc.

We have audited Summit Hotel Properties, Inc.’erimal control over financial reporting as of Decem®1, 2013, based on criteria establishe
in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issuedtry Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of thea@livay Commission (1992
Framework) (the COSO criteria). Summit Hotel Prdipsr Inc.’s management is responsible for maiitigieffective internal control over
financial reporting, and for its assessment ofeffiectiveness of internal control over financigboeting included in the accompanying
Management’s Report on Internal Control over FimgrReporting. Our responsibility is to expresso@mion on the company'’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statgdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq&nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtagasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal coraxer financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and etinagutihe design and operating effectiveness ofiiralecontrol based on the assessed risk, anc
performing such other procedures as we considezeéssary in the circumstances. We believe thadwdit provides a reasonable basis for ou
opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statets:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (ftajmeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetsafdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@anwith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely detectfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdaces may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or combinatibdeficiencies, in internal control over finanaieporting, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of the pany’s annual or interim financial statements wit be prevented or detected on a timely
basis. The following material weakness has beemtified and included in management’'s assessment.

Management has identified a material weaknessritrais related to the company’s financial statenoéoge process. Certain reconciliation
processes between individual hotels and the cotpoféice were not being performed.

As indicated in the accompanying Management’s Repothe Effectiveness of Internal Control Overdfinial Reporting, management’s
assessment of and conclusion on the effectiverfeateonal control over financial reporting did riatlude the internal controls of the 19
acquired hotels in 2013 (Acquired Hotels), which @cluded in the 2013 consolidated financial steiets of Summit Hotel Properties, Inc.
and constituted $487 million and $452 million ofaicand net assets, respectively, as of Decemhe&2@B and $77 million and $13 million of
revenues and net income, respectively, for the trear ended. Our audit of internal control oveafinial reporting of Summit Hotel
Properties, Inc. also did not include an evaluatibthe internal control over financial reportinfitbe Acquired Hotels.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the consolidated
balance sheet of Summit Hotel Properties, Incf@&egember 31, 2013, and the related consoliddatgdraents of operations, comprehensive
income (loss), changes in equity, and cash flowstfe year then ended of Summit Hotel Properties, &nd our report dated March 25, 2014
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. This rist@eakness was considered in determining theraatiming and extent of audit tests
applied in our audit of the 2013 financial statetagand this report does not affect our reportdiddarch 25, 2014, which expressed an
unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

In our opinion, because of the effect of the matereakness described above on the achievemem¢ abjectives of the control criteria,
Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. has not maintaindeagize internal control over financial reporting @ December 31, 2013, based on the
COSO criteria.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Austin, Texas
March 25, 2014
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Summit Hotel Properties, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineet of Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. and slidgn$és (the Company) as of
December 31, 2012, and the related consolidatéenseeats of operations, comprehensive income (lass) changes in equity for the year
ended December 31, 2012, and the period from Fgbfida 2011 (commencement of operations) througteder 31, 2011, the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehemsbome (loss) and changes in equity of SummitHgBtoperties, LLC and subsidiaries
(Predecessor) for the period from January 1, 2bddugh February 13, 2011, the related consolidst@gment of cash flows of Summit Hotel
Properties, Inc. and subsidiaries for the year @mkcember 31, 2012, and the related combined tidased statement of cash flows of
Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. and subsidiaries @aohmit Hotel Properties, LLC and subsidiaries (Boedsor) for the year ended
December 31, 2011. These consolidated financitrsents are the responsibility of the Company’sagament. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these consolidated finasta¢ments based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstials of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those standard:
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether the finataieiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on Blasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digds in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princied and significant estimates made by managenenelaas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegeferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the financial position of Summit
Hotel Properties, Inc. and subsidiaries as of Déeer31, 2012, and the results of Summit Hotel Pitgge Inc. and subsidiaries operations for
the year ended December 31, 2012 and the periodFebruary 14, 2011 (commencement of operatiomsytih December 31, 2011, the
results of Summit Hotel Properties, LLC and sulzsids (Predecessor) operations for the period Jardu@011 through February 13, 2011,
and Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. and subsidiasésh flows for the year ended December 31, 201@n8uHotel Properties, Inc. and
subsidiaries and Summit Hotel Properties, LLC anubkgliaries (Predecessor) combined cash flowshfoyear ended December 31, 2011, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accountinigciples.

/sl KPMG LLP

Chicago, lllinois
February 26, 2013 except as to notes 21 and 22hvelte as of
March 25, 201
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SUMMIT HOTEL PROPERTIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (in thousands, except share amounts)
DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

2013 2012
ASSETS
Investment in hotel properties, r $ 1,149,996 $ 734,36.
Investment in hotel properties under developn — 10,30:
Land held for developmel 13,74¢ 15,80:
Assets held for sal 12,22: 4,83¢
Cash and cash equivalel 46,70¢ 13,98(
Restricted cas 38,49¢ 3,62¢
Trade receivables, n 7,231 5,47¢
Prepaid expenses and otl 8,87¢ 5,311
Derivative financial instrument 258 —
Deferred charges, n 10,27( 8,89t
Deferred tax asst 49 3,991
Other asset 6,65¢ 4,201
TOTAL ASSETS $ 1,29447 $ 810, 78!
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Debt $ 435,58¢ $ 312,61.
Accounts payabl 7,58: 5,01:
Accrued expense 27,15¢ 18,98t
Derivative financial instrument 1,772 641
TOTAL LIABILITIES 472,09 337,25:
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
EQUITY
Preferred stock, $.01 par value per share, 100000Gshares authorize
9.25% Series A - 2,000,000 shares issued and odtstaat December 31, 2013 and 2012
(liquidation preference of $50,398 at December2B1,3 and 201Z 2C 2C
7.875% Series B - 3,000,000 shares issued anchadiaty at December 31, 2013 and 2012
(liguidation preference of $75,324 at December21,3 and 2012 3C 3C
7.125% Series C - 3,400,000 shares issued andindisg at December 31, 2013 (liquidation
preference of $85,522 at December 31, 2! 34 —
Common stock, $.01 par value per share, 450,00G;08fes authorized, 85,402,408 and 46,159,
shares issued and outstanding at December 31,820@113012, respective 854 462
Additional paic-in capital 882,85¢ 468,82(
Accumulated other comprehensive income (li (1,379 (52¢)
Accumulated deficit and distributiol (72,577 (31,989
Total shareholde’ equity 809,84( 436,81
Noncontrolling interests in Operating Partners 4,72 36,71¢
Noncontrolling interests in joint ventu 7,81¢ —
TOTAL EQUITY 822,37t 473,53
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $ 1,294,47  $ 810,78

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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SUMMIT HOTEL PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUMMIT HOTEL PROP ERTIES, LLC (PREDECESSOR)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (in thousands, except per share amounts)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013, 2012 AND 201

Summit Hotel
Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. Properties, LLC
Period 2/14/11 Period 1/1/11
2013 2012 through 12/31/11 through 2/13/11

REVENUES

Room revenu $ 283,27¢ % 154,60 $ 102,10¢ $ 10,62(

Other hotel operations reven 15,67¢ 7,10(C 4,28( 51¢
Total revenue 298,95¢ 161,70( 106,38t 11,13¢
EXPENSES
Hotel operating expense

Rooms 80,39 45,13( 30,21¢ 3,67¢

Other direct 39,81t 21,28« 15,47¢ 2,28¢

Other indirec 77,39: 43,37% 27,81¢ 3,59¢

Other 744 651 47¢ 44
Total hotel operating expens 198,34. 110,44. 73,98¢ 9,60¢

Depreciation and amortizatic 51,18 30,64¢ 21,64¢ 2,651

Corporate general and administrati

Salaries and other compensat 8,21¢ 6,03¢ 3,121 —
Other 4,711 3,53¢ 3,44( —

Hotel property acquisition cos 1,88¢ 3,05( 254 —

Loss on impairment of asse 1,36¢ 66C — —
Total expense 265, 71( 154,37( 102,44 12,25¢
Income (loss) from operatiol 33,24¢ 7,33( 3,93¢ (1,11€)
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE

Interest income 83 35 D 2

Other income (expens (343 731 — —

Interest expens (20,137 (14,909 (9,999 (3,435

Debt transaction cos (1,699 (661) — —

Gain (loss) on disposal of ass 363 (199 (36) —

Gain (loss) on derivative financial instrume 2 (2) — —
Total other income (expens (21,729 (15,005 (10,030) (3,439
Income (loss) from continuing operation before imeotax 11,51¢ (7,675 (6,097) (4,549
Income tax (expense) bene (4,899 72€ 2,25¢ (550
Income (loss) from continuing operatic 6,62¢ (6,947 (3,837) (5,099
Income (loss) from discontinued operatic (728) 4,671 (345) (1,10%)
Net income (loss 5,891 (2,270 (4,177 (6,207
Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrollingeiests in

Operating partnershi (297) (1,199 (1,240 —

Joint venture 31€ — — —
Net income (loss) attributable to Summit Hotel Rmties, Inc.

Predecessc 5,87¢ (1,076 (2,939 (6,207
Preferred dividend (14,590 (4,625 (411) —
Net income (loss) attributable to common sharehs| $ (8,712 $ (5,70) $ (3,348 $ (6,207

WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON SHARES
OUTSTANDING
Basic 70,32, 33,71 27,27¢

Diluted 70,73i 33,84¢ 27,27¢




EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share fi

Continuing operation $ (0.1 $ (0.2¢) $ (0.11)
Discontinued operatior (0.0 0.11 (0.00)
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per st $ 012 $ 0179 $ (0.1%)
DIVIDENDS PER SHARE $ 04t $ 04t $ 0.2¢

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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SUMMIT HOTEL PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUMMIT HOTEL PROP ERTIES, LLC (PREDECESSOR)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)(in thousands)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013, 2012 AND 201

Net income (loss

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of
Changes in derivative financial instrume
Total other comprehensive income (lo

Comprehensive income (los

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to nomodiimg
interest in:
Operating partnershi
Joint venture

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Sunkioiel
Properties, Inc. / Predeces:

Preferred dividend

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to common
shareholder

Summit Hotel Properties, Inc.

Summit Hotel
Properties, LLC

Period 2/14/11

Period 1/1/11

2013 2012 through 12/31/11 through 2/13/11

$ 5897 $ (2,270 $ 4,179 $ (6,207)
(881) (639) — —

(881) (639) — —

5,01¢ (2,909) 4,177) (6,207)

(327) (1,305) (1,240) —

31€ — — —

5,027 (1,604) (2,937) (6,207)

(14,590 (4,625) (411) —

$ (9,569 $ (6,229 $ (3,349 $ (6,207)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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SUMMIT HOTEL PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUMMIT HOTEL PROP ERTIES, LLC (PREDECESSOR)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (in thousands, except share amounts)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013, 2012 AND 201

Predecessol
BALANCES, DECEMBER 31, 201

Net (loss)
Distributions to membet

BALANCES, FEBRUARY 13, 201

Summit Hotel Properties, Inc.
Equity from Predecess

Net proceeds from sale of common sti
Net proceeds from sale of preferred st

Dividends paic
Equity-based compensatic
Net (loss)

BALANCES, DECEMBER 31, 201

Net proceeds from sale of common st
Net proceeds from sale of preferred st

Common stock redemption of comm
units

Dividends paic

Equity-based compensatic

Other comprehensive income (lo

Net (loss)

BALANCES, DECEMBER 31, 201

Net proceeds from sale of common sti
Net proceeds from sale of preferred st

Common stock redemption of comm
units

Contribution by noncontrolling interests

in joint venture
Dividends paic
Equity-based compensatic
Other comprehensive income (lo
Net income (loss

BALANCES, DECEMBER 31, 2013

Accumulated

Shares of Shares of Other Accumulated Total Noncontrolling Interests

Preferred  Preferred Common Common Additional Comprehensive Deficit and Shareholders Operating Joint Total

Stock Stock Stock Stock Paid-In Capital Income (Loss) Distributions Equity Partnership Venture Equity
— 3 — — 3 — 3 — — 3 — 3 61,46t $ (1,629 $ — $ 59,84
_ _ — — — — — (6,207 — — (6,207
— — — — — — — (8,287) — — (8,287)
— — — — — — — 46,97¢ (1,629 — 45,35t
— — — — — — — — 45,35¢ — 45,35¢
— — 27,278,00 272 240,56 — — 240,84( — — 240,84(
2,000,001 2C — — 47,85! — — 47,87¢ — — 47,87¢
— — — — — — (8,087) (8,089 (2,84) — (10,92¢)
— — — — 48C — — 48( — — 48C
— — — — — — (2,937) (2,93) (1,240 — (4,177)
2,000,001 2C 27,278,00 275 288,90: — (11,020 278,17! 41,27¢ — 319,44¢
— — 13,800,00 13¢ 106,26° — — 106,40! — — 106,40!
3,000,001 3C — — 72,42 — — 72,45¢ — — 72,45¢
— — 4,873,62! 49 20% — — 254 (254) — —
— — — — — — (19,889 (19,889 (3,177) — (23,06¢)
— — 208,02 2 1,02: — — 1,02t 18C — 1,20t
— — — — — (52¢) — (52¢) (111 — (639)
_ — — = — — (1,076 (1,076 (1,199 — (2,270
5,000,001 5C 46,159,65 462 468,82( (52¢€) (31,98%) 436,81¢ 36,71¢ — 47353
— — 34,500,00 34t 299,72 — — 300,07: — — 300,07:
3,400,001 34 — — 81,68¢ — — 81,72% — — 81,72%
— — 4,414,95 44 30,57« — — 30,61¢ (30,61%) — —
— — — — — — — — — 7,500 7,500
(46,470 (46,47() (1,129 (47,599
— — 327,80¢ 3 2,04¢ — — 2,051 73 — 2,12¢
— — — — — (851) — (851) (30) — (881)
— — — — — — 5,87¢ 5,87¢ (297) 31€ 5,891
8,400,000 $ 84 85,402,40 $ 854 $ 882,85! (1,379 $ (72,57) $ 809,84( $ 4,72; $ 7,81€ $ 822,37t

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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SUMMIT HOTEL PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUMMIT HOTEL PROP ERTIES, LLC (PREDECESSOR)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (in thousands)

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013, 2012 AND 201

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to rethcprovided by operating

activities:

Depreciation and amortizatic

Amortization of prepaid leas

Loss on impairment of asse

Equity-based compensatic

Deferred tax assi

(Gain) loss on disposal of ass

(Gain) loss on derivative financial instrume
Changes in operating assets and liabilit

Restricted cash released (fund

Trade receivable

Prepaid expenses and ot

Accounts payable and accrued expel

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisitions of hotel propertie
Investment in hotel properties under developn
Acquisition of land held for developme
Improvements and additions to hotel propet
Purchases of office furniture and equipm
Proceeds from asset dispositions, net of closiisgs
Restricted cash funde

NET USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of d
Principal payments on de
Financing fees on de
Proceeds from equity offerings, net of offeringtst
Proceeds from contribution by joint venture part
Dividends paid and distributions to memb

NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net change in cash and cash equival

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Beginning of perioc

End of perioc

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATIO

Cash payments for intere
Capitalized interes

Cash payments for income taxes, net of reft

2013 2012 2011
5,897 (2,270 $ (10,389
53,14: 34,87 29,80¢

47 73 47
9,04« 2,96¢ —
2,12¢ 1,20¢ 48¢
3,94¢ (1,801) (2,196)
(4,308) (2,811) 36

2 2 —
(1,309 (69) 78E
(1,759 (1,422) (394)
(3,654) (1,049 1,631
9,25¢ 5,00¢ 4,327
72,43 34,70: 24,14¢

(441,57 (216,89;) (50,017

— (10,30%) —
(2,800) —
(53,227) (29,39¢) (33,51
(39€) (210 —
52,85( 25,88 361
(22,297 (2,091) (316€)

(467,439 (233,00 (83,486)
587,24 130,65¢ 65,38:

(497,805) (82,31%) (268,71
(3,421) (2,399 (4,276)
381,79 178,85¢ 288,71
7,50( — —
(47,599 (23,066) (19,207
427,72 201,74 61,90
32,72¢ 3,44¢ 2,56(
13,98( 10,53; 7,971
46,70¢ 13,98 $ 10,53:
19,98¢ 1559: $ 18,85:

40C 53 $ —
681 43: $ 162

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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SUMMIT HOTEL PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT?

NOTE 1 - DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. (the “Company”) isedf-managed hotel investment company that wasizgd on June 30, 2010 as a Marylanc
corporation. The Company holds both general anddohpartnership interests in Summit Hotel OP, ttfe (Operating Partnership”), a
Delaware limited partnership also organized on BHhe&010. On February 14, 2011, the Company closdts initial public offering (“IPO”)

of 26,000,000 shares of common stock and a conmuyprévate placement of 1,274,000 shares of comstock. Effective February 14, 2011,
the Operating Partnership and Summit Hotel ProggrtiLC (the “Predecessor”) completed the mergé¢h@Predecessor with and into the
Operating Partnership (the “Merger”). Unless thetegt otherwise requires, “we” and “our” refer ketCompany and its subsidiaries.

While the Operating Partnership was the survivaaraf the legal acquirer of the Predecessor in taeghkt, for accounting and financial
reporting purposes, the Predecessor is consideeegictounting acquirer in the Merger. As a refludt historical consolidated financial
statements of the Predecessor are presented laistibrécal consolidated financial statements of @enpany after completion of the Merger
and the related transactions (collectively, thedfganization Transaction”).

Summit Hotel OP, LP, the Operating Partnership islidgny of the Company, filed a Form 15 on Decemiigr2013 to voluntarily suspend its
duty to file periodic and other reports with thee@dties and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) andmarily deregister its common units of
limited partnership interest the Securities andHaxge Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”). As a résiffiling the Form 15 with the SEC, the
Operating Partnership is no longer required todilaual, quarterly or periodic reports with the SEe filing of the Form 15 by the Operat
Partnership does not impact the registration ofQbmpany’s common stock under the Exchange Adi@Qompany’s obligations as a
reporting issuer under the Exchange Act.

At December 31, 2013, our portfolio consists ofu8cale, upper midscale and midscale hotels witttah of 10,908 guestrooms located in 22
states. The hotels are leased to subsidiaries (‘T#¥Sees”) of our taxable REIT subsidiaries (“TRS¥/e indirectly own 100% of the
outstanding equity interests in all but one of ®RS Lessees. We indirectly own an 80% controllimtgriest in the TRS Lessee associated witt
the Holiday Inn Express & Suites in San Franci€a,which we acquired in early 2013 through a joiehture.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentatio

The accompanying consolidated financial statemeintise Company include the accounts of the Compantyits subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany balances and transactions have beeimaled in the consolidated financial statements.

We prepare our consolidated financial statementsiriormity with U.S. generally accepted accounpmigciples, which requires us to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartemints of assets and liabilities at the date@ttdnsolidated financial statements and
reported amounts of revenues and expenses inpbetireg period. Actual results could differ fronofe estimates.

Segment Disclosure

Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”), ASC 2&kgment Reportingestablishes standards for reporting financial degtriptive
information about an enterprise’s reportable sedméfie have determined that we have one reporsagigiment, with activities related to
investing in real estate. Our investments in retdte are geographically diversified and the chjedrating decision makers evaluate operating
performance on an individual asset level. As edauoassets has similar economic characteridtiesassets have been aggregated into one
reportable segment.
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SUMMIT HOTEL PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT?

Investment in Hotel Propertie

We allocate the purchase price of hotel acquisitio®sed on the fair value of the acquired assetassumed liabilities. We determine the
acquisition-date fair values of all assets and rassuliabilities using methods similar to those ubsgdndependent appraisers, for example,
using a discounted cash flow analysis that utileggropriate discount and/or capitalization rate$ @available market information. Estimates
future cash flows are based on a number of fa@taisding historical operating results, known amdi@pated trends, and market and econc
conditions. Acquisition costs are expensed as necur

Our hotel properties and related assets are reg¢@tdeost, less accumulated depreciation. We diggitdoe costs of significant additions and
improvements that materially extend a propertyi&s [These costs may include hotel refurbishmenpvation, and remodeling expenditures.
We expense the cost of repairs and maintenance.

We depreciate our hotel properties and relatedssseng the straight-line method over their estedaiseful lives as follows:

Classification Estimated Useful Lives
Buildings and improvemen 25 to 40 year
Furniture, fixtures and equipme 2 to 15 year:

We periodically re-evaluate asset lives based orentiassessments of remaining utilization, whigymesult in changes in estimated useful
lives. Such changes are accounted for prospectaredywill increase or decrease future depreciaigense.

When depreciable property and equipment is retredisposed of, the related costs and accumulaprediation are removed from the bals
sheet and any gain or loss is reflected in curmpetations.

On a limited basis, we provide financing to develgpof hotel properties for development or majookation projects. We evaluate these
arrangements to determine if we participate inceai profits of the hotel property through the Igaavisions or other agreements. Where we
conclude that these arrangements are more appiedprigeated as an investment in the hotel propergyreflect the loan as an investment in
hotel properties under development in our constdididalance sheets. If classified as hotel pragerthder development, no interest income ic
recognized on the loan and interest expense isatiapd on our investment in the hotel propertyimiyithe construction or renovation period.

We monitor events and changes in circumstancesdizators that the carrying value of a hotel pryper land held for development may be
impaired. Factors that could trigger an impairnamdlysis include, among others: i) significant upgeformance relative to historical or
projected operating results, ii) significant chasgethe manner of use of a property or the stgaté@ur overall business, including changes ir
the estimated holding periods for hotel properied land parcels, iii) a significant increase impetition, iv) a significant adverse change in
legal factors or regulations, and v) significangaiéve industry or economic trends. When such facaoe identified, we prepare an estimate of
the undiscounted future cash flows of the spepifaperty and determine if the investment is recabler. If impairment is indicated, we
estimate the fair value of the property based snalinted cash flows or sales price if the propisriynder contract and an adjustment is made
to reduce the carrying value of the property to Vaiue.

Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operat

We classify assets as held for sale in the periaghich certain criteria are met, including whea Hale of the asset within one year is probs
Assets held for sale are no longer depreciatechamdarried at the lower of carrying amount or ¥ailue, less cost to sell.

We present the results of operations of hotel pta@sethat have been sold or otherwise qualifysaeis held for sale in discontinued operation
if the operations and cash flows of the hotel prtge have been or will be eliminated from our angmperations.
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SUMMIT HOTEL PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT?

We periodically review our hotel properties and tzund held for development based on establisheéekrierisuch as age, type of franchise,
adverse economic and competitive conditions, aradegtic fit, to identify properties which we beleegre either non-strategic or no longer
complement our business.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments purchaségith an original maturity of three months or lésde cash equivalents. At times, cash on
deposit may exceed the federally insured limit. M&ntain our cash with high credit quality finargisstitutions.

Restricted Cas

Restricted cash consists of certain funds mainthimescrow for property taxes, insurance, anda@edapital expenditures. Funds may be
disbursed from the account upon proof of expenégwand approval from the lenders.

Trade Receivables and Credit Policies

We grant credit to qualified customers generallthait collateral, in the form of trade accountsereable. We believe our risk of loss is
minimal due to our periodic evaluations of the dreerthiness of our customers.

Trade receivables result from the rental of hatelns and the sales of food, beverage, and banguétes due under normal trade terms
requiring payment upon receipt of the invoice. Eraglceivables are stated at the amount billedg@tistomer and do not accrue interest.

We review the collectability of our trade receivebmonthly. A provision for losses is determinedtanbasis of previous loss experience and
current economic conditions. Our allowance for dutaccounts was $0.2 million at December 31, 20¥&re were no material uncollectible
receivables and no allowance for doubtful accotedsrded at December 31, 2012. Bad debt expens&®@snillion in 2013, $0.2 million in
2012 and was not significant in 2011.

Deferred Charge

Our deferred charges consist of deferred finanfaeg and initial franchise fees. Costs incurredhtaining financing are capitalized and
amortized on the straight-line method over the tefitihe related debt, which approximates the istemeethod. Initial franchise fees are
capitalized and amortized over the term of thedhése agreement using the straight-line method.

Noncontrolling Interest

A noncontrolling interest represents the portior@dity in a subsidiary held by owners other the@donsolidating parent. Noncontrolling
interests are reported in the consolidated balaheets within equity, separately from shareholdegsity. Revenue, expenses and net income

(loss) attributable to both the Company and nonodlittg interests are reported in the consolidatedements of operations.

Our consolidated financial statements include natrodling interests related to Common Units of @erating Partnership that are held by
unaffiliated third parties and third-party ownegsbif consolidated joint ventures.

Revenue Recognitic

We recognize revenue when rooms are occupied awvitag have been rendered. Revenues are recortlefiarey sales and other taxes
collected from customers. All rebates or discoamésrecorded as a reduction to revenue. Cash estpivor to guest arrival is recorded as an
advance from the customer and is recognized atrtteeof occupancy.
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SUMMIT HOTEL PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT?

Sales and Other Taxes

We have operations in states and municipalitiesithpose sales and/or other taxes on certain Salesollect these taxes from our customers
and remit the entire amount to the various govemntalainits. The taxes collected and remitted acduebed from revenues and are included in
accrued expenses until remitted.

Equity-Based Compensation

Our 2011 Equity Incentive Plan provides for thengiaf stock options, stock appreciation rightstiieted stock, restricted stock units, divide
equivalent rights, and other stock-based awardsa®geunt for equity-based compensation using thel8Echoles option-pricing model for
stock options and the grant date fair value ofaammon stock for all other awards. Restricted stekrds with performance-based vesting
conditions are market-based awards and are vakiad a Monte Carlo simulation model. We expenserdsvander our 2011 Equity Incentive
Plan over the vesting period. The amount of theeagp may be subject to adjustment in future peidoésto a change in forfeiture
assumptions.

Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedgi

All derivative financial instruments are recordedadr value and reported as a derivative finaniciatrument asset or liability in our
consolidated balance sheets. We use interestegitatives to hedge our risks on variable-rate delbérest rate derivatives could include
swaps, caps and floors. We assess the effectiveheseh hedging relationship by comparing chamyésir value or cash flows of the
derivative financial instrument with the changesaim value or cash flows of the designated hedtgd or transaction.

For interest rate derivatives designated as cashtiedges the effective portion of changes invfalue is initially reported as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)eretjuity section of our consolidated balance sham®lgeclassified to interest expense in
our consolidated statements of operations in thiegén which the hedged item affects earnings. ifleéfective portion of changes in fair va
is recognized directly in earnings through gaisg)oon derivative financial instruments in the adiosted statements of operations.

Income Taxe

Commencing with our short taxable year ended DeeerBb, 2011, we elected to be taxed as a REIT wetéain provisions of the Internal
Revenue Code. To qualify as a REIT, we must matdioeorganizational and operational requirementduding a requirement to distribute
annually to our shareholders at least 90% of ouiTR&xable income, determined without regard todbduction for dividends paid and
excluding net capital gains, which does not necédgsmjual net income as calculated in accordanitle generally accepted accounting
principles. As a REIT, we generally will not be fadi to federal income tax (other than taxes pgidlr TRSs) to the extent we currently
distribute 100% of our REIT taxable income to doargholders. If we fail to qualify as a REIT in amayable year, we will be subject to federal
income tax on our taxable income at regular coedracome tax rates and generally will be unableetelect REIT status until the fifth
calendar year after the year in which we failedualify as a REIT, unless we satisfy certain rgbiefvisions.

We account for federal and state income taxes o &8s using the asset and liability method. Defittax assets and liabilities are recognize
for the future tax consequences attributable tiedifices between carrying amounts of existing asset liabilities based on generally acce
accounting principles and respective carrying ansftor tax purposes, and operating losses andreditcarry forwards. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are measured using enacted tax etpected to apply to taxable income in the yeanghich temporary differences are expectec
to be recovered or settled. The effect on defalardssets and liabilities of a change in tax retescognized in income in the period that
includes the enactment date of the change in tas.relowever, deferred tax assets are recognidgdmthe extent that it is more likely than
not they will be realized based on consideratioauafilable evidence, including future reversaltaghble temporary differences, future
projected taxable income and tax planning strasegie
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SUMMIT HOTEL PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT?

Fair Value Measuremel
Fair value measures are classified into a threedi&ir value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inp used in measuring fair value as follows:

Level 1 Observable inputs such as quoted prices in actas&eis.
Level 2 Directly or indirectly observable inputs, otherrhguoted prices in active marke
Level 3 Unobservable inputs in which there is little ormarket data, which require a reporting entity teedep its own assumption

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value aeld on one or more of the following valuation teghes:

Market approacl Prices and other relevant information generatethgket transactions involving identical or compéeadssets or liabilitie

Cost approac Amount required to replace the service capacitgroésset (replacement co:

Income approach Techniques used to convert future amounts to desamgount based on market expectations (includieggnt-value,
optior-pricing, and exce-earnings models

Our estimates of fair value were determined usirgglable market information and appropriate valoatinethods. Considerable judgment is
necessary to interpret market data and develomatgd fair value. The use of different market agstions or estimation methods may have a
material effect on the estimated fair value amauis classify assets and liabilities in the failueshierarchy based on the lowest level of ir
that is significant to the fair value measurement.

We elected not to use the fair value option fohcasd cash equivalents, restricted cash, tradévedites, prepaid expenses and other, debt,
accounts payable, and accrued expenses. With tepten of our fixed-rate debt, the carrying amsuwitthese financial instruments
approximate their fair values due to their shontrt@ature or variable interest rates.

New Accounting Standart

In the first quarter of 2013, we adopted AccountBtgndards Update (“ASU”) 2013—02pmprehensive Income (Topic 220): Reporting of
Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other Celmrsive IncomiASU 2013—02 required an entity to separately previdormation
about the effects on net income of certain sigaiftcamounts reclassified out of each componentairaulated other comprehensive income.

Adoption of this new standard did not have a mateffect on our consolidated financial statements.
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SUMMIT HOTEL PROPERTIES, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT?

NOTE 3 - HOTEL PROPERTY ACQUISITIONS

Hotel property acquisitions in 2013 and 2012 inel(ieh thousands):

Purchase Debt

Date Acquired Franchise/Brand Location Price Assumed
2013

January 2. Hyatt Place Chicago (Hoffman Estates), 9,23( % —
January 2: Hyatt Place Orlando (Convention), F 12,25: —
January 2: Hyatt Place Orlando (Universal), Fl 11,84: —
February 11 IHG / Holiday Inn Express & Suite  (a) San Francisco, C, 60,50( 23,42
March 11 SpringHill Suites by Marriot New Orleans, LA 33,09¢ —
March 11 Courtyard by Marriot New Orleans (Convention), L 30,82} —
March 11 Courtyard by Marriot New Orleans (French Quarter), 1 25,68 —
March 11 Courtyard by Marriot New Orleans (Metairie), L/ 23,53¢ —
March 11 Residence Inn by Marrio New Orleans (Metairie), L/ 19,89( —
April 30 Hilton Garden Inr Greenville, SC 15,25( —
May 21 IHG / Holiday Inn Express & Suite Minneapolis (Minnetonka), M! 6,90( 3,72¢
May 21 Hilton Garden Inr Minneapolis (Eden Prairie), M 10,20( 6,38¢
May 23 Fairfield Inn & Suites by Marriot Louisville, KY 25,02 —
May 23 SpringHill Suites by Marriot Louisville, KY 39,13¢ —
May 23 Courtyard by Marriot Indianapolis, IN 58,63« —
May 23 SpringHill Suites by Marriot Indianapoalis, IN 30,20¢ —
October 1 Hilton / Hampton Inn & Suite Ventura (Camarillo), C/ 15,75( —
October € Hilton / Hampton Inn & Suite San Diego (Poway), C. 15,15( —
December 3: Hyatt Place Minneapolis, MN 32,50¢ —
Total 2013 19 hotel properties 475,61 $ 33,53:
2012

January 1. Courtyard by Matrriott (b Atlanta, GA 28,90 $ 19,01:
February 2¢ Hilton Garden Inr Birmingham (Liberty Park), Al 11,50( —
February 2¢ Hilton Garden Inr Birmingham (Lakeshore), A 8,62°¢ —
May 16 Courtyard by Marriot Dallas (Arlington), TX 15,00( —
May 16 Hilton Garden Inr Nashville (Smyrna), T! 11,50( 8,70¢
June 21 Hilton / Hampton Inn & Suite Nashville (Smyrna), T! 8,00( 5,38¢
July 2 Residence Inn by Marrio Dallas (Arlington), TX 15,50( —
October £ Hyatt Place Dallas (Arlington), TX 9,05¢ —
October £ Hyatt Place Denver (Lone Tree), Ci 10,53( —
October £ Hyatt Place Denver (Englewood), Ct 11,51¢ —
October £ Hyatt House Denver (Englewood), Ct 13,48( —
October £ Hyatt Place Baltimore (Owings Mills), M 10,23t —
October £ Hyatt Place Chicago (Lombard), Il 17,02t —
October &£ Hyatt Place Phoenix, AZ 5,02( —
October £ Hyatt Place Scottsdale, Az 10,53( —
October 2: Hilton Garden Inr Fort Worth, TX 7,20( —
December 2: Residence Inn by Marrio Salt Lake City, UT 19,95¢ 14,05¢
December 2 Hyatt Place Long Island (Garden City), N 31,00( —
December 2 Hilton / Hampton Inn & Suite Tampa (Ybor City), FL 20,84 —
Total 2012 19 hotel propertie 26541t $ 47,16:

(a) This hotel property was acquired by a joint veniareshich we own an 80% controlling intere
(b) We acquired a 90% controlling interest in this hpteperty and we are obligated to acquire the ieimg ownership in 2016 for $0.4
million. The $0.4 million has been accrued as killiz and is included in the purchase price abc
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SUMMIT HOTEL PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT?

The allocation of the aggregated purchase pricésetdair value of assets and liabilities acquiiedthe above acquisitions, including $10.3
million of properties under development at Decen81er2012, follows (in thousands):

2013 2012
Land $ 61,77¢ $ 33,87
Hotel buildings and improvemer 395,54: 220,59¢
Furniture, fixtures and equipme 18,29¢ 10,94t
Other asset 11,27: 62¢
Total assets acquire 486,88t 266,04
Debt assume 33,53: 47,16.
Other liabilities 1,48( 1,99:¢
Net assets acquire $ 45187« $ 216,89

In connection with our acquisition of the Hyatt &dn Minneapolis, MN on December 31, 2013, thestautding principal balance of our first
mortgage loan receivable and related capitalizegtest, totaling $20.7 million, was credited toasspart of the purchase price consideration.

Total revenues and net income for hotel propega@giired in 2013 and 2012, which are included incmnsolidated statements of operations
for the years 2013 and 2012, are (in thousands):

2013 Acquisitions 2012 Acquisitions
2013 2013 2012
Revenue: $ 76,67 $ 76,08¢ $ 24,93¢
Net income $ 13,39¢ $ 9,07 $ 1,75¢

The results of operations of acquired hotel progerre included in the consolidated statementgpefations beginning on their respective
acquisition dates. The following unaudited conddna® forma financial information presents the tessof operations as if the 2013 and 2012
acquisitions had taken place on January 1, 201@ uRaudited condensed pro forma information exdutiecontinued operations, is for
comparative purposes only, and is not necessadligative of what actual results of operations widuive been had the hotel acquisitions
taken place on January 1, 2012. This informatiogsdwot purport to represent results of operationguture periods.

The unaudited condensed pro forma financial infaionafor 2013 and 2012, assuming the hotel propgmicquired in 2013 and 2012 were
acquired at the beginning of 2012, follows (in thands, except per share):

2013 2012
(unaudited)
Revenue! $ 328,59 $ 310,92¢
Net income $ 16,70 $ 35,20:
Net income per share attributable to common shiders— j
basic and dilute: $ 0.0 % 0.7t
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SUMMIT HOTEL PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT?

NOTE 4 - INVESTMENT IN HOTEL PROPERTIES

Investment in hotel properties at December 31, 20482012 include (in thousands):

2013 2012

Land $ 154,83. $ 105,57:
Hotel buildings and improvemer 993,37: 649,69¢
Construction in progres 24,24; —
Furniture, fixtures and equipme 142,97t 124,38!
1,315,42. 879,65!

Less accumulated depreciati 165,45 145,29:
$ 1,149,96 $ 734,36.

Depreciation expense was $48.9 million, $28.0 onlland $22.5 million for 2013, 2012 and 2011.
NOTE 5 - INVESTMENT IN HOTEL PROPERTIES UNDER DEVEL OPMENT

In 2012, we entered into an agreement with aniafilof Hyatt Hotels Corporation to fund $20.3 ioifl in the form of a first mortgage loan on
a hotel property in downtown Minneapolis, MN. TH20$3 million represented a portion of the totaludsijion cost and renovation costs
expected to be incurred to convert the property lityatt Place hotel. In the fourth quarter of 2048,purchased the hotel property for $32.6
million. Since we participated in the residual [p0bf the hotel property, we classified this Ieenan investment in hotel properties under
development. We capitalized interest expense oneestment of $0.4 million in 2013 and $0.1 miflim 2012. The outstanding principal
balance of the loan and accrued interest weretekth us as part of the purchase price considerati acquisition, which was completed on
December 31, 2013.

NOTE 6 - ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Assets held for sale at December 31, 2013 and 2@litle (in thousands):

2013 2012
Land $ 1,187 $ 3,092
Building 10,29( 1,474
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 751 27C

$ 12,22 $ 4,83¢

At December 31, 2013, assets held for sale indlod&@mericinn Hotel & Suites and the Aspen HoteBdites in Fort Smith, AR, which were
sold on January 17, 2014, and the Hampton Inn ih $mith, AR and a land parcel in Spokane, WA, \hace under contract to sell.

At December 31, 2012, assets held for sale indlndé@mericinn Hotel & Suites in Golden, CO, whichssold on January 15, 2013; a land
parcel in Jacksonville, FL, which was sold on Feloyl27, 2013; and a land parcel in Missoula, MTiollwas sold on August 21, 2013.
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NOTE 7 - RESTRICTED CASH

Restricted cash at December 31, 2013 and 2012desl(in thousands):

2013 2012
Property taxe $ 2,12¢ 1,18¢
Insurance 59 18C
FF&E reserve: 35,82¢ 2,25¢
Other funds in escro 492 —
$ 38,49¢ 3,62¢
NOTE 8 - PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER
Prepaid expenses and other at December 31, 2013042dinclude (in thousands):
2013 2012
Deposits on pending acquisitio $ 5,11¢ 2,75¢
Prepaid insuranc 1,31¢ 663
Other 2,44¢ 1,88¢
$ 8,87¢ 5,311
NOTE 9 - DEFERRED CHARGES
Deferred charges at December 31, 2013 and 201zd&din thousands):
2013 2012
Initial franchise fee: $ 5,957 6,201
Deferred financing cos 7,84¢ 9,50(
13,80: 15,70
Less accumulated amortizati 3,53 6,80¢
Total $ 10,27( 8,89¢
Amortization expense for 2013, 2012 and 2011 wash@usands):
2013 2012 2011
Initial franchise fee: $ 411 35E 511
Deferred financing cos 1,85¢ 2,28¢ 1,29:
$ 2,26t 2,64: 1,804
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Future amortization expense is expected to béh@ingands):

2014 $ 1,86:
2015 1,83
2016 1,57
2017 1,27¢
2018 81z
Thereaftel 2,90¢

$ 10,27(

NOTE 10 - OTHER ASSETS

Other assets at December 31, 2013 and 2012 in¢ilutleousands):

2013

Prepaid land leas $ 3,42( 3,46¢
Seller financed notes receival 3,121 73%
Other 112 —

$ 6,654 4,201
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NOTE 11 - DEBT

At December 31, 2013, our debt is comprised ofréoseinsecured credit facility and mortgage loagsused by various hotel properties. At
December 31, 2013 and 2012 our debt included ¢ngands):

Interest Rate a  Amortization

Number of
Note December 31, Period Properties
Lender Reference 2013 (a) (Years) Maturity Date Encumbered 2013 2012
Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facil
Deutsche Bank AG New York Bran (b) — — — — 3 — $ 58,00(
Senior Unsecured Credit Facili
Deutsche Bank AG New York Bran (b)
$ 225 Million Revolver n/a n/a October 10, 201 n/e — —
$ 75 Million Term Loan 4.15% Variable n/a October 10, 201 n/e 75,00( —
Total Senior Unsecured Credit Facil 75,00( —
Mortgage Loan:
ING Life Insurance and Annuit (c) 6.10% Fixec 20 March 1, 203: 14 64,30¢ 66,17«
(c) 4.55% Fixec 25 August 1, 203t 33,75« —
KeyBank National Associatio (d) 4.46% Fixec 30 February 1. 202 4 28,96! —
(e) 4.52% Fixec 30 April 1, 2023 3 22,42 —
U] 4.30% Fixec 30 April 1, 2023 3 21,76° —
(9) 4.95% Fixec 30 August 1, 202: 2 38,49° —
Bank of America Commercial Mortgay (h) 6.41% Fixec 25 September 1, 201 1 8,38: 8,59:
Merrill Lynch Mortgage Lending Inc 0) 6.38% Fixec 30 August 1, 201¢ 1 5,24¢ 5,341
GE Capital Financial Inc @) 6.03% Fixec 25 May 1, 2017 2 14,57¢ 14,85
MetaBank (k) — — — — — 6,78¢
(k) 4.25% Fixec 20 August 1, 201¢ 1 7,34¢ —
Bank of Cascade (0] 4.66% Fixec 25 September 30, 20z 1 11,98¢ 12,28:
Goldman Sach (m) 5.67% Fixec 25 July 6, 201¢ 2 14,09( 14,37¢
Compass Ban (n) 4.57% Fixec 20 May 17, 201¢ 1 13,32t 14,14+
General Electric Capital Corporatir (0) 5.46% Fixec 25 April 1, 2017 1 5,371 5,481
(0) 5.46% Fixec 25 April 1, 2017 1 6,29( 6,41¢
(p) — — — — — 10,56¢
(o) 4.82% Fixec 20 April 1, 2018 1 7,612 7,99¢
(o) 5.03% Fixec 25 March 1, 201¢ 1 10,10¢ 10,43«
AlIG (5] 6.11% Fixec 20 January 1, 201 1 13,51¢ 14,05¢
Greenwich Capital Financial Products, | (s) 6.20% Fixec 30 January 6, 201 1 23,10° —
Wells Fargo Bank, National Associati ) 5.53% Fixec 25 October 1, 201! 1 3,652 —
(u) 5.57% Fixec 25 January 1, 201 1 6,261 —
First National Bank of Omar (v) — — — — — 8,241
(v) — — — — — 14,66:
Chambers Ban (w) — — — — — 1,417
BNC National x) — — — — — 5,30¢
Bank of the Ozark (y) — — — — — 8,77¢
Empire Financial Services, In (2) — — — — — 18,69¢
Total Mortgage Loan 43 360,58¢ 254,61,
Total Debt 42 $ 435,58 $ 312,61:
Notes:

(a) Interest rates at December 31, 2013 give effeatir use of interest rate swaps, where appkcabl

(b) On October 10, 2013, we replaced our $150.0amikenior secured revolving credit facility wigh$300.0 million senior unsecured credit
facility. The unsecured credit facility is compidgsef a $225.0 million revolving credit facility @t'$225 Million Revolver”) and a $75.0
million term loan (the “$75 Million Term Loan”and has an accordion feature which will allow ugityease the commitments by an aggre
of $100.0 million on the $225 Million Revolver atite $75 Million Term Loan.

The senior unsecured credit facility requires timtess than 20 of our hotel properties remain cuetbered, as defined in the credit facility
documentation, and also requires compliance witlecants customary among our
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industry peers. The $225 Million Revolver matures@xtober 10, 2017 and can be extended to Octdhe201L8 at our option, subject to
certain conditions. The $75 Million Term Loan masion October 10, 2018.

We pay interest on advances at varying rates, hasewl, at our option, either (i) 1, 2, 3, or 6-nfohtBOR, plus a LIBOR margin between
1.75% and 2.50%, depending upon our leverage (@asidefined in the credit facility documentatiaor)(ii) the applicable base rate, which is
the greatest of the administrative agent’s printe, he federal funds rate plus 0.50%, or 1-moriBR plus 1.00%, plus a base rate margin
between 0.75% and 1.50%, depending upon our legae®. Unused fees are payable quarterly andssessed at 0.30% per annum if the
unused portion of the credit facility is equal togoeater than 50%, or 0.20% per annum if the whpsetion of the credit facility is less than
50%.

On December 27, 2013, we fully drew the $75 Milliberm Loan at a variable interest rate of 4.15%S@ptember 5, 2013, we entered into a
interest rate derivative with a notional value @5% million that became effective on January 24£28nd matures on October 1, 2018. This
interest rate derivative was designated a cashliledge and effectively fixes LIBOR at 2.04%. Thierest rate on the $75 Million Term Loan
was 3.94% at January 2, 2014.

At December 31, 2013, 32 of our unencumbered hpotgderties are included in the borrowing baseHlerdenior unsecured credit facility, and
are required to remain unencumbered. As a refegltmaximum amount of borrowing permitted undersigior unsecured credit facility was
$270.7 million, of which, we had $75.0 million bowed, $0.2 million in standby letters of creditde$195.5 million available to borrow.

(c) On August 1, 2013, we entered into a new $&4lllon loan with ING with a fixed rate of 4.55% dra maturity of August 1, 2038. ING h
the right to call the loan in full on March 1st @019, 2024, 2029 and 2034. Simultaneously, we detkour existing loan with ING to

(i) remove the Fairfield Inn & Suites and the Resice Inn, Germantown, TN; the Hampton Inn, ForttByAiR; and the Fairfield Inn,
Lewisville, TX from the collateral and (ii) remo3.9 million in letters of credit from the colla#érWe also added the Courtyard by Marriott,
Jackson, MS; the Hampton Inn & Suites, Ybor, FLd &me Courtyard by Marriott and the Residence Metairie, LA as collateral to the two
notes, such that both ING loans are secured bgah® 14 hotel properties and are cross-defaulted.

(d) On January 25, 2013, we closed on a $29.4anilban with a fixed rate of 4.46% and a maturftyrebruary 1, 2023. This loan is secured
by four of the Hyatt Place hotels we acquired indber 2012. These hotels are located in Chicagm{aod), IL; Denver (Lone Tree), CO;
Denver (Englewood), CO; and Dallas (Arlington), TXhis loan is subject to defeasance if prepaid.

(e) On March 7, 2013, we closed on a $22.7 millaan with a fixed rate of 4.52% and a maturity @friA1, 2023. This loan is secured by th
of the Hyatt hotels we acquired in October 2012 sehhotels include a Hyatt House in Denver (EngteloCO and Hyatt Place hotels in
Baltimore (Owings Mills), MD and Scottsdale, AZhi$ loan is subject to defeasance if prepaid.

(f) On March 8, 2013, we closed on a $22.0 millioan with a fixed rate of 4.30% and a maturity gfrih1, 2023. This loan is secured by the
three Hyatt Place hotels we acquired in Januar Z0tese hotels are located in Chicago (HoffmaatEsj, IL; Orlando (Convention), FL; a
Orlando (Universal), FL. This loan is subject tdedsance if prepaid.

(g) On July 22, 2013, we closed on a $38.7 millman with a fixed rate of 4.95% and a maturity afgiist 1, 2023. This loan is secured by
Marriott hotels we acquired in May 2013. These Isoteclude a Fairfield Inn & Suites and SpringH8llites in Louisville, KY. This loan is
subject to defeasance if prepaid.

(h) On May 16, 2012, we assumed a loan in our adtopri of the Hilton Garden Inn in Smyrna, TN. Thisin is subject to defeasance if
prepaid.
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(i) On June 21, 2012, we assumed a loan in ourisitign of the Hampton Inn & Suites in Smyrna, THhis loan is subject to defeasance if
prepaid.

() On April 4, 2012, we closed on two loans sedung the Courtyard by Marriott and the SpringHillités by Marriott in Scottsdale, AZ.
These loans have prepayment penalties of 1% pfessiEnce and are cross-defaulted and cross-callagst.

(k) On May 1, 2013, we paid off a $6.7 million lotivat had an interest rate of 4.95%, a maturite d&t-ebruary 1, 2017 and was secured by
two hotel properties. There was no associated preeat penalty.

On July 26, 2013, we closed on a $7.4 million ladth a fixed rate of 4.25% and a maturity of Auglis018. This loan is secured by the
Hyatt Place in Atlanta, GA. We expect to receivditdnal proceeds of $1.3 million after the Hyalhé® attains a required performance level
post renovation. This loan has a prepayment pepé&li§) 3% until July 26, 2015, (i) 2% until JuB6, 2017, and (iii) 1% until February 1,
2018.

() This loan is secured by the Residence Inn byridt in Portland, OR. The fixed rate of 4.66%etsson September 30, 2016 to the then-
current Federal Home Loan Bank of Seattle Interatediong-Term Advances Five-year Fixed Rate pl08%. This loan has a prepayment
penalty of: (i) 4% until October 1, 2015, (ii) 3%til October 1, 2017, (iii) 2% until October 1, )Jand (iv) 1% until July 2, 2021.

(m) This loan is secured by the SpringHill SuitgsMarriott and the Hampton Inn & Suites in Bloomiog, MN. This loan is subject to
defeasance if prepaid.

(n) This loan is secured by the Courtyard by Mériio Flagstaff, AZ and has a variable interest raft 30-day LIBOR plus 350 basis points
(3.67% at December 31, 2013). On October 11, 2@&Zntered into an interest rate derivative thizictizely converted 85% of this loan to a
fixed rate.

(o) On March 2, 2012, we entered into two loanglierpurchase of two Hilton Garden Inns in Birmiagh(Lakeshore and Liberty Park), AL.
The interest rate on these loans is fixed for it three years and then each loan will conves wariable rate of 90-day LIBOR plus 5.28%.
The loans may not be prepaid in the first yeartzane prepayment penalties in the second year cdrdn the third year of 1%. These loans
are cross-defaulted and cross-collateralized.

(p) On October 31, 2013, we paid off a $10.3 millioan that had an interest rate of 4.10%, a ntgtdéte of April 1, 2014 and was securec
one hotel property. Three additional properties atetter of credit were also released as secfmitthis and two additional loans with the
lender. In connection with the early payoff of than we terminated a related interest rate swaprendred termination costs of less than $0.1
million, which were charged to debt transactiontsos

(q) These loans are secured by the SpringHill SudeMarriott in Denver, CO and the Double TreBaton Rouge, LA. These loans have a
variable interest rate of 90-day LIBOR plus 350i®asints. On May 4, 2012, we entered into interat# derivatives that effectively converted
these loans to a fixed rate. These loans are clefseHted and cross-collateralized.

(r) On December 20, 2012, we assumed a loan imoguisition of the Residence Inn by Marriott int3alke City, UT. This loan has a
prepayment penalty of the greater of 1% or thedymehintenance premium.

(s) On February 11, 2013, we assumed a loan imaoguisition (through a joint venture) of the Holjdan Express & Suites in San Francisco,
CA. This loan has an interest rate of 6.20% andauurity date of January 6, 2016. This loan is stitiie defeasance if prepaid.

(t) On May 21, 2013, we assumed a loan in our attipm of the Holiday Inn Express & Suites in Mimpslis (Minnetonka), MN. This loan
has an interest rate of 5.53% and a maturity da@ctober 1, 2015. This loan is subject to defeasahprepaid.
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(u) On May 21, 2013, we assumed a loan in our adatpn of the Hilton Garden Inn in Minneapolis (Ederairie), MN. This loan has an
interest rate of 5.57% and a maturity date of Jania2016. This loan is subject to defeasancedpapid.

(v) On January 14, 2013, we paid off two loansltoge$22.8 million that had variable interest ratdé90-day LIBOR plus 4.00% and a floor of
5.25%. These loans had maturity dates of July 1320hd February 1, 2014 and were secured by tloteé properties. There were no
associated prepayment penalties.

(w) On September 24, 2013, we paid off a $1.3 anilloan that had an interest rate of 6.50%, a ntatdate of June 24, 2014 and was secure
by one hotel property. There was no associatedagrepnt penalty.

(x) On September 27, 2013, we paid off a $5.1 onilloan that had an interest rate of 5.01%, a ritgtiate of November 1, 2013 and was
secured by one hotel property. There was no asedgmepayment penalty.

(y) On November 12, 2013, we paid off an $8.6 miillloan that had an interest rate of 5.75%, a ntptdate of July 10, 2017 and was securec
by one hotel property. There was no associatedagrapnt penalty.

(z) On December 20, 2013, we paid off an $18.4ionilloan that had an interest rate of 6.00%, a ritgtdate of February 1, 2017 and was
secured by one hotel property. There was no asedgmepayment penalty.

On May 23, 2013, we closed on a $92.0 million Valgaate senior secured interim loan with KeyBan#él Regions Bank, with a maturity of
November 23, 2013. This loan was secured by a plefithe equity interest in the subsidiaries thvah the Fairfield Inn & Suites ar
SpringHill Suites by Marriott in Louisville, KY anthe Courtyard and SpringHill Suites by Marriotimdianapolis, IN, and was croggefaultec
with our $150.0 million senior secured revolvingdit facility. In the third quarter of 2013, we gdaiff the senior secured interim loan using
proceeds from a new mortgage loan with KeyBank@ndeeds from our September 19, 2013 common stibekry.

Our total fixed-rate and variable-rate debt at Deloer 31, 2013 and 2012, after giving effect toioterest rate derivatives, follows (in
thousands):

2013 2012
Fixec-rate deb $ 358,59( $ 229,58
Variable-rate deb 76,99¢ 83,02¢

$ 43558¢ $ 312,61

Maturities of long-term debt for each of the naxefyears are (in thousands):

2014 $ 9,16¢
2015 13,03¢
2016 67,01:
2017 39,21
2018 103,12¢
Thereaftel 204,03

$ 435,58¢

The weighted average interest rate for all borrgwiwas 5.03% and 5.15% at December 31, 2013 ar] Bfdpectively.

F-23




Table of Contents

SUMMIT HOTEL PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT?

Information about the fair value of our fixed-rakebt that is not recorded at fair value followstfinusands):

2013 2012
Carrying Carrying
Value Fair Value Value Fair Value Valuation Technique
Fixec-rate deb $ 329,54: $ 319,42¢ $ 188,56! $ 193,44{ Level 2- Market approac

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, we had $104.0 mikiod $41.0 million, respectively, of debt with iadte interest rates that had been
converted to fixed interest rates through derivafimancial instruments which are carried at failue. Differences between carrying value and
fair value of our fixed-rate debt are primarily dimechanges in interest rates. Inherently, fixed-tebt is subject to fluctuations in fair value.
NOTE 12 - ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accrued expenses at December 31, 2013 and 201&im¢in thousands):

2013 2012
Accrued sales and property ta $ 10,35¢ $ 8,89:
Accrued salaries and benel 7,17¢ 5,56
Accrued interes 1,721 1,031
Other accrued expens 7,89¢ 3,49¢

$ 27,15¢ % 18,98¢

NOTE 13 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Ground Leases

We lease land for two hotel properties in Fort iR under the terms of operating ground leaseeagents expiring in August of 2022 and
May of 2030. We have options to renew these lefsgzeriods that range from 5 to 30 years. We |éaise for one hotel property in Duluth,
GA under the terms of an operating ground leaseemgent expiring April 1, 2069. We also have a piefzand lease for two hotel properties in
Portland, OR which expires in June of 2084 anda&eeimaining prepaid balance of $3.4 million andb3$8illion at December 31, 2013 and
2012, respectively. We have one option to extbrslléase for an additional 14 years. Total repease for these leases for 2013, 2012 and
2011 was $0.5 million, $0.5 million and $0.4 miliarespectively.

Future minimum rental payments for noncancelabkraiing leases with a remaining term in excessefyear are (in thousands):

2014 $ 56¢
2015 58C
2016 591
2017 60z
2018 474
Thereaftel 30,91¢

$ 33,73¢
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In addition, we lease land for one hotel propent@arden City, NY under a PILOT (payment in lieuafes) lease. We pay a reduced amount
of property tax each year of the lease as rent.|ddmse expires on December 31, 2019. Upon expirafithe lease, we expect to exercise our
right to acquire a fee simple interest in the htgehominal consideration.

Franchise Agreements

All of our hotel properties, except for our indedent hotel, operate under franchise agreementsmagbr hotel franchisors. The terms of our
franchise agreements generally range from 10 tpe2@s with various extension provisions. Each fnésar receives franchise fees ranging
from 2% to 6% of each hotel propesyjross revenue, and some agreements require ehadywmarketing fees of up to 4% of gross revetm
addition, some of these franchise agreements rethat we deposit a percentage of the hotel prgpagtoss revenue, generally not more than
5%, into a reserve fund for capital expendituras2013, 2012 and 2011, we expensed fees relatar thranchise agreements of $27.7 million,
$20.7 million and $15.2 million, respectively.

Management Agreements

Our hotel properties operate pursuant to manageaggaements with various third-party managementpzones. The terms of our
management agreements range from three to twergyyéiars with various extension provisions. Eachagament company receives a base
management fee, generally a percentage of total paoiperty revenues. In some cases there areralathly fees for certain services, such as
accounting, based on number of rooms. Generalhgthee also incentive fees based on attaininginditencial thresholds. In 2013, 2012 and
2011, we expensed fees related to our hotel maregeagreements of $13.5 million, $9.2 million arkd®million, respectively.

Pending Hotel Property Acquisitions

We have a purchase agreement with a hotel progextgloper to acquire a Hampton Inn & Suites in dimwm Minneapolis, MN for $37.7
million, subject to certain conditions includingethompletion of construction of the hotel in aceorce with agreed upon architectural and
engineering designs, receipt of a Hampton Inn &&3uiranchise, and receipt of a certificate of pescy. We estimate that the property will
completed in mid-2015.

Litigation

We are involved from time to time in litigation sirig in the ordinary course of business; howeverave not currently aware of any actions
against us that we believe would have a signifid@piact on our financial condition or results ofogtions.

In 2011, Choice Hotels International, Inc. (“Chdicerminated the franchise agreements on 11 ohotel properties. We filed an arbitration
action against Choice claiming wrongful terminatafrour franchise agreements. In response to doitration action, Choice made
counterclaims of fraudulent inducement, negligeisrapresentation, breach of contract, and tradem#&ikgement. The parties agreed to
litigate all claims in the arbitration action. IrpAl 2012, the arbitration panel determined, amotiger things, that Choice improperly
terminated the 11 franchise agreements, that Chadsenot entitled to recover liquidated damagesoimection with the 11 hotel properties,
and that we did not make any materially false asleaiding statements to Choice or omit any matarfafmation. The panel awarded us
damages in the amount of $0.3 million as full setént of all claims submitted in the arbitratiore Véceived these funds on April 30, 2012.
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NOTE 14 - EQUITY
Common Stock

On February 14, 2011, we completed our IPO of ZB@I shares of common stock and our concurrewatgrplacement of 1,274,000 shares
of common stock. Net proceeds received from thedR®the concurrent private placement were $24@l®m after underwriting discounts
and offering-related expenses of $25.0 million. penarily used the proceeds to pay down debt.

On October 3, 2012, we completed an underwrittdlipoffering of 13,800,000 shares of common stdtkt proceeds were $106.4 million,
after the underwriting discount and offerirglated expenses of $6.1 million. We used the mds¢o fund the cash portion of acquisitions ¢
hotel properties that were under contract to pwsetend pay down the principal balance of our sesgoured revolving credit facility.

On January 14, 2013, we completed an underwrittéfigoffering of 17,250,000 shares of common stdéét proceeds were $148.1 million,
after the underwriting discount and offering-rethexpenses of $7.2 million. We used the proceefisni hotel property acquisitions and to
pay down our mortgage debt and our senior secangaving credit facility.

On September 19, 2013, we completed an underwpttblic offering of 17,250,000 shares of commortistdNet proceeds were $152.0
million, after the underwriting discount and offegirelated expenses of $6.5 million. We used tloeqeds to fund hotel property acquisitions,
to pay off our senior secured interim loan, angddg down our senior secured revolving credit facili

In 2013 and 2012, we issued 4,414,950 shares 813,625 shares, respectively, of common stocknddd partners of the Operating
Partnership upon redemption of their Common Uhit2013 and 2012, we issued 327,806 shares an@2Z08hares, respectively, of common
stock to our independent directors and executifieert pursuant to our 2011 Equity Incentive Plan.

Preferred Stock

On October 28, 2011, we completed an underwritténip offering of 2,000,000 shares of 9.25% SeAdSumulative Redeemable Preferred
Stock. Net proceeds were $47.9 million, after thdarwriting discount and offering-related expernse$2.1 million. We used the proceeds to
pay down the principal balance of our senior settuegolving credit facility.

On December 11, 2012, we completed an underwiittdatic offering of 3,000,000 shares of 7.875% SeBeCumulative Redeemable
Preferred Stock. Net proceeds were $72.5 millifter ahe underwriting discount and offering-relatgenses of $2.5 million. We used the
proceeds to pay down the principal balance of enicg secured revolving credit facility.

On March 20, 2013, we completed an underwritterlipwiffering of 3,400,000 shares of 7.125% SeriegSunulative Redeemable Preferred
Stock. Net proceeds were $81.7 million, after thdarwriting discount and offering-related expernse$3.3 million. We used the proceeds to
pay down the principal balance of our senior settuegolving credit facility.

Our Series A, Series B and Series C preferred dtack a $25 per share liquidation preference apdipédends at an annual rate of $2.3125
per share of Series A, $1.96875 per share of SBriaad $1.78125 per share of Series C prefermak sDividend payments are made quart
in arrears on or about the last day of February,Magust and November of each year.

Noncontrolling Interests in Operating Partners

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, unaffiliated thiadties owned 811,425 and 5,226,375 Common UnitseoOperating Partnership
representing 1% and 10% limited partnership intdérethe Operating Partnership, respectively.
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Pursuant to the limited partnership agreement,niméigg) one year after the date of issuance, thefiliagfd limited partners of the Operating
Partnership have the right to cause the Operatmméership to redeem their Common Units for caslabour option, for shares of our comn
stock on a one-for-one basis. Any cash paymemhteibased upon the market value of an equivalemtber of our shares of common stock at
the time of redemption. The number of shares ofconnmon stock issuable upon redemption of CommadtsWmay be adjusted upon the
occurrence of certain events such as share dividehére subdivisions or combinations.

In 2013, we redeemed 4,414,950 Common Units fdat#4960 shares of our common stock. In 2012, wearaee 4,873,625 Common Units
4,873,625 shares of our common stock.

We classify outstanding Common Units held by utiatéd third parties as noncontrolling interestspenponent of equity in our consolidated
balance sheets. The portion of net income (lossgated to these Common Units is reported on onsalidated statement of operations for the
years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 and tregegbruary 14, 2011 through December 31, 201kamoome (loss) attributable
noncontrolling interests in Operating Partnership.

Noncontrolling Interests in Joint Ventt

On February 11, 2013, we formed a joint venturéait affiliate of IHG to purchase a Holiday Inn Esgs & Suites in San Francisco, CA. We
own an 80% controlling interest in the joint ver@and our partner owns a 20% interest. We classifypartner’'s 20% interest as
noncontrolling interest in joint venture on our sofidated balance sheets. The portion of net incgnss) allocated to our partner is reported
on our consolidated statements of operations aso@me (loss) attributable to noncontrolling irt&ts in joint venture.

NOTE 15 - BENEFIT PLANS

On August 1, 2011, we initiated a qualified conitiry retirement plan (the “Plan”), under Sectid@i) of the Internal Revenue Code which
covers all full-time employees who meet certaigibliity requirements. Voluntary contributions mag made to the Plan by employees. The
Plan is a Safe Harbor Plan and requires a mandatopjoyer contribution. The employer contributioqpense for the years ended

December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $0.1 mil§6rl million and $0.1 million, respectively.

NOTE 16 - EQUITY-BASED COMPENSATION

Our equity-based awards were issued under our EQuity Incentive Plan, which provides for the giragtof stock options, stock appreciation
rights, restricted stock, restricted stock unitgidend equivalent rights, and other equity-basedras or incentive awards. Stock options
granted may be either incentive stock options omgoalified stock options. Vesting terms may varytwagach grant, and stock option terms are
generally five to ten years. We have outstandingtedpased awards in the form of stock options andiotstr stock awards. All of our existi
equity-based awards are classified as equity awards

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company hadvex$d.0,485,951 and 7,544,665 shares of commoR,stespectively, for the issuance
common stock (i) upon the exercise of stock optismiance of time-based restricted stock awasdsance of performance-based restricted
stock awards, grants of director stock awardstleeroawards issued pursuant to the Company’s 2@uityElncentive Plan, (ii) upon
redemption of Common Units, or (iii) under the ATd¥fering.

Stock Options

Concurrent with the completion of our IPO, we geshbptions to our executive officers to purchad®,®30 shares of common stock, 47,00
which were forfeited in 2012. These options havexercise price of $9.75 per share, the marketevafuhe common stock on the date of
grant, and vest ratably over five years based atirnoed service, or upon a change in control.
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The fair value of stock options granted was esthatsing a Black-Scholes valuation model and tHeviing assumptions:

2011
Expected dividend yiel 5.0%
Expected stock price volatilit 56.6%
Risk-free interest rat 2.5%
Expected life of options (in year 6.5
Weighted average estimated fair value of options
at grant date per sha $ 3.4¢

The expected dividend yield was calculated baseauomnnual expected dividend payments at the tia@ptions were granted. The expecte
volatility was based on historical price changea pker group of comparable entities based ondpected life of the options at the date of
grant. The risk-free interest rate was based ottBe Treasury yield curve in effect at the datgmint. The expected life of options is the
average number of years we estimate that optioth®evbutstanding.

The following table summarizes stock option acyivinder our 2011 Equity Incentive Plan for 201312@nd 2011:

Weighted Aggregate

Average Intrinsic Value

Weighted Remaining (Current Value

Number of Average Contractual Less Exercise

Options Exercise Price Terms Price)

(Per share) (In years) (In thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2( — —
Grantec 940,00( 9.7t
Exercisec — —
Forfeited — —
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 940,00( 9.7t
Grantec — —
Exercisec — —
Forfeited (47,000 9.7¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 893,00( 9.7t
Grantec — —
Exercisec — —
Forfeited — —

Outstanding at December 31, 2( 893,000 $ 9.7t 72 % —
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 357,20 % 9.7t 7.2 $ —

All stock options outstanding at December 31, 28d8vested or expected to vest. During the yeadedDecember 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011
the total fair value of stock options that vesteatw1.2 million, $1.2 million and $0, respectively.

At December 31, 2013, the exercise price of oustanting options exceeds the market price of oomeon stock.

Time-Based Restricted Stock Awards

On March 1, 2013, we awarded time-based restrgtisck awards for 106,518 shares of common stockit@xecutive officers. These awards
vest over a three year period based on continustteg25% on February 28, 2014 and 2015 and 50%edmuary 28, 2016), or upon a cha
in control.

On April, 25, 2012, we awarded time-based restlisteck awards for 110,137 shares of common stwokit executive officers. These awards
vest over a three year period based on continueiteg25% at December 31, 2012 and 2013 and 5(@ee¢mber 31, 2014), or upon a
change in control.
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The holders of these awards have the right to theteelated shares of common stock and receivdiatlends declared and paid whether or
vested.

The fair value of time-based restricted stock awandnted is calculated based on the market valubendate of grant.

The following table summarizes time-based restiist|®ck activity under our 2011 Equity IncentivariPfor 2013 and 2012:

Weighted
Number of Average Grant Aggregate
Shares Date Fair Value Current Value
(Per share) (In thousands)
Non-vested December 31, 20 — 3 —
Grantec 110,13 7.7¢
Vested (27,53¢) 7.7¢
Forfeited — —
Non-vested December 31, 20 82,60: 7.7€
Grantec 106,51¢ 9.7¢
Vested (27,539 7.7¢
Forfeited — —
Non-vested December 31, 20 161,58 $ 9.1C $ 1,45¢

During the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012@ahd, the total fair value of time-based restrictamtk awards that vested was $0.2
million, $0.2 million and $0, respectively.

PerformanceBased Restricted Stock Awards

On March 1, 2013, we awarded performance-basedatest stock awards for 185,572 shares of commaekdb our executive officers. These
awards vest ratably over three years (2013, 2048m15) subject to the attainment of certain penforce goals and continued service, or
a change in control.

On April, 25, 2012, we awarded performance-basstlicted stock awards for 82,602 shares of comnmrkgo our executive officers. These
awards vest ratably over three years (2012, 208128m4) subject to the attainment of certain penfoice goals and continued service, or
a change in control.

No performanc-based restricted stock awards vested during 202812 because performance goals were not met. dlders of these awar
have the right to vote the related shares of comstack and any dividends declared will be accunediand will be subject to the same ves
conditions as the awards.

Our performance-based restricted stock awards arkenbased awards and are accounted for basdu gmant date fair value of our common
stock. These awards vest based on a performancaineegent that requires the Company'’s total shadehoéturn (“TSR”) to exceed the TSR
for the SNL U.S. Lodging REIT Index for a desigrthtse, two or three year performance period. Birevhlue of performance-based
restricted stock awards granted was estimated asMgnte Carlo simulation valuation model and thiéofving assumptions:

2013 2012
Expected dividend yiel 4.52% 5.58%
Expected stock price volatilit 38.5% 44.1%
Risk-free interest rat 0.147- 0.51% 0.146- 0.42%
Monte Carlo iteration 100,00( 100,00(
Weighted average estimated fair value of perforraanc
based restricted stock awau $ 7.0¢ % 5.1C
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The expected dividend yield was calculated baseauomnnual expected dividend payments at the dhggant. The expected volatility was
based on historical price changes of our commorkdtar a period comparable to the performance pefe risk-free interest rates were
interpolated from the Federal Reserve Bond Equntaféeld rates for “on-the-run” U.S. Treasury setes.

The following table summarizes performance-bassttioted stock activity under our 2011 Equity Intvea Plan for 2013 and 2012:

Weighted
Number of Average Grant Aggregate
Shares Date Fair Value Current Value
(Per share) (In thousands)
Non-vested December 31, 20 — % —
Grantec 82,60: $% 7.7¢€
Vested — % —
Forfeited — % —
Non-vested December 31, 20 82,60: % 7.7¢€
Grantec 185,57 $ 7.0¢
Vested — % —
Forfeited —  $ —
Non-vested December 31, 20 268,17: $ 73C % 2,414

Director Stock Awards

In 2013, 2012 and 2011, we granted 29,228, 15,2881000 shares of common stock, respectivelyutanon-employee directors as a part of
our director compensation program. These grante wde under our 2011 Equity Incentive Plan anéwested upon grant.

Our non-employee directors have the option to k&cehares of our common stock in lieu of cashtieirtdirector fees. In 2013, we issued
6,488 shares of common stock for director fees.

Equity-Based Compensation Expense

Equity-based compensation expense for 2013, 20d2@h1 was (in thousands):

2013 2012 2011
Included in corporate general and administrativerses and othel
compensation in the consolidated statements oftipes
Stock options $ 62z $ 70C $ 441
Time-based restricted stoi 611 214 —
Performanc-based restricted stor 54¢ 171 —
1,781 1,08t 441
Included in corporate general and administratiVeeoin the
consolidated statements of operati
Director stock 345 12(C 39
$ 2,122 $ 1,208 $ 48C

We recognize equity-based compensation expendayateer the vesting terms. The amount of expenag e subject to adjustment in future
periods due to a change in the forfeiture assumstio
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Unrecognized equity-based compensation expens#lfoon-vested awards was $3.4 million at Decendiei2013. We expect to recognize
this cost over a remaining weighted-average pesfdd5 years.

NOTE 17 - LOSS ON IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

In 2013, we recognized a loss on impairment oftagstaling $7.7 million related to the CourtyadMarriott in Memphis, TN; the SpringHill
Suites in Lithia Springs, GA; the Hampton Inn, hmericinn Hotel & Suites and the Aspen Hotel & ®siin Fort Smith, AR; the Americinn
Hotel & Suites in Salina, KS and the Fairfield lamd Holiday Inn Express in Emporia, KS. These Ihmteperties were sold in 2013 or
classified as held for sale at December 31, 20d@ tlaeir operating results, including the lossmpairment, are included in discontinued
operations. In addition, we recognized a loss goainment of assets related to a land parcel inaSbPTX that was sold in 2013 and a land
parcel in Spokane, WA that is held for sale at Dewer 31, 2013. As a result, a loss on impairmemissets totaling $1.4 million was charged
to operations. These losses on impairment weresthdt of a change in the estimated holding perfodshe hotel properties and land parcels.

In 2012, we recognized a loss on impairment oftagstaling $2.3 million related to the AmericlnnsTwin Falls, ID, Missoula, MT and
Lakewood, CO. These hotel properties were solditR2r 2013, and their operating results, includhmgloss on impairment, are included in
discontinued operations. In addition, in conjunectisith the sale of our Missoula, MT hotel propestiere determined that a land parcel in
Missoula was impaired. As a result, a loss on impant of assets totaling $0.7 million was chargedgerations. These losses on impairment
were the result of a change in the estimated hglgeriods for the hotel properties and land parcels

In 2011, we did not incur any losses on impairment.
NOTE 18 - DERIVITIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDG ING

We are exposed to interest rate risk through otiabkerate debt. We manage this risk primarily by manggie amount, sources, and dura
of our debt funding and through the use of denxafinancial instruments. Specifically, we enteoiderivative financial instruments to man
our exposure to known or expected cash paymeratereto our variable-rate debt. The maximum lemdttme over which we have hedged
our exposure to variable interest rates with oustarg derivative financial instruments is approai@ly six years.

Our objectives in using derivative financial instrents are to add stability to interest expensetameanage our exposure to interest rate
movements. To accomplish these objectives, we pilymsse interest rate swaps as part of our inteas risk management strategy. Our
interest rate swaps designated as cash flow héagase the receipt of variable-rate payments ficounterparty in exchange for making
fixed-rate payments over the life of the agreemuiitisout exchange of the underlying notional amount

Our agreements with our derivative counterpart@dain a provision where if we default, or are ddpaf being declared in default, on any of
our indebtedness, then we could also be declarddfault on our derivative financial instruments.

On September 5, 2013, we entered into an inteassiswap with a notional value of $75.0 milliontthacame effective on January 2, 2014 an
matures on October 10, 2018. This interest ratevatdre was designated a cash flow hedge and effdgtfixes LIBOR at 2.04%. The interest
rate on the $75 Million Term Loan was 3.94% at dam, 2014.

On October 31, 2013, we paid off a term loan anthiteated a related interest rate swap that hadianad value of $10.3 million. We incurred
termination costs of less than $0.1 million, whiebre charged to debt transaction costs.
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Information about our derivative financial instrume at December 31, 2013 and 2012 follows (doltaoants in thousands):

December 31, 201 December 31, 201.
Number of Notional Number of Notional
Instruments Amount Fair Value Instruments Amount Fair Value
Interest rate swaps (ass 3 3% 29,27:  $ 252 — % — $ —
Interest rate swaps (liabilit 1 75,00( (1,772) 4 41,09¢ (641)
4 $ 104,27. $ (1,519 4 $ 41,098 $ (6417)

All of our interest rate swaps have been designasechsh flow hedges and are valued using a mapkebach, which is a Level 2 valuation
technique. At December 31, 2013, three of our @gerate swaps were in an asset position and oséwealiability position. At December 31,
2012, all of our interest rate swaps were in alitglposition. We have not posted any collateedhted to these agreements and are not in
breach of any financial provisions of the agreemelfitve had breached any agreement provisionseaembber 31, 2013, we could have been
required to settle our obligation under the agrawrtieat was in a liability position at its termiraat value of $1.7 million.

The table below details the location in the finahstatements of the loss recognized on derivdieancial instruments designated as cash flov
hedges (in thousands). We had no derivative firgmestruments in 2011.

2013 2012
Gain (loss) recognized in accumulated other conmgrsive income on
derivative financial instruments (effective portjc $ (1,240 $ (78€)
Gain (loss) reclassified from accumulated other pahensive income to
interest expense (effective portic $ (359) $ (147
Gain (loss) recognized in gain (loss) on derivafigancial instruments
(ineffective portion) $ 2 8 (2)

Amounts reported in accumulated other compreherisa@me related to derivative financial instrumentt be reclassified to interest expense
as interest payments are made on the hedged \aratel debt. In 2014, we estimate that an addit®ha million will be reclassified from
other comprehensive income as an increase to gttexpense.

NOTE 19 - INCOME TAXES

Our earnings (losses), other than in our TRSsnatrgenerally subject to federal corporate andstatome taxes due to our REIT election. At
December 31, 2013 and 2012, our net operatingcimsy forwards (“NOLs”) of our TRSs for federal asiéte income tax reporting purposes
are $15.2 million and $12.0 million, respectively.

We have a deferred tax asset at December 31, 20132 of $5.8 million and $4.0 million, respeeti, which relate primarily to the NOLs
of our TRSs. Our deferred tax liability of $0.7 haih at December 31, 2013 relates to differencaléncarrying amounts of investments in
joint ventures and franchise fe

At December 31, 2013, we recorded a valuation alue of $5.0 million related to our NOLs. We ineatNOLs at our TRSs in 2013, 2012
and 2011. As of result of the consecutive losssyee have determined that it is more likely thanthat we will not be able to recognize our
NOLs before they expire. Our NOLs will begin to @egn 2031 for federal tax purposes and in thegokefrom 2016 to 2031 for state t
purposes, if not utilized. If our TRSs were to exxgrece a change in control as defined in Sectichd&8he Internal Revenue Code, the ability
to utilize NOLs after the change in control woulelIbmited.
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We had no unrecognized tax benefits at Decembe2@I13 or in the three year period then ended. Vpe&bno significant changes in
unrecognized tax benefits due to changes in taitipas within one year of December 31, 2013. TlhenPany recognizes interest expense an
penalties associated with uncertain tax positiegna eomponent of income tax expense. We have terialdnterest or penalties relating to
income taxes recognized in the consolidated statesvé operations for 2013, 2012 or 2011 or indbesolidated balance sheets as of
December 31, 2013 or 2012.

Current tax liabilities related to the OperatingtRership of $0.3 million and $0.2 million at Deceen 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, are
included in accrued expenses in the accompanyingatiolated balance sheets and relate to stateoaabithx expense.

A reconciliation of the federal statutory rate he effective income tax rate for the TRSs followmstflousands):

2013
Tax benefit at U.S. statutory rates on TRSs inceuigect to tas $ (809)
State income tax, net of federal income tax be (120
Effect of permanent differences and ot (152)
Increase in valuation allowan 5,02¢
TRSs provision for income tax expense/(benefit) $ 3,94¢

We are not providing a reconciliation for 2012 642 as the tax expense differed from that compuséay the statutory rate by less than 5¢
income before tax in total and there were no coreptsof the reconciliation over 5% of income befare

The components of income tax expense (benefi2®3, 2012 and 2011 are (in thousands):

Summit Hotel
Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. Properties, LLC
Period 2/14/11 Period 1/1/11
2013 2012 through 12/31/11 through 2/13/11
Current:
Federa $ — 3 — $ — $ —
State and loce 40¢ 51z (129 33¢
Deferred:
Federal (34% 3,352 (1,53)) (1,867) —
State and loce 597 (270 (329) —
Total provision $ 4,357 $ (1,289 $ (2,325 $ 33¢
Income tax expense (bene!
From continuing operatior $ 4,89 $ (72¢) $ (2,259 $ 55(C
From discontinued operatio (537) (567) (66) (217)
Total $ 4,357 $ (1,289 $ (2,325 $ 33¢

Our Predecessor was a limited liability company alhéederal taxable income flowed through and ¥easble to its members.
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For federal income tax purposes, the cash distabsifpaid to our common and preferred shareholdessbe characterized as ordinary inco
return of capital (generally non-taxable) or capjeins.

NOTE 20 — FAIR VALUE

The following table presents information about Boancial instruments measured at fair value oecaring basis as of December 31, 2013
and 2012. In instances in which the inputs useddasure fair value may fall into different levefgtee fair value hierarchy, the level in the fair
value hierarchy within which the fair value measoeat in its entirety has been determined is baseati@lowest level input significant to the
fair value measurement in its entirety. Our agsess of the significance of a particular inputhie fair value measurement in its entirety
requires judgment, and considers factors spediftbe asset or liability.

Disclosures concerning financial instruments messiat fair value are as follows:

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2013 usil

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Assets held for sal $ — 3 12,22: % — 3 12,22«
Interest rate swaps (ass — 25% — 258
Liabilities:
Interest rate swaps (liability — 1,772 — 1,772
Fixec-rate deb — 319,42¢ — 319,42¢
Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2012 usii
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Assets held for sal $ — 3 4,83 $ — 3 4,83¢
Interest rate swaps (ass — — — —
Liabilities:
Interest rate swaps (liability — 641 — 641
Fixec-rate deb — 193,44¢ — 193,44t

There were no transfers between Level 1 and LeweéltRe fair value hierarchy during 2013 or 2012.

NOTE 21 - DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

We have adjusted our consolidated statements eatipes for 2013, 2012 and 2011 to reflect the apens of hotel properties that have been
sold or are classified as held for sale in discar@d operations. Discontinued operations includddalowing hotel properties that have been

sold:
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e Hampton Inn, Holiday Inn Express and Americinn miff Falls, ID — sold May 2012;
e Americlnn Hotel & Suites in Missoula, MT — sold Aust 2012;

e Courtyard by Marriott in Missoula, MT — sold Deceent2012;

e Americlnn Hotel & Suites in Golden, CO — sold Jaryu2013;

e Hampton Inn in Denver, CO — sold February 2013;

e Holiday Inn and Holiday Inn Express in Boise, IDseld May 2013;

e Courtyard by Marriott in Memphis, TN — sold May Z)1

e SpringHill Suites in Lithia Springs, GA — sold AusflR013;

e Fairfield Inn in Lewisville, TX — sold August 2013;

*  Fairfield Inn in Lakewood, CO — sold September 2013

*  Fairfield Inn in Emporia, KS — sold October 2013;

»  SpringHill Suites in Little Rock, AR — sold Novemh2013;

»  Fairfield Inn and Americinn Hotel & Suites in SainKS — sold November 2013;
»  Hampton Inn and Fairfield in Boise, ID — sold Novsen 2013; and

*  Holiday Inn Express in Emporia, KS — sold Decemb@t 3.

In addition, discontinued operations also incluge following hotel properties that were classifeedheld for sale at December 31, 2013:

e Americlnn Hotel & Suites and Aspen Hotel & SuitasHort Smith, AR (sold on January 17, 2014); and
e Hampton Inn in Fort Smith, AR (under contract tt)se

Condensed results for the hotel properties includetiscontinued operations follows (in thousands):

Summit Hotel
Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. Properties, LLC
Period 2/14/11 Period 1/1/11
2013 2012 through 12/31/11 through 2/13/11
REVENUE $ 19,45¢ $ 33,19: $ 30,26¢ $ 3,75¢
Hotel operating expens: 14,85¢ 24,70 22,76: 3,07(
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,96( 4,22¢ 4,732 77¢
Loss on impairment of asse¢ 7,67¢ 2,30¢ — —
Income (loss) from hotel operatio (5,03¢) 1,961 2,771 (93
Interest expens 174 85¢ 3,18: 1,22¢
(Gain) loss on disposal of ass (3,945 (3,010 — —
Income (loss) before tax (1,265 4,11¢ (4117) (1,319
Income tax (expense) bene 537 561 66 211
Income (loss) from discontinued operati $ (72¢) $ 4677 $ (345 $ (1,20¢)

Income (loss) from discontinued operations attabie to

noncontrolling interest $ (25 $ 807 $ (93)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations attabie to ~ ~
common shareholders / memb $ (705 $ 387C $ (252)

NOTE 22 - EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

We apply the two-class method of computing earnpgysshare, which requires the calculation of sspagarnings per share amounts for our
non-vested, time-based restricted stock award$arair common stock. Our non-vested time-basetlicesd stock awards contain
nonforfeitable rights to dividends and are considesecurities which participate in undistributeth@ays with common stock. Under the two-
class computation method, net losses are
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not allocated to participating securities unlegshhblder of the security has a contractual oblkigato share in the losses. Our non-vested, time
based restricted stock awards do not have sucblayation so they are not allocated losses.

At December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, we had 8938¥®000 and 940,000 stock options outstandirgpeastively, which were not included
in the computation of diluted earnings per shaseha options’ exercise price was greater tharatleeage market price of our common shares

In 2012 and 2011, our basic and diluted earningsipare are based on basic weighted average corsimaoes outstanding due to our loss fi
continuing operations.

Below is a summary of the components used to cateddasic and diluted earnings per share (in thmulss@xcept per share):

2013 2012 2011
Numerator:
Income (loss) from continuing operatic $ 6,62t $ (6,947 % (3,837
Less: Preferred dividend 14,59( 4,62¢ 411
Allocation to participating securitie 73 37 —
Attributable to noncontrolling intere 44 (2,007) (1,147
Income (loss) attributable to common shareholdens f
continuing operation (8,082) (9,609 (3,096
Income (loss) attributable to common shareholdens f
discontinued operatior (709) 3,87( (252)
Net income (loss) attributable to common sharehsl $ (8,785 $ (5,73)) $ (3,34
Denominator
Weighted average common shares outstar- basic 70,32’ 33,71° 27,27¢
Dilutive effect of equit-based compensation awa 41C 132 —
Weighted average common shares outstar- diluted 70,73. 33,84¢ 27,27t
Earnings per common she- basic and dilutec
Net income (loss) from continuing operatic $ (0.1) $ (0.28) $ (0.11)
Net income (loss) from discontinued operati (0.07) 0.11 (0.07)
Net income (loss $ (019 % (0.17) $ (0.19)

NOTE 23 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Equity Transactions

On January 2, 2014, we redeemed 126,155 Commos,Wvtiich had been tendered November 2, 2013, fmestof our common stock. On
January 31, 2014, 22,570 Common Units were tenderagdemption, which we intend to redeem for ekaxf our common stock on April 1,
2014.

On January 30, 2014, our board of directors dedleash dividends of $0.1125 per share of commarks%0.578125 per share of 9.25%
Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock9®0875 per share of 7.875% Series B Cumulative®weadble Preferred Stock, and
$0.4453125 per share of 7.125% Series C CumulR&deemable Preferred Stock. These dividends wédd-paruary 28, 2014.

Hotel Property Acquisitions Closed and Debt Assuomst

On January 9, 2014, we purchased a Hilton Gardemlfouston, TX for $37.5 million including thesasnption of a $17.9 million mortgage
loan with a fixed interest rate of 6.22%, an or&iamortization period of 30 years, and a matwtite of November 1, 2016.
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On January 10, 2014, we purchased a Hampton I8arma Barbara (Goleta), CA for $27.9 million indhgl i) the assumption of a $12.0
million mortgage loan with a fixed interest rate6o13%, an original amortization period of 25 yearsd a maturity date of November 11, 2(
ii) the issuance of 412,174 Common Units in our @peg Partnership valued at the time of issuan@&3& million, and iii) $12.2 million in
cash.

On January 24, 2014, we purchased a Four PoinBhbyaton in San Francisco, CA for $21.3 million.

On March 14, 2014, we purchased a DoubleTree kpiih San Francisco, CA for $39.1 million. The ghase price plus closing costs and
renovation reserves was paid through: i) the assompf a $13.3 million mortgage loan with a fixederest rate of 5.98%, an original
amortization period of 30 years, and a maturiteddtMarch 8, 2016, and ii) $29.0 million in cash.

Hotel Property Dispositions

On January 17, 2014, we sold the Americinn Hot8uites and the Aspen Hotel & Suites in Fort SnR,for $3.1 million. These hotel
properties were classified as held for sale at Bbes 31, 2013. The sale of the Americlnn Hotel #it&s also included the sale its related
ground lease.

NOTE 24 - SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDI TED)

Selected consolidated quarterly financial data2fait3 and 2012 follows (in thousands, except peredha

2013
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Total revenue: $ 59,72 $ 79,10t $ 82,17 $ 77,95¢
Net income (loss) from continuing operatic $ 1517 $ 6,12¢ $ 2831 $ (3,855
Net income (loss) from discontinued operati $ 357 % 54t $ (3,410 $ 1,78(
Net income (loss $ 1,87¢ $ 6,671 $ (579 $ (2,07%)
Net income (loss) attributable to Summit Hc
Properties, Inc $ 1,94C $ 6,45¢ $ (662) $ (1,859
Earnings per common she- basic and dilutec
Net income (loss) from continuing operatic $ (0.09) $ 0.0z % (0.029) $ (0.09)
Net income (loss) from discontinued operati 0.01 0.01 (0.05) 0.0z
Net income (loss $ (0.02) $ 0.04 $ (0.09) $ (0.09)
2012
First Second Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Total revenue: $ 33,94 $ 39,58( $ 43,06¢ $ 45,10¢
Net income (loss) from continuing operatic $ (1,245 $ (939) $ (411 $ (4,352
Net income (loss) from discontinued operati $ (1,560 $ 582 §$ 2,05. % 3,60:
Net income (loss $ (2,80¢) $ (356) $ 1,641 $ (749
Net income (loss) attributable to Summit Hc
Properties, Inc $ (1,736 $ 81 $ 156z $ (82))
Earnings per common she- basic and dilutec
Net income (loss) from continuing operatic $ (0.07) $ (0.0¢) $ (0.09 $ (0.11)
Net income (loss) from discontinued operati (0.049) 0.0z 0.0¢€ 0.07
Net income (loss $ (0.1) $ 0.09 % 00z $ (0.09

Note: Quarterly amounts for all four quarters oL 2@nd 2012 are different from the previous ForB-Q and 10-K for these quarters due to

reclassifications of hotel properties during 204 8liscontinued operations.
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SUMMIT HOTEL PROPERTIES, INC / SUMMIT HOTEL OP, LP
Schedule Il - Real Estate and Accumulated Deprectin

December 31, 2013
(in thousands)

Cost

Total Cost Net

Initial Cost Capitalized Total Cost of
Year Acquired/ Subsequent ti Accumulated Mortgage
Building & Building & Accumulated
Location Franchise Constructed Land Improvements Acquisition Land Improvements Total Depreciation Depreciation Debt
Arlington, TX Hyatt Place 2012 $ 65C$ 8,40t$ 37¢ $ 65C$ 8,784$9,434% (835)% 8,69% —
Arlington, TX Courtyard by
Marriott 2012 1,49 13,50: 25 1,49 13,52¢15,02¢ (73€) 14,28¢ —
Arlington, TX Residence Inn by
Marriott 2012 1,64¢ 13,85 3C 1,64¢ 13,88:15,53( (799) 14,73: —
Atlanta, GA  Hyatt Place 2006 1,15¢ 9,60¢ 4,33% 1,15¢ 13,94(15,09¢ (4,499 10,60( 7,34¢
Atlanta, GA  Courtyard by
Marriott 2012 2,05( 26,85( 47¢ 2,05( 27,32¢29,37¢ (1,919 27,46’ —
Baltimore, MD Hyatt Place 2012 2,10¢ 8,13t 97€ 2,10( 9,11111,21: (667) 10,54 —
Baton Rouge,
LA DoubleTree 2008 1,10C 14,06 1,012 1,10C 15,07:16,17¢ (4,627%) 11,54¢ 10,10¢
Baton Rouge, Fairfield Inn and
LA Suites by Marriot 2004 34t 3,051 2,761 34t 5,81¢ 6,16: (1,870 4,29: —
Baton Rouge, SpringHill Suites b
LA Marriott 2004 44¢ 3,72¢ 2,828 44¢ 6,557 7,00¢ (2,167) 4,84« —
Baton Rouge,
LA TownePlace Suite 2004 25¢ 3,74 2,84¢ 25¢€ 6,58¢ 6,84¢ (2,280 4,56¢ —
Bellevue, WA Fairfield Inn and
Suites by Marriot 2004 2,70¢ 12,94« 3,29¢ 2,70¢ 16,24:18,94¢ (4,889 14,05¢ —
Birmingham,
AL Hilton Garden Inr 2012 1,40(C 7,22¢ 1,672 1,40C 8,89110,29" (1,05)) 9,24¢ 5,371
Birmingham,
AL Hilton Garden Inr 2012 1,40(C 10,10( 217 1,40( 10,31711,71; (91€) 10,80: 6,29(
Bloomington, SpringHill Suites b
MN Marriott 2007 1,65¢ 14,07: 997 1,65¢ 15,06¢16,72¢ (4,307) 12,42F 2,114
Bloomington, Hampton Inn and
MN Suites 2007 1,65¢ 14,59¢ 2,05¢ 1,65¢ 16,65(18,30¢ (4,287%) 14,02 11,97¢
Charleston, W'Country Inn &
Suites 2004 1,04z 3,48¢ 2,08( 1,04 5,56¢ 6,611 (1,672) 4,93¢ —
Charleston, W'Holiday Inn Expres 2004 907 2,90z 2,24¢ 907 5,151 6,05¢ (1,527%) 4,531 —
Denver, CC  Hyatt Place 2012 1,30 9,23( 48% 1,30 9,71311,01: (85%) 10,16( —
Denver, CO Fairfield Inn and
Suites by Marriot 2004 1,56¢ 6,78 3,53¢ 1,56¢ 10,31711,88: (3,096 8,781 —
Denver, CO  SpringHill Suites b
Marriott 2007 1,07¢ 11,07¢ 114 1,07¢ 11,19112,26¢ (3,402 8,867 7,61
Denver, CC  Hyatt Place 2012 2,00(¢ 9,51t 45Z 2,000 9,96¢11,96¢ (870) 11,09¢ —
Denver, CC  Hyatt House 2012 2,70C 10,78( 2,544 2,70( 13,32:16,02¢ (1,070 14,95 —
Duluth, GA  Holiday Inn 2011 — 7,00( 217 — 7,217 7,21 (872) 6,34¢ —
Duluth, GA  Hilton Garden Inr 2011 2,20(¢ 11,15( 1,282 2,20( 12,43:14,63: (1,415 13,217 —
Eden Prairie,
MN Hilton Garden Inr 2013 1,80(C 8,40( 1,14 1,80( 9,54411,34: (23¢) 11,10¢ 6,261
El Paso, TX Hampton Inn and
Suites 2005 2,05t 10,74¢ 3,60C 2,05¢ 14,34:16,40( (4,247%) 12,15: —
El Paso, TX Courtyard by
Marriott 2011 1,64( 10,71( 84C 1,64( 11,55(13,19( (1,159 12,03: —
Flagstaff, AZ Courtyard by
Marriott 2009 2,361 20,78t 93 2,361 20,87¢23,23¢ (4,615 18,62 13,32%
Flagstaff, AZ SpringHill Suites b
Marriott 2008 1,39¢ 9,35% 4,987 1,39¢ 14,33115,73: (4,45%¢) 11,27 —
Ft. Collins, CC Hampton Inr 2004 73€ 4,36: 2,00¢ 73¢ 6,37z 7,11( (1,919 5,191 —
Ft. Collins, CC Hilton Garden Inr 2007 1,30(C 11,80¢ 49€ 1,30( 12,30(13,60( (4,44¢) 9,15/ —
Ft. Myers, FL Hyatt Place 2009 1,87¢ 16,58 43 1,87¢ 16,62¢18,50¢ (4,83 13,66¢ —
Ft. Smith, AR Americlnn Hotel
and Suites 2004 — 3,71¢ 979 — 2,73¢ 2,73¢ (1,53¢6) 1,20 —
Ft. Smith, AR Aspen Hotel and
Suites 2004 228 3,18¢ (322) 22: 2,867 3,09( (1,790 1,30(C —
Ft. Smith, AR Hampton Inr 2005 — 12,40: 73C — 13,13:13,13: (4,370 8,761 —

)

()

()
(4)

(4)
(4)
(1)
@)
(6)

(6)
()

(4)
(2)
)

(8)
(6)

(9)
(6)
(6)



Ft. Wayne, IN
Ft. Wayne, IN

Ft. Worth, TX
Ft. Worth, TX

Ft. Worth, TX
Garden City,
NY
Germantown,
TN
Germantown,
TN
Germantown,
TN
Glendale, CC

Hampton Inn and
Suites
Residence Inn by
Marriott
Hampton Inr

SpringHill Suites b

Marriott
Hilton Garden Inr

Hyatt Place
Courtyard by
Marriott

Fairfield Inn and
Suites by Marriot
Residence Inn by
Marriott
Staybridge Suite

Greenville, SC Hilton Garden Inr

Hoffman
Estates, IL

Indianapolis, INSpringHill Suites b

Hyatt Place

Marriott

Indianapolis, INCourtyard by

Jackson, MS

Jackson, M¢
Jacksonville,
FL

Marriott
Courtyard by
Marriott
Staybridge Suite

Aloft

2006

2006
2007

2004
2012

2012
2005
2005
2005
2011
2013
2013
2013
2013

2005
2007

2009

6,56¢

6,73¢
8,18¢

2,69¢
6,22¢

26,80(
5,44¢
2,70(
5,20(
7,90(

14,05(
7,33(

26,19¢

50,84¢

7,32z
8,45¢

15,77¢
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2,011

1,92¢
1,902

3,071
3,09:

31
1,961
2,41¢
1,615

1,63¢
56

2,51(
2,23

10C

78€

914
1,50(

55¢
974

4,20(

1,86(

8,57¢ 9,361

8,65¢ 9,57:
10,08¢11,58¢

5,77% 6,32¢
9,31¢10,29:

26,83:31,03:
7,40¢ 9,26¢
5,11¢ 5,88:
6,817 7,90(
9,53¢11,63¢
14,10¢15,30¢
7,34¢ 9,24¢
26,19:30,20¢
50,84¢58,63¢

9,83211,13:
10,68¢11,38¢

15,87:17,57¢

(2,42¢)

(2,39
(2,899

(1,539)
(595)

(892)
(2,685)
(1,25¢)
(2,077)
(1,120

(364)

(47¢)

(564)
(1,096)

(3,070
(2,309)

(4,27%)

6,937

7,17¢
8,68¢

4,78¢
9,697

30,13¢
6,58¢
4,62¢
5,82¢
10,51¢
14,94:
8,771
29,64:
57,53¢

8,06:
9,07t

13,29°

—(6)

—(6)
—(6)
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Las Colinas,
TX Hyatt Place
Las Colinas, Holiday Inn Expres
TX and Suite:
Lombard, IL Hyatt Place
Louisville, KY Fairfield Inn and
Suites by Marriot
Louisville, KY SpringHill Suites by
Marriott
Medford, OR Hampton Inr
Minneapolis,
MN Hyatt Place
Minnetonka, Holiday Inn Expres
MN and Suite:
Nashville, TN SpringHill Suites by
Marriott
New Orleans Courtyard by
LA Marriott
New Orleans Courtyard by
LA Marriott
New Orleans Courtyard by
LA Marriott
New Orleans Residence Inn by
LA Marriott
New Orleans SpringHill Suites by
LA Marriott
Orlando, FL Hyatt Place
Orlando, FL Hyatt Place
Phoenix, AZ Hyatt Place
Portland, OF Hyatt Place
Portland, OR Residence Inn by
Marriott
Provo, UT Hampton Inr
Ridgeland, M!Residence Inn by
Marriott
Ridgeland, M! Homewood Suite
Salt Lake City Residence Inn by

uT Marriott

San Antonio, Country Inn &
TX Suites

San Diego, Hampton Inn and
CA Suites

San FrancisccHoliday Inn Expres
CA and Suite:

Sandy, UT  Holiday Inn Expres

and Suite:

Scottsdale, A. Hyatt Place

Scottsdale, A. Courtyard by
Marriott

Scottsdale, A: SpringHill Suites by
Marriott

Smyrna, TN Hampton Inn and
Suites

Smyrna, TN Hilton Garden Inr

Spokane, WA Fairfield Inn and
Suites by Marriot

Ventura, CA Hampton Inn and
Suites

Vernon

Hills, IL Holiday Inn Expres

Ybor City, FL Hampton Inn and
Suites

Austin, TX  Corporate Office

Land Parcels

2007

2007
2012

2013

2013
2004

2013
2013
2004
2013
2013
2013
2013
2013
2013
2013
2012
2009

2009
2004

2007
2011

2012

2008

2013

2013

2004
2012

2004

2004

2012
2012

2004

2013

2005

2012
2012

781

89¢
1,55(

3,12(

4,88(
1,23(

1,05(
1,31

2,39:
2,497
2,30(
15,54¢

72C
1,50(

3,22¢
2,19¢

1,14¢
1,18¢

1,63
2,20(
1,19¢
3,60(

14,70¢

5,72¢

6,68¢
15,47¢

21,90¢

34,25¢
4,78¢

32,50¢
5,90(
3,57¢
23,73¢
21,67¢
28,33
18,09¢
31,05(
9,152
9,04:
4,43¢
16,71

16,40¢
2,862

10,04(
6,03¢

17,567
12,83
12,85(
44,95t

1,76¢
9,03(

10,15
7,12(

6,85¢
10,31-

3,66¢
13,55(
6,09¢
17,24«
21C

1,867 781
1,72¢  89¢
1,40¢  1,55(
23 3,12
37 4,88
2,268 1,23
1,098 1,00(
251: 777
59€ 1,94
2,57C  1,86(
2,39 2,49
186 1,791
26  2,04¢
1,87C  3,10(
1,90¢  2,80(
66 582
43 —
44 |
2,247 90¢
48€  1,05(
1,45( 1,31«
4,04C 2,39
448 2,497
—  2,30(

2,04%$ 15,54¢

1,74% 72C
901 1,50(
3,21t 3,22¢
2,95( 2,19t
437 1,14¢
36€ 1,18¢
2,597 1,637
7 2,20(
1,242 1,19¢
1,117  3,60(
397 —
—$ 14,70¢

7,59¢

8,41¢
16,88:

21,92¢

34,29¢
7,05¢

32,50¢

6,99t

6,08¢
24,33t
24,24¢
30,73:
18,28¢
31,07¢
11,02:
10,95!

4,50¢
16,75¢

16,45
5,10¢

10,52¢
7,48¢

21,607
13,28:
12,85(
47,00(

3,51
9,931

13,367
10,07(

7,28¢
10,67¢

6,26¢
13,557
7,341
18,36:
607

8,37

9,31¢
18,43

25,04¢

39,17¢
8,28:

32,50¢

7,99¢

6,86¢
26,27¢
26,10¢
33,22:
20,07¢
33,12:
14,12:
13,75!:

5,08¢
16,75¢

16,45
6,01¢

11,57¢
8,80(

23,99¢
15,77¢
15,15(
62,54¢

4,23
11,43

16,59:
12,26:

8,43¢
11,86¢

7,90¢
15,751
8,53¢
21,96

607
14,70¢

(3,43

(3,386)
(1,122)

(511)

(800)
(2,046)

(198)
(2,115)
(99€)
(844)
(1,111)
(660)
(1,032
(87¢)
(871)
(390)
(4,512)

(4,045)
(1,519

(3,609)
(945)

(1,049
(4,389

(15€)
(1,62)

(1,255)
(870)

(4,365)
(3,287)

(450)
(684)

(2,236
(137)
(2,652)
(669)
(77)

4,94:

5,93(
17,31

24,53t

38,37¢
6,237

32,50¢

7,791

4,74
25,28
25,26t
32,11(
19,41¢
32,09(
13,24
12,88(

4,69¢
12,24;

12,40¢
4,501

7,971
7,85¢

22,95}
11,39¢
14,99
60,92¢

2,97¢
10,56:

12,22¢
8,98:

7,98¢
11,18:

5,66
15,62(
5,881
21,29

53C
14,70¢

e
—©
—®
3,654(8)

—(6)

—(6)

e
—®

11,98¢(10)

—(6)

13,51¢(3)

23,107(5)

—(6)
—(2)

9,47¢(13)
5,105(13)

5,24¢(11)
8,38%(12)

—(6)
—(6)

$169,76:$1,058,921$120,40($169,76:$1,179,32:$1,349,08'$(173,149$1,175,93'$150,87¢




(1) Property is collateral for the Goldman Sactesnlo

(2) Property is collateral for the KeyBank NatioAaisociation loans.

(3) Property is collateral for the AIG loan.

(4) Property is collateral for the General Elec@iapital Corporation loans.

(5) Property is collateral for the Greenwich Captiaancial Products, Inc. loan.
(6) Property is collateral for ING Life InsurancedaAnnuity loan.

(7) Property is collateral for MetaBank loan.

(8) Property is collateral for Wells Fargo Banktidaal Association loan.

(9) Property is collateral for Compass Bank loan.

(10) Property is collateral for Bank of Cascadesilo

(11) Property is collateral for the Merrill Lynchdvtgage Lending Inc. loan.
(12) Property is collateral for the Bank of Americammercial Mortgage loan.
(13) Property is collateral for the GE Capital Fioil Inc. loan.

F-39




Table of Contents

(@)

(b)

()
(d)

()

(f)

SUMMIT HOTEL PROPERTIES, INC. / SUMMIT HOTEL OP, LP
Notes to Schedule Il - Real Estate and AccumulateBepreciation
As of December 31, 2013
(in thousands)

ASSET BASIS

Balance at December 31, 2010 $ 570,80°
Additions to land, buildings and improveme 79,90
Disposition of land, buildings and improveme (5,369
Balance at December 31, 201 $ 645,33
Additions to land, buildings and improveme 294,31(
Disposition of land, buildings and improveme (35,477
Impairment los: (2,965
Balance at December 31, 201 $ 901,20°
Additions to land, buildings and improveme 531,20°
Disposition of land, buildings and improveme (74,287)
Impairment los: (9,044
Balance at December 31, 201 1,349,08:
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Balance at December 31, 201 $ 104,79
Depreciation for the period ended December 31, : 26,74(
Depreciation on assets sold or dispa (5,369
Balance at December 31, 2011 $ 126,16¢
Depreciation for the period ended December 31, . 31,73:
Depreciation on assets sold or dispa (11,699
Balance at December 31, 201 $ 146,20°
Depreciation for the period ended December 31, . 50,44¢
Depreciation on assets sold or dispa (23,509
Balance at December 31, 201 $ 173,14¢

The aggregate cost of land, buildings, furniturd aquipment for Federal income tax purposes iscequpiately $1,317 million
Depreciation is computed based upon the followiseful lives:

Buildings and improvements -40 years

Furniture and equipmen-15 years

We have mortgages payable on the properties ad.ntiglitional mortgage information can be found\iote 11 to the consolidated
financial statement:

The negative balance for costs capitalized subsgqaecquisition could include out-parcels soldpdsal of assets, and impairment los:
that was recorde:
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Exhibit 12.1

Summit Hotel Properties, Inc.
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Preferred $ick Dividends
(Dollars in Thousands)

For the Period For the Period Year
Year Ended Year Ended 2/14/11 through 1/1/11 through Ended Year Ended
12/31/201: 12/31/2012 12/31/2011 2/13/2011 12/31/201¢ 12/31/200¢

Earnings
Pre-tax income (loss) from

continuing operation $ 11,51¢ $ (7,675 $ (6,09)) $ (4549 3 (20,02) $ (15,049
Interest expens 20,137 14,90¢ 9,99: 3,43t 21,57¢ 13,80(
Amortization of financing cosl 1,85¢ 2,28¢ 1,19¢ 94 1,60z 1,75(C
Amortization of capitalized

interest 581 59¢ 524 75 59¢ 59¢
Total Earnings $ 34,09 $ 10,12, $ 562 $ (945 % 3,75t $ 1,107
Fixed Charges
Interest expens 20,13d 14,90¢ 9,99: 3,43t 21,57t 13,80(
Capitalized interes 40C 53 — — 3,14z
Amortization of financing costs 1,854 2,28¢ 1,19¢ 94 1,602 1,75(
Total Fixed Charges $ 22,39 $ 17,25 $ 11,19: $ 3,52¢ $ 23177 $ 18,69:
Preferred Dividends 14,59( 4,62 411 — — —
Ratio of Earnings to Combined

Fixed Charges and Preferred

Stock Dividends 0.92(1) 0.4€(2) 0.4¢(3) (0.27)(4) 0.1€(5) 0.0€(6)

(1) For this period, earnings were less than fisleairges and preferred stock dividends. The &otalunt of fixed charges and preferred stock
dividends for this period was approximately $37i0iom and the total amount of earnings was apprately $34.1 million. The amount of t
deficiency, or the amount of fixed charges anderefl stock dividends in excess of earnings, wasoapmately $2.9 million.

(2) For this period, earnings were less than figlearges and preferred stock dividends. The &tadunt of fixed charges and preferred stock
dividends for this period was approximately $21ifliom and the total amount of earnings was apprately $10.1 million. The amount of t
deficiency, or the amount of fixed charges andesrefl stock dividends in excess of earnings, wasoxpmately $11.8 million.

(3) For this period, earnings were less than fisleairges and preferred stock dividends. The &otalunt of fixed charges and preferred stock
dividends for this period was approximately $11i8iom and the total amount of earnings was apprately $5.6 million. The amount of the
deficiency, or the amount of fixed charges anderefl stock dividends in excess of earnings, wasoapmately $6.0 million.

(4) For this period, earnings were less than figlearges and preferred stock dividends. The &tadunt of fixed charges and preferred stock
dividends for this period was approximately $3.Hiom and the total amount of earnings was appretety ($0.9) million. The amount of the
deficiency, or the amount of fixed charges andegrefl stock dividends in excess of earnings, wasoapmately $4.5 million.

(5) For this period, earnings were less than fisleairges and preferred stock dividends. The &otalunt of fixed charges and preferred stock
dividends for this period was approximately $23ifiom and the total amount of earnings was apprately $3.8 million. The amount of the
deficiency, or the amount of fixed charges anderefl stock dividends in excess of earnings, wasoapmately $19.4 million.

(6) For this period, earnings were less than figlearges and preferred stock dividends. The &taiunt of fixed charges and preferred stock
dividends for this period was approximately $18illiom and the total amount of earnings was apprately $1.1 million. The amount of the
deficiency, or the amount of fixed charges andesrefl stock dividends in excess of earnings, wasoxpmately $17.6 million.




ENTITY

List of Subsidiaries of Summit Hotel Properties;.In

STATE OF INCORPORATION OR ORGANIZATION

Exhibit 21.1

Summit Hotel TRS, Inc
Summit Hotel TRS 11, Inc
Summit Hotel GP, LL(
Summit Hotel OP, LI
Summit Hospitality I, LLC
Summit Hospitality Il, LLC
Summit Hospitality 1ll, LLC
Summit Hospitality 1V, LLC
Summit Hospitality V, LLC
Summit Hospitality VI, LLC
Summit Hospitality VII, LLC
Summit Hospitality VIII, LLC
Summit Hospitality 1X, LLC
Summit Hospitality X, LLC
Summit Hospitality XI, LLC
Summit Hospitality XII, LLC
Summit Hospitality XIII, LLC
Summit Hospitality XIV, LLC
Summit Hospitality XV, LLC
Summit Hospitality 16, LLC
Summit Hospitality 17, LLC
Summit Hospitality 18, LLC
Summit Hospitality 19, LLC
Summit Hospitality 20, LLC
Summit Hospitality 21, LLC
Summit Hospitality 22, LLC
Summit Hospitality 23, LLC
Summit Hospitality 24, LLC
Summit Hospitality 25, LLC
Summit Hospitality 26, LLC
Summit Hospitality 006, LLC

Summit Hospitality 026 AZ, LLC

Summit Hospitality 039, LLC
Summit Hospitality 057, LLC
Summit Hospitality 060, LLC
Summit Hospitality 079, LLC
Summit Hospitality 081, LLC
Summit Hospitality 082, LLC
Summit Hospitality 084, LLC
Summit Hospitality 093, LLC
Summit Hospitality 100, LLC
Summit Hospitality 110, LLC
Summit Hospitality 111, LLC
Summit Hospitality 114, LLC
Summit Hospitality 115, LLC
Summit Hospitality 116, LLC
Summit Hospitality 117, LLC
Summit Hospitality 118, LLC
Summit Hospitality 119, LLC
Summit Hospitality 120, LLC
Summit Hospitality 121, LLC
Summit Hospitality 122, LLC
Summit Hospitality 123, LLC
Summit Hospitality 124, LLC
Summit Hospitality 125, LLC

Summit Group of Scottsdale, Arizona LI

Summit IHG JV, LLC
Carnegie Hotels, LL(
Carnegie Hotel MT, LLC

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
South Dakot:
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
South Dakot:

Delaware
Georgia

Georgia




Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors
Summit Hotel Properties, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference inrégéstration statements (No. 333-179503 and N8:-1387624) on Form S-3 and the
registration statement (No. 333-172145) on Formd-8ummit Hotel Properties, Inc. of our reportethEebruary 26, 2013, except as to note:
21 and 22, which are as of March 25, 2014, witipeesto the consolidated balance sheet of SumntglHwoperties, Inc. and subsidiaries a
December 31, 2012, and the related consolidatéenséats of operations, comprehensive income (lass) changes in equity of Summit Hotel
Properties, Inc. and subsidiaries for the year @émkcember 31, 2012 and the period from Februaryp@%1 (commencement of operations)
through December 31, 2011, the related consolidstetdments of operations, comprehensive inconss)(land changes in equity of Summit
Hotel Properties, LLC and subsidiaries (Predecgg$sothe period from January 1, 2011 through Fabrd 3, 2011, the related consolidated
statement of cash flows of Summit Hotel Properties, and subsidiaries for the year ended Decef®bg2012, the related combined
consolidated statement of cash flows of Summit Heteperties, Inc. and subsidiaries and Summit Héteperties, LLC and subsidiaries
(Predecessor) for the year ended December 31, 2@1dh report appears in the December 31, 2013ameport on Form 10-K of Summit
Hotel Properties, Inc.

/sl KPMG LLP

Chicago, lllinois
March 25, 201«




Exhibit 23.2
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm
We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-1798®3ummit Hotel Properties, Inc.,
(2) Registration Statement (Form S-4 No. 333-18Y8&2&ummit Hotel Properties, Inc., and
(3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-172p#5taining to the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan afi#nit Hotel Properties, Inc.;

of our reports dated March 25, 2014, with respet¢hé consolidated financial statements and Sckedtubf Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. and
the effectiveness of internal control over finaheggporting of Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. inodablin this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of
Summit Hotel Properties, Inc. for the year endeddbaber 31, 2013.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Austin, Texas
March 25, 2014




EXHIBIT 31.1
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
[, Daniel P. Hansen, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-KSafmmit Hotel Properties, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or ométéde a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsodimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andrke responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures (a:
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))54nd internal control over financial reportifag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)), for the registramd have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and proceduras tiesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhubsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isihg prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finaha@aorting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of 1
financial statement for external purposes in acaocd with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sldgire controls and procedures, and presentddsimgport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure containtsprocedures as of the end of the period couwyele report based on
such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the regigtsanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrsts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaf, the registrant’s internal control over finateeporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of trustémspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contraéiofinancial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrgistrant’s ability to record, process, summasiad report financial
information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Summit Hotel Properties, In

Date: March 25, 2014 By: /s/ Daniel P. Hanse
Daniel P. Hansen
President and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer




EXHIBIT 31.2
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Stuart J. Becker, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-KSafmmit Hotel Properties, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or ométéde a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsodimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andrke responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures (a:
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))54nd internal control over financial reportifag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)), for the registramd have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and proceduras tiesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhubsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isihg prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finaha@aorting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of 1
financial statement for external purposes in acaocd with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sldgire controls and procedures, and presentddsimgport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure containtsprocedures as of the end of the period couwyele report based on
such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the regigtsanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrsts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaf, the registrant’s internal control over finateeporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of trustémspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contraéiofinancial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrgistrant’s ability to record, process, summasiad report financial
information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Summit Hotel Properties, In

Date: March 25, 2014 By: /s/ Stuart J. Becke

Stuart J. Becker
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office
(principal financial officer’




EXHIBIT 32.1

Certification Pursuant To
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Summit H®eoperties, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K fhe fiscal year ended
December 31, 2013 as filed with the Securitiesxcthange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8parDaniel P. Hansen, President and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certifyrpuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted puotrso&ection 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that:

Q) the Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934,
as amended; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctiodiand results ¢
operations of the Company.

Summit Hotel Properties, In

Date: March 25, 2014 By: /s/ Daniel P. Hanse
Daniel P. Hansen
President and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer




EXHIBIT 32.2

Certification Pursuant To
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Summit H®eoperties, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K fhe fiscal year ended
December 31, 2013 as filed with the SecuritiesExethange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8parStuart J. Becker, Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer of the Comparertify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350adspted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

Q) the Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934,
as amended; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctiodiand results ¢
operations of the Company.

Summit Hotel Properties, In

Date: March 25, 2014 By: /s/ Stuart J. Becke

Stuart J. Becker
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office
(principal financial officer’




